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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
Group's annual report for the year ended 31 March 2011 to the
shareholders.

With the dedication and hard work of the management and our
staff, the results of the Group recorded a steady growth for the
year 2010-2011. The Group achieved turnover and profit before
taxation of approximately HK$853,868,000 and HK$71,475,000
for the year, representing an increase of HK$147,618,000 and
a decrease of HK$258,531,000 respectively as compared to
the corresponding period last year. The profit before taxation
and non-operational items of HK$98,438,000 increased by
HK$21,596,000 from that for the corresponding period last year.

DESCRIPTION OF THE CHINESE ECONOMY AND
REVIEW AND PROSPECT OF THE INDUSTRY

2010 is the year when the PRC accomplished its plan of
“Eleventh Five Years” and experienced the most complicated
economic situation in recent years. Amid the financial crisis
in 2008, the PRC's economy has rebounded from its bottom
under the simultaneous effects of various economic stimulus
policies, maintaining a rapid growth momentum. According
to the "Statistical Report on the National Economy and Social
Development of China 2010” announced by the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, the annual GDP of the PRC for 2010
amounted to RMB39.7983 trillion, representing an increase of
10.3% as compared to last year.
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NATURAL GAS INDUSTRY

In 2010, the natural gas industry in the PRC achieved a swift
development. The annual national production of natural gas
reached 96.8 billion m3, representing an increase of 13.5%
as compared to last year. While the annual gas consumption
amounted to 104.8 billion m?3, representing an increase of
18.2% as compared to last year. In 2010, the PRC government
subsequently raised the prices of natural gas pipeline transmission
and the ex-factory prices of natural gas, resulting in a higher
price of natural gas to the end-consumer in various locations.
In 2010, the No.2 West-East Transmission Pipeline Project was
under accelerating progress, with its start of gas supply in the
western section. It is expected that the entire project will be
completed in 2011. The No.3 Shaanxi-Beijing Pipeline, completed
in 2010, commenced its operation and effectively ensured the
stable supply of natural gas to Beijing, Tianjin, and Bohai-Rim
region. Gas pipeline operation of Sino-Burma officially kicked off
in June 2010, which is expected to be completed by the end of
2012. Its annual designed gas supply will reach 12 billion m3. In
addition, in order to seek long-term stable sources of natural gas
vigorously, the PRC government also proactively negotiated with
the countries in the Middle Asia and Russia. Meanwhile, coastal
liquefied natural gas (LNG) projects are subsequently completed.
The phase 2 construction of the LNG Project in Fujian, with annual
supply of LNG of 5 million tons, is in accelerating progress. Upon
the completion of this project, the capability of LNG supply will
be extremely enhanced, so as to guarantee the efficient supply
of clean LNG to more cities in Fujian. 2011 marks the first year
for the PRC to execute the plan of “Twelfth Five Years”, during
which the PRC will aggressively commit itself on the development
of natural gas industry. As expected, the percentage of energy
consumption provided by natural gas will raise from 4% to 8% by
2015, thus increasing the annual production of natural gas to 260
billion m3. According to “the Regulations on the Administration of
Urban Gas” promulgated by the State Council in November 2010,
the development of urban gas industry has been further regulated
and the legal interests of all enterprise in gas industry have also
been safeguarded, so as to effectively promote the development
of urban gas in the PRC. The Group will create various favorable
conditions which promote the solid growth of our gas fuel
business.
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LPG INDUSTRY

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) is advantaged with its flexible-to-
transport and user-friendly nature, allowing itself establish its vast
presence in cities and rural areas in the PRC where are unavailable
of natural gas transmission. In 2010, national consumption of
LPG reached 22.87 million tons, representing an increase of 2%
as compared to last year. In line with further advancement in
chemical technologies, the skill of using LPG as the raw materials
for intensive processing is currently applied in various locations
due to its gradual maturity. It is foreseen that the increasing
demand for LPG will be continued for a long period in the future.
In addition, the LPG industry is the most market-oriented among
the energy sector, and is less likely to be restricted by different
policies. This offers more freedom to major participants in the
market. With a view to increase influentially in LPG market, the
Group will optimise its own advantages and improve its chain for
LPG industry.

LOTTERY INDUSTRY

In 2010, the nationwide lottery market continued its rapid growth
due to the intensive participation of the lottery buyers, breaking
a new record for nationwide lottery sales. In 2010, national
sales of lotteries increased RMB 33.770 billion or 25.5% to RMB
166.248 billion as compared to last year. Among this, the sales of
welfare lotteries amounted to RMB 96.802 billion, representing
an increase of RMB 21.197 billion or 28.0% as compared to last
year. Meanwhile, there was a new breakthrough in the lottery
marketing channel. At the end of September 2010, the Ministry
of Finance implemented “Interim Administrative Measures for
Internet Lottery Sales” and “Interim Administrative Measures
for Telephone Lottery Sales”, which prescribed qualifications
and procedures for telemarketing and internet-based marketing
of lotteries. The advent of new lottery marketing channels is
expected to boost the development of the lottery market in the
PRC substantially. Leveraging the opportunities arising from the
fast-growing lottery market in the PRC, the Group will proactively
accelerate the development of the lottery business.

2011 is the inaugural year for PRC to implement its plan of
“Twelfth Five Years”, therefore it is expected that the rapid
growth momentum in the PRC’s economy will continue. By taking
full advantage of our dominant position, the Group will promote
swift and comprehensive development across all the business
segments, aiming to offer greater returns for the shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby gratefully acknowledge the
staunch support of all the shareholders and the community over
the year.

Dr. Mo Shikang
Chairman

Beijing, 30 June 2011
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For the year ended 31 March 2011, under the leadership of
the Directors and management of the Group, all of our staff
executed the development strategies of the Group earnestly
and unswervingly and worked through some difficulties, thus
successfully completing various tasks for the year.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

HE20MF3A3MBUEFE AEE2EET
FEEEELREEEEET REABAVITE
BEREEE TREH JBEFNZTXTE2FNHT
VEIETL -

MBEE
For the year ended
31 March
Items HH HZE3A3MBLLEE
Change
2011 2010 -]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Turnover: EERE:
Provision of piped gas fuel HEEEMRAER 598,084 450,950 147,134
Transportation, distribution and B DHERAKTE
retail of bottled LPG AL A R 255,784 255,300 484
Total A&t 853,868 706,250 147,618
Gross profit: ER:
Provision of piped gas fuel HEEBRRED 190,726 172,234 18,492
Transportation, distribution and B oHERAETE
retail of bottled LPG BB R TS 39,023 38,096 927
Total A&t 229,749 210,330 19,419
Segment results: DEELE
Provision of piped gas fuel HETEMRAES 111,955 109,690 2,265
Transportation, distribution and BE pHELAESE
retail of bottled LPG AL A R T 57,554 8,710 48,844
Total A&t 169,509 118,400 51,109
Fair value changes of A@mERER A EE
convertible notes - (2,118) 2,118
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRQA 2 e 1,361 257,189 (255,828)
Loss on disposal of HEFAHEESREEEE
available-for-sale financial assets (64,426) - (64,426)
Share-based payment expenses B ERER 2 2 AR5
under the Share Option Scheme BEBZAY (16,618) - (16,618)
Other revenues and expenses (net) EEUW AR ((F5) (18,351) (43,465) 25,114
Profit before taxation B 150 A & 7 71,475 330,006 (258,531)
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For the year ended
31 March
Items 18 H HZ3A3MBLLEE
Change
2011 2010 28
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Profit attributable to owners of ZIN/NESTEZ =N
the Company JE A5 5 45,639 300,614 (254,975)
Earnings per share TROH T
Basic and diluted EXRESE
(HK cents per share) (=B 1.12 7.36 (6.24)
Profit before taxation B 50 A 4 7 71,475 330,006 (258,531)
ltems below adjusted: TP IE B ELE AR
Fair value changes of AR EEARBEEE
convertible notes - 2,118 (2,118)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB QAT ZWa (1,361) (257,189) 255,828
Loss on disposal of HEAHNECHEESE
available-for-sale financial assets 64,426 - 64,426
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, &Y HEM&ENA L
plant and equipment and EREez (W) BE
prepaid lease payments (52,720) 1,907 (54,627)
Share-based payment expenses B RER &2 AR
under the Share Option Scheme BER AL 16,618 - 16,618
Profit before taxation and BRI JE48 & M TE B A& F

non-operational items 98,438 76,842 21,596
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

EERE
For the year ended
31 March
HZE3A3MBLEEE Growth Growth rate
Items 1EH 2011 2010 R K 5l
No. of projects HA&E (@)
Piped gas fuel (note 1) EEMRIER
(PBF3ET) 39 37 2 5.4%
LPG (note 2) wEAER (FE2) 5 4 1 25.0%
Others (note 3) HEv (HzE3) 3 3 - -
Total no. of projects BHBE 47 44 3 6.8%
No. of connected customers WMEHAEBEAPH
for the reporting period
Connected household for the WEHAEEER
reporting period (unit) BFE(F) 93,280 77,443 15,837 20.4%
Connected commercial & WERAERIEE
industrial for the reporting AP (FP)
period (unit) 385 248 137 55.2%
Total no. of connected BEEEREFPBAE(F)
customers (unit) 93,665 77,691 15,974 20.6%
Accumulated no. of connected R EERARP
customers
Accumulated no. of connected R ERERAR
household (unit) (/) 376,590 283,310 93,280 32.9%
Accumulated no. of connected 2HEBRIBERRP
commercial & industrial (unit) (/) 2,862 2,477 385 15.5%
Accumulated no. of connected ZHBERARL (P)
customers (unit) 379,452 285,787 93,665 32.8%
Sales of piped gas fuel BEBMREEE
(10,000 m?) (BT K)
Household ERABFP 3,645 3,072 573 18.7%
Commercial & industrial IE¥ERP 17,722 14,414 3,308 22.9%
Total sales of piped gas fuel BEMRBHES 21,367 17,486 3,881 22.2%
Sales of LPG (tons) BleBBRHEE (W) 36,228 49,626 -13,398 -27.0%
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)

Notes:

1. New piped gas fuel projects, “Yongding Changning” and “Zhangzhou
Longan” were added as compared with the corresponding period last year.
Please refer to the section headed “New Projects During the Reporting Period”
for details.

2. A new LPG project, “"Xupu Zhongmin” was added as compared with the
corresponding period last year. Please refer to the section headed “New
Projects During the Reporting Period” for details.

3. Others referred to “Zhongmin Zai Xian”,
“Yongheng Lecai”.

“Yan Bian Zhongmin”, and

BUSINESS REVIEW
Provision of piped gas fuel business

The Group is principally engaged in provision of piped gas fuel
business to a large number of urban household and commercial
& industrial customers through construction and maintenance of
urban gas fuel networks in the PRC, which is the major income
source of the Group. During the reporting period, the Group
made rapid progress as a result of its ongoing effort to expand its
customer base, improve its service quality, and increase its regional
coverage of piped gas fuel.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group achieved piped
gas fuel sales of 213.67 million cubic meters (“m3") in total,
representing a growth of 22.2% over the corresponding period
last year. Among the total sales, 36.45 million m? of gas fuel were
made to household customers and this represented a growth
of 18.7% over the corresponding period last year; and 177.22
million m? of gas fuel were made to commercial & industrial
customers, a growth of 22.9% over the corresponding period last
year. A comparison of the Group's sales of piped gas fuel between
2009 and 2011 is shown in Graph 1.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Graph 1: Comparison of sales of piped gas fuel for the latest 3 years
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During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group had an addition
of 93,280 household customers and 385 commercial & industrial
customers, representing an increase of 20.4% and 55.2%
respectively as compared to the corresponding period last year. As
at the end of the reporting period, the Group had an accumulated
number of connected household customers of 376,590 and
commercial & industrial customers of 2,862, representing an
increase of 32.9% and 15.5% respectively as compared to the
corresponding period last year. A comparison of the accumulated
number of connected customers of the Group between 2009 and
2011 is shown in Graph 2.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$598,084,000 from the provision
of piped gas fuel, representing an increase of 32.6% over the
corresponding period last year. Turnover from the provision of
piped gas fuel accounted for 70.0% of the turnover of the Group
for the year.

The gross profit and segment result for the year ended 31
March 2011 amounted to approximately HK$190,726,000 and
approximately HK$111,955,000 represented an increase of 10.7%
and 2.1% respectively as compared with the corresponding period
last year. Gross profit margin decreased 6.3% to 31.9%. It was
mainly due to more sales of gas fuel that generating stable and
longer term income stream compared with one-off connection fee
that generating higher gross profit margin in year 2011.

BT

HZE2011F3A318 IEFE - AEBFIZEK
ERAF93,280F  REFRIEHK20.4% :
FER IR ERP38sFE BEFREEE
55.2% S EHIKR  AEEEZRFAERERA
F376,590F R ER I EXAF2,862F ¢
DRI EFRBIER32.9%M15.5% ° &
2009201 FEAEBRFEERAF &2
EEKR -

HE201MEF3A3MBULEFE  AEBEHEEE
MR ESEIRWAL)EE598,084,0007T ' &%
FRAPIER32.6%  HETEMRBAM AE
B2 FEEEMNT0.0% °

HZE201MF3A31BEFE  EFED I EE
%78 190,726,000t & 478 111,955,000
T REFRE S B I10.7%%2.1%  EF
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Graph 2:  Comparison of accumulated number of connected for the latest 3 years
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Transportation, distribution and retail of bottled
liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") business

The business of transportation, distribution, and retail of bottled
LPG is vigorously developed by the Group in recent years. It has
achieved swift development since its official commencement in
2007. During the reporting period, the Group maintained its
current business growth in the region. In the meantime, new
projects were proactively explored, resulting in greater progress.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, sales of LPG by the
Group reached 36,228 tons in total, representing a decrease
of 27.0% over the corresponding period last year. The
Group realised an income from sales of LPG of approximately
HK$255,784,000, which was similar to that of last year. Gross
profit margin maintained around 15%. Excluding the non-
operational gain on the disposal of certain property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments of approximately
HK$54,451,000 to Guiyang Railway Construction Co., Ltd.
("Guiyang Railway Construction”), which is due to the civil
reconstruction of Guiyang Railway Transportation Center by the
provincial government in Guizhou (details of which are referred
to "Other Events During the Reporting Period”), the adjusted
segment result was approximately HK$3,103,000, representing
a decrease of HK$5,607,000 compared to the corresponding
period last year. The decrease was mainly due to the cost for
the regular maintenance and checking for LPG cylinders trains.
Income from the transportation, distribution and retail of bottled
LPG accounted for approximately 30.0% of the turnover. A
comparison of the Group's sales of LPG between 2009 and 2011
is shown in Graph 3.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

O 2

Graph 3: Comparison of sales of LPG for the latest 3 years
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Lottery agency business

In December 2008, Beijing Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Zhongmin”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and
Yongheng Development Group (Shenzhen) Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Yongheng”) jointly invested to set up an associate,
Shenzhen Yongheng Lecai Technology Development Company
Limited (“Yongheng Lecai”), in Shenzhen, the PRC. Yongheng
Lecai is engaged in the development of software with intelligent
electronic engineering technology, the operation of real estate
development on lands with legitimate land use right, industrial
investment and operation (specific projects to be applied
separately) and the research, development and manufacturing
of video lottery machines (license for manufacturing site to be
applied), sales of computer welfare lottery “Keno Games Lottery”
(RE52) (previously referred to as “Kuai2”) (operated by a
division subject to the franchise license and a letter of reply from
Shenzhen Civil Service), technological development of lottery
equipment products and computer software, and consultation on
economic information (excluding projects with restriction), and
commissioned sales of China Welfare Lottery. On 28 December
2010, Yongheng Lecai entered into “China Welfare Lottery Keno
Games Lottery Distribution Agreement” with Shenzhen Welfare
Lottery Issuing Centre (“Shenzhen Lottery Centre”), whereby
Yongheng Lecai in addition to Shenzhen Lottery Centre will be the
sole agent to operate and sell “Keno Games Lottery” in Shenzhen.
On 18 April 2011, Yongheng Lecai entered into “China Welfare
Lottery Distribution Agreement” with Shenzhen Lottery Centre,
whereby Yongheng Lecai will set up betting branches in Shenzhen
to sell welfare lottery, including but not limited to “Shenzhen
Feng Cai" GRYIES), “Shuang Se Qiu”" (@) ,"Qi Le Cai”
(+2%),"3D".

2011

Financial year
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

On 11 May 2011, the General Office of the Ministry of Finance
of the PRC announced the “Notification in respect of Increasing
Proportion of Pay-out for Keno Welfare Lottery in Certain
Locations” (BARE = &6 9 30 75 18 A %2 52 R iR 5 22305 R 22 Lt Il )
#B4H1) whereby agreeing that China Welfare Lottery Issuance and
Management Centre (R BI@FF ZEITEIEH L) is to sell Keno
Game Lottery in Shenzhen and the lottery pool is to be divided
into pay-out dividend, lottery distribution fee, and lottery charity
fund in the proportion of 59%, 13% and 28% respectively.

On 1 June 2011, China Welfare Lottery Issuance and Management
Centre (R EIEFF R EITEIEH L) announced the “Approval
regarding the Sale of High Pay-out Keno Games Lottery in
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province” (AR EERE FYIMEESIR
4R 3R ) HEE EL IR 26 9 HE7E ) whereby agreeing that Guangdong
Province Welfare Lottery Issuing Centre (EE & @ F|% E% 1T
I3 ) is to sell high pay-out Keno Games Lottery in Shenzhen.

On 13 June 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with
Yongheng Development Corporation Limited (“Yongheng”),
the holding company of Shenzhen Yongheng, in which the
Company has conditionally agreed to purchase the other 60%
equity interest in Yongheng Lecai for a total consideration of
approximately HK$465,227,000, details of which had been set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 15 June 2011. Upon
Completion, Yongheng Lecai will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group.

Graph 4: Income Mix of the Group
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NEW PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

Investment in the Establishment of Yongding
Changning

During the reporting period, a subsidiary of Fujian An Ran Gas
Investments Company Limited (“Fujian An Ran”), a jointly-
controlled entity of the Group, invested in the establishment
of Yongding Changning Gas Development Limited (“Yongding
Changning”) in Yongding County, Fujian Province with registered
capital of RMB10,000,000. The operation scope of Yongding
Changning involves construction of gas pipeline network within
the planned area in Yongding County, transmission and supply
of piped gas fuel (under construction) (subject to relevant
qualification and safety production license), and sales, installation
and maintenance of ancillary gas equipment (subject to business
license and approval by relevant authorities).

Investment in the Establishment of Zhangzhou Longan

During the reporting period, Fujian An Ran and Zhangzhou
Economic Development Limited made joint investment in
establishment of Zhangzhou Longan Gas Co., Ltd. (“Zhangzhou
Longan”) with registered capital of RMB20,000,000, of which
RMB15,000,000 was contributed by Fujian An Ran representing
75% of equity interest. The operation scope of Zhangzhou
Longan involves construction and management of gas pipeline
infrastructures, investment in gas pipeline projects, and operation
of piped gas fuel.

Investment in the Establishment of Xupu Zhongmin

In September 2010, the Group and Xupu County Jinyuan LPG
Filling Station made a joint investment in the establishment
of Xupu Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. (“Xupu Zhongmin”) with
registered capital of RMB1,000,000, of which RMB510,000 was
contributed by the Group representing 51% of equity interest in
Xupu Zhongmin. The operation scope of Xupu Zhongmin involves
wholesale and retail of LPG and gas fuel equipment.
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NEW PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Investment in the Establishment of Zhonghua
Yongbaofu

On 18 November 2010, Beijing Zhongmin, Shenzhen Yongheng,
and independent third parties entered into a cooperative
agreement (“Cooperative Agreement”) for joint formation of
Zhonghua Yongbaofu Life Insurance Investment Company Limited
(“Zhonghua Yongbaofu”) in the PRC. Upon its establishment,
which is subject to the approval from China Insurance Regulatory
Commission, the registered capital of Zhonghua Yongbaofu
was RMB380,000,000, of which RMB133,000,000 (35%) was
contributed by Beijing Zhongmin in cash. It is intended that
Zhonghua Yongbaofu will engage principally in the provision
of public assistance insurance, personal medical insurance,
employment insurance and specific personal insurance to the
disabled in the PRC.

Acquisition of 49.9% Equity Interest in Southwest
Panva

On 25 March 2011, Beijing Zhonglian Huaan Investment Co.,
Ltd. (“Beijing Zhonglian”), an wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, entered into equity share transfer agreement with an
independent third party, Guizhou Gas (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Guizhou
Gas”), whereby Beijing Zhonglian acquired 49.9% of equity
interest in Pan River Gas (China Southwest) Co., Ltd. (“Southwest
Panva”) at a total consideration of RMB 35,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$41,489,000). Southwest Panva is principally
engaged in wholesaling and retailing of LPG in Guizhou Province,
the PRC. The transaction was not yet completed at the date of
this report. Acquisition of Southwest Panva will help expand the
LPG operation of the Group and increase the market share in the
southwestern region of the PRC.

DISPOSAL PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Disposal of Available-for-sale Financial Assets

In order to streamline the business structure and capture the
opportunities to realise investments to other high value-added
projects, the Group disposed of its 150,000,000 shares in ZMAY
Holdings Limited (“ZMAY")(stock code: 08085) at an aggregate
cash consideration of approximately HK$30,152,000 in April
2010. Such ZMAY shares were subscribed in August 2007 at
a share price of HK$0.2 with a total cost of approximately
HK$30,000,000. Profit arising from such disposal (before netting
of relevant costs) amounted to approximately HK$152,000.
However, in accordance with the accounting treatment under
HKAS 39, when financial asset is derecognised, accumulated loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income would be
reclassified and adjusted to profit or loss from equity, resulting in
loss of approximately HK$64,426,000 on disposal of available-for-
sale financial assets.
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OTHER EVENTS DRUING REPORTING PERIOD

Guizhou Zhongmin’s Construction of New LPG Storage
and Distribution Station

Due to civil reconstruction of Guiyang Railway Transportation
Center by the provincial government in Guizhou, an agreement
dated 19 March 2011 was entered into between Guizhou
Zhongmin Gas Co.,Ltd. (“Guizhou Zhongmin”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, and Guiyang Railway Construction
to which Guizhou Zhongmin disposed certain prepaid lease
payments and property, plant and equipment to Guiyang Railway
Construction at a total cash consideration of RMB 66,206,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$76,634,000). The Ministry
of Railways of the People’s Republic of China agreed to make
restitution to Guizhou Zhongmin Special Railway based on
the original standard adjustment. A profit of approximately
HK$54,451,000 was generated from the disposal. Guizhou
Zhongmin is currently seeking a location for new LPG storage and
distribution station. Upon completion of its construction, Guizhou
Zhongmin will officially commence its operation.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Gross profit

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group's
business realised a gross profit of HK$229,749,000 (2010:
HK$210,330,000), representing an increase of 9.23% compared
with the corresponding period last year. The overall gross profit
margin was 26.9%, shown a decrease of 2.9% when compared
with the corresponding period last year.

The increase in gross profit was due to the increase in turnover
from the sale of piped gas fuel. The Group's sale of piped gas fuel
has substantially increased 42.2% when compared with that of
the corresponding period last year. Such increase was mainly due
to the strong demand from commercial and industrial customers
previously affected by 5.12 Wenchuan Mega Earthquake. The
competitive price of Indonesian LNG also stimulated the demand
for clean energy in Fujian Province. Both factors resulted in a
boost to the turnover and thus gross profit.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Gross profit (Continued)

The drop in overall gross profit margin was due to more sales of
gas fuel that generating stable and longer term income stream
compared with one-off connection fee that generating higher
profit margin in year 2011. The proportion from sales of piped
gas fuel in the provision of piped gas fuel continuously showed
an increase from 65.7% to 70.5% when compared with the
corresponding period last year. The profit margin of sale of
piped gas was lower than that of connection fee that led to a
decline in gross profit margin. In the first half of 2010, both the
price of natural gas transmission and the benchmark price of oil
and gas fields (or terminals) climbed upward. However, due to
time required for approval of raising in the price of gas fuel for
household use, the price adjustment takes a longer time which to
some extent impedes new retail price. Such price impediment has
been resolved in the second half year.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2011, the total assets of the Group was
approximately HK$1,769,743,000, and current liabilities, long-
term liabilities, equity attributable to owners of the Company
and non-controlling interests amounted to approximately
HK$403,025,000, HK$212,163,000, HK$1,083,506,000, and
HK$71,049,000, respectively.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$262,763,000 (2010:
approximately HK$316,191,000), and the total borrowings
were equivalent to approximately HK$216,668,000 (2010:
approximately HK$208,946,000). The debt-to-capitalisation ratio,
representing the ratio of total borrowings to borrowings and
owners’ equity, was 16.7% (2010: 18.4%).

Operating cash flow before change in working capital amounted
to approximately HK$131.1 million, representing an increase of
11.6% from the last year.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to approximately
HK$210.0 million while net cash of HK$115.7 million generated
from investing activities in last year. It was due to the cash
consideration received of HK$363.3 million for the disposal of
Fujian An Ran Group in last year.

Net cash generated from financing activities of approximately
HK$24.8 million as compared with net cash outflow of HK$144.5
million last year was due to the redemption of convertible notes .

BORROWING STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2011, the total borrowings of the Group
were approximately HK$216,668,000 (2010: approximately
HK$208,946,000), which mainly comprised domestic bank
borrowings denominated in Renminbi of the project companies
in the PRC. The borrowings, which carried interest at fixed rates
or the interest rate announced by People’s Bank of China, were
applied to gas pipeline construction, as general working capital
and for operating expenses. Apart from the borrowings with an
amount equivalent to approximately HK$210,740,000 which were
secured by certain assets with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$23,906,000, others were unsecured. Short-term borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$24,064,000, while others were
long-term borrowings due after one year. Details of the capital
commitments and pledge of assets are set out in Notes 40 and 41
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s long-term capital comprised owners’ equity and
borrowings, which was confirmed by the sound debt-to-
capitalisation ratio stated in the section headed “Liquidity and
capital resources” above.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

All of the Group’s operations are carried out in the PRC and
substantially all of its incomes and expenses are denominated in
RMB. During the year ended 31 March 2011, the exchange rate
of RMB had shown continuously appreciation. The Group will
closely monitor the market exchange rates and make appropriate
adjustment when necessary.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s capital commitments amounted
to approximately HK$206,699,000, mainly attributable to running
district gas pipeline construction and purchasing buildings for
office use and for the purpose of investment in Zhonghua
Yongbaofu. Please refer to Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements for further details.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had approximately 1,480
employees, most of them were stationed in the PRC. The
remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s employees are
reviewed and approved by the Board upon consultations with the
remuneration committee. In addition to pension funds, individual
employees may be granted discretionary bonus and share options
as rewards for their outstanding performance.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REPURCHASE OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the reporting period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or repurchased any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 March 2011, Beijing Zhonglian and Guizhou Gas entered
into the agreement pursuant to which Beijing Zhonglian
has agreed to purchase and Guizhou Gas has agreed to
sell, the 49.9% of the entire registered capital and paid up
capital of Southwest Panva, for a total cash consideration of
RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$41,489,000).
The Group has paid the consideration as at 31 March 2011 and
the transaction is still not completed up to the date of this report.
Upon completion, Southwest Panva become a jointly controlled
entity of the Group. Details of this acquisition had been set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 28 March 2011.

On 23 May 2011, the Company, as a lender, has entered into
further loan extension agreement with Yongheng, the ultimate
holding company of one of the Group’s associates, Yongheng
Lecai, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to extend
the repayment date of the outstanding loan to 11 May 2012.
Yongheng shall pay interest on the total outstanding loan at
the interest rate of 5% per annum during the extension period.
Details had been set out in the Company’s announcement dated
23 May 2011.

On 9 June 2011, Beijing Zhonglian and Yunnan Industrial
Investment Holdings (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Industrial”)
entered into the agreement pursuant to which Beijing Zhonglian
has agreed to purchase and Yunnan Industrial has agree to sell,
the 20.12% of the entire registered capital and paid up capital
of Panva Gas (Yunnan) Co., Ltd. for a total cash consideration of
RMB26,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,343,000).
The transaction is still not yet completed up to the date of
this report. Details of this acquisition had been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 10 June 2011.

On 13 June 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with
Yongheng, pursuant to which, among others, the Company has
conditionally agreed to purchase the remaining 60% interest
in Yongheng Lecai for a total consideration of approximately
HK$465,227,000, which shall be satisfied by the Company
as to (i) approximately HK$ 419,838,000 by the Company to
allot and issue 1,727,729,582 shares of the Company; and (ii)
approximately HK$45,389,000 by setting off against the loan
due from the shareholder of Yongheng Lecai amounting to
HK$43,050,000 and the related accrued interest of HK$2,339,000
up to 10 June 2011. The transaction is still not yet completed up
to the date of this report. Details of this acquisition had been set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 15 June 2011.
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PROSPECTS
Piped gas fuel business

Compared with the other major fossil energies, namely, petroleum
and coal, natural gas is less polluting, with the least emission
of carbon dioxide. Hence, natural gas plays a major role in the
energy consumption of developed countries in America and
Europe. Abundant coal resources, along with scarce natural gas
reserve, have led to the stagnant development of natural gas in
PRC. Towards the 21st century, the PRC government intended
to popularise natural gas in major cities, in response to the
increased awareness of reducing pollution, energy saving, and
reducing emission, as well as its recognition of transformation
in economic growth pattern. To meet the soaring demand, the
PRC government scales up domestic exploration and exploitation
of natural gas, and seeks multiple channels to import natural
gas. In recent years, China has achieved great development but
low penetration rate of natural gas. During the period under the
execution of the plan of “Twelfth Five Year” , the PRC government
will aggressively commit itself on the application of natural gas.
As expected, the percentage of natural gas will raise from 4% to
8% in the energy consumption by 2015. It will result in annual
production of natural gas of 260 billion m3. The Group will solidify
and explore the markets in the regions where our piped gas fuel
business is located, and further enhance our service standard. It
is believed that the piped gas fuel business of the Group will step
forward during the upcoming years.

LPG business

In recent years the Group has been striving to develop LPG, the
business scope of which is mainly located in Yunnan Province,
Guizhou Province, and Huaihua City, Hunan Province. Natural
resources are scarce in these areas while LPG serves as one of
the dominant energies. For the development of LPG business,
the Group explores stable supply of gas resources through
multiple channels, so as to enhance transportation capacity of
the Group and intensively expand LPG storage of the Group.
Having experienced four years of endeavors, the Group achieved
breakthroughs in all aspects of the LPG market. Meanwhile, after
benefiting from the acquisition of equity interest in Southwest
Panva and Yunnan Panva, the Group’s market share in the
southwestern region of China, including Yunnan Province and
Guizhou Province, has been increased. And our role in these
regions has become increasingly important. In the future, the
Group will extend its reputation among its vast customer base;
and expand its market presence by intensively focusing on the
construction of retailer market, expansion of retailer networks,
and perfection of service quality.
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PROSPECTS (Continued)
Lottery business

According to the statistics published by the Ministry of Finance
of China, the nationwide lottery sales in 2010 rose by RMB
33.770 billion or 25.5% to RMB 166.248 billion, of which the
welfare lottery sales increased by RMB 21.197 billion or 28.0% to
RMB 96.802 billion. In the end of September 2010, the Ministry
of Finance implemented “Interim Administrative Measures for
Telephone Lottery Sales” and “Interim Administrative Measures
for Internet Lottery Sales”, representing significant breakthrough
in the marketing channel of the lotteries where telemarketing
and internet marketing facilitate lottery purchase activities while
promoting new types of lotteries suitable for telemarketing and
internet marketing. The lottery business of Yongheng Lecai was
approved by the Ministry of Finance and the Welfare Lottery
Issuing Centre. Followed by the completion of the acquisition of
Yongheng Lecai, the Group will capture the great opportunities
arising from the fast-growing lottery market in the PRC, and
will promptly commence various lottery businesses of Yongheng
Lecai, so as to explore the market share with our best effort. As
we believed, the prospects of the Group's lottery business will be
very board in the future. The smooth beginning of various lottery
businesses will generate sufficient cash flow and great investment
returns for the Group.

Looking ahead, the Group will maintain the constant development
of the piped gas fuel business, aggressively explore the of LPG
market, and proactively commence various lottery businesses and
expand the market share with our best effort, so as to maximise
the investment returns for the shareholders and investors as a
whole.

Mr. Jin Song
Managing Director and Executive Director

Beijing, 30 June 2011
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Ruixin, aged 70, is the honourable chairman of our board
of directors (“Board”) and an executive director, he joined our
Company since 11 April 2005. Mr. Xu is currently the chairman
of the China Association of Social Workers. Mr. Xu was a vice
minister and committee member of the Ministry of Civil Affairs
of China. Mr. Xu is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Dr. Mo Shikang, aged 53, is the chairman of our Board and
an executive director, Dr. Mo joined our Company since 30
April 2004. Dr. Mo is currently a member of our Remuneration
Committee, the chairman of the board of Beijing Zhongmin Gas
Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company and acts as
director posts in certain principal subsidiaries of the Group. Dr.
Mo holds a Bachelor degree in Sciences from Tianjin Education
University, a Master degree in Economics from Tianjin University
of Finance & Economics and a Doctor degree in Economic from
Nankai University in the PRC. Dr. Mo has substantial experiences
in the development and management of natural gas projects in
the PRC. Dr. Mo is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Zhang Hesheng, aged 57, is a deputy chairman of our Board
and an executive director, he joined our Company since 21 March
2005. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of our Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Zhang holds a MBA degree from the La Trobe
University in Australia. In late 1980s, Mr. Zhang joined the initial
financial securities industry in the PRC, he has been engaged in
provision of securities company businesses relating to securities
and financial investment; securities brokerages; investment
banking; financial research and analysis for Wanguo Holdings
Limited, Guotai Securities Company Limited and Guotai Junan
Securities Company Limited and acted as senior operation officer.
Mr. Zhang has extensive experiences in financial and capital
markets. Mr. Zhang is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhu Peifeng, aged 54, is a deputy chairman of our Board
and an executive director, he joined our Company since 21
March 2005. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor degree in Sciences from
Shanghai Maritime University and a Master degree in Economic
from Shanghai Tongji University in the PRC. Mr. Zhu joined the
financial securities industry in 1992 with over 12 year experiences
in relevant industries, during which he worked for Bank of
Communication and Guotai’s group and acted as a branch general
manager of Shenzhen Guotai Securities Company Limited; as a
general manager (under the head offices of International Business
and Institutional Customer Services) of Guotai Junan Securities
Company Limited; as an executive director of Guotai Junan
Financial Holdings Company Limited; as a director of Guotai Junan
Securities (Hong Kong) Company Limited and Guotai Junan Assets
Management (Asia) Limited and as the chairman of Harvest China
Equities Investment Company Limited. He has extensive practical
experiences in the capital markets of the PRC and Hong Kong.
Mr. Zhu is not appointed for a specific term with our Company but
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Jin Song, aged 40, is our managing director and an executive
director, he joined our Company since 11 April 2005. Mr. Jin is
currently a director and president of Beijing Zhongmin Gas Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company and he also acts
as director posts in certain principal subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Jin holds a MBA degree from Oklahoma City University in
United States. Mr. Jin has substantial experiences in investment
banking as well as merger and acquisition of gas enterprises in the
PRC. He was engaged in marketing and project management by
Shenzhen Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., and worked for years in
investment banking business with Guangzhou Security Company
Limited and Huatai Securities Co., Ltd. Mr. Jin is not appointed for
a specific term with our Company but is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provision of our
Company'’s Bye-laws.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, aged 47, is appointed as our
executive director of Company since 1 December 2008. Mr.
Chu was graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
Master degree in Business Administration. Mr. Chu is a fellow
practising member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. Mr. Chu has over 22 years of professional
experiences in auditing, accounting and financial management
for both private and listed corporations. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Eyang Holdings (Group)
Co. Limited (stock code: 00117); Flyke International Holdings Ltd
(stock code: 01998); and Huayu Expressway Group Ltd. (stock
code: 01823). Mr. Chu resigned as independent non-executive
director of Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited (stock code:
00723) on 31 August 2010, all of the above companies listed on
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu is not appointed for a specific term
with our Company but is subject to retirement and re-election in
the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Junmin, aged 61, is our independent non-executive
director, Dr. Liu joined our Company since 11 April 2005. Dr. Liu
is currently a member of our Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. Dr. Liu holds a Bachelor degree, a Master degree and
a PhD degree in Economics from Nankai University in the PRC, in
which Dr. Liu is a professor of the School of Economics and an
officer of the Virtual Economics & Management Research Center.
Dr. Liu was appointed as independent director of China-Baoding
Tianwei Yingli New Energy Resources Co., Limited from June
2008. After completion of the service term, Dr. Liu was resigned
as an independent director of Tianjin Faw Xiali Automobile
Co. (stock code: 000927), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in June 2008. Dr. Liu has awarded “Sun Yefang
Economics Prize” ([ /g 75 & B2 4| ) . Dr. Liu has entered into a
service contract with our Company for three years but is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in the forthcoming
annual general meeting in accordance with the provision of our
Company'’s Bye-laws.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Tan Qinglian, aged 73, is our independent non-executive
director, he joined our Company since 11 April 2005. He is
currently a member of our Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. He is the member of the 10th National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
President of China Civil Engineering Society. He was the vice
minister of the Ministry of Construction of China. Mr. Tan has
entered into a service contract with our Company for three
years but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Sin Ka Man, aged 44, is our independent non-executive
director, Mr. Sin joined our Company since 23 December 2006 and
he is also the chairman and a member of our Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee, respectively. Mr. Sin has over 19
years of professional experiences in auditing, accounting and
financial management for both private and listed corporations.
Mr. Sin is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified practicing
accountant of the CPA in Australia. Mr. Sin is currently an vice-
president of Huayu Expressway Group Limited (stock code:
01823) and is responsible for the accounting and financial
management. Mr. Sin holds a Bachelor degree in Social Sciences
from the University of Hong Kong, a Master degree in Finance
from the University of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom and a
Master degree in accounting from Curtin University of Technology
in Australia. Mr. Sin is an independent non-executive director
of PNG Resources Holdings Limited (formerly known as LeRoi
Holdings Limited, stock code: 00221); China Motion Telecom
International Limited (stock code: 00989); and Xtep International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 01368) (companies are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) and Sino Haijing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01106, the shares of which was transferred
from Growth Enterprise Market to Main Board for listing on 12
May 2011). Mr. Sin has entered into a service contract with our
Company for three years but is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the provision of our Company’s
Bye-laws.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the sale and distribution of natural
gas and liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") (collectively referred
to as “gas fuel”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
including the sales of LPG in bulk and cylinders, the provision of
piped gas fuel, construction of gas pipelines, the operation of city
gas pipeline network, the sale of LPG and natural gas household
appliances and lottery agency and equipment supply. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2011 are set out in
note 46 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of this annual
report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2011 are set out in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in page 59 and note 45
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2011, the Company did not have any distributable
reserves.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers taken together accounted for 6.6% and 17.9% of the
Group’s total turnover for the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the aggregate purchase
attributable to the Group's largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers taken together accounted for 33.2% and 71.3% of the
Group's total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any shareholder who owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any
of the said top five customers and suppliers of the Group for the
year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)
Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Jin Song (Managing Director)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Junmin

Mr. Tan Qinglian
Mr. Sin Ka Man
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 23 to
page 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT AND ROTATION

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years but
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company's Bye-laws.

In accordance with Bye-Laws 99 of the Company, Mr. Chu Kin
Wang Peleus, Dr. Liu Junmin and Mr. Tan Qinglian will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting but, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Other than disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered or
has proposed to enter into any service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not expiring or determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in
note 11(a) to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive directors of their independence
pursuant to the rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Board considered all independent non-
executive directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests of the Directors in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

ERrERGBPZHER

EERkO HEARORESP2E
=

R2011F3A31H REFHFRHASEHE
32EARRNRIATHFE 2 E M Arac s iR
BEMBOTAEZETESR S 2EETE
([BEFRIDARNERNRRREEHERS
FrBERAR ([BRFT])  BEEERARFK
EEMAEEE (TEEEHFRBEEGIEXV
) ([HEEEE ) 2 H - BERHD REHF
ZREIMT

Percentage

of aggregate

Number of interests to

underlying total number

shares held of shares

Number of shares under equity in issue*

BiHE derivatives ERAE

Personal Family Corporate  RAFTEIR HERTRS

interests interests interests BTEEZ Total BYEALL*

Name of Director EZE AAEH RikER NAER  HBERAEE 2y %
Dr. Mo Shikang RitFEiEL - - 1,000,798,538 1,410,000 2 1,002,208,538 24.55
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAERAE 3,710,000 - - 10,000,000 2 13,710,000 0.34
Mr. Zhu Peifeng REREE 2,600,000 - - 10,000,000 2 12,600,000 0.31
Mr. Jin Song g - - - 10,000,000 2 10,000,000 0.24
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus ~ KBZ%EAE - - - 11,000,000 2 11,000,000 0.27
Dr. Liu Junmin HEREL - - - 3,600,000 2 3,600,000 0.09
Mr. Sin Ka Man EFEEE - - - 3,600,000 2 3,600,000 0.09



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

1. This represents interests held by Dr. Mo Shikang (“Dr. Mo") through Asian
Allied Limited (“Asian Allied”), which holds 1,000,798,538 shares of the
Company registered under the name of Super Win Development Limited
("Super Win"), its wholly-owned subsidiary. Dr. Mo has 42.75% interest in
Asian Allied, he is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,000,798,538 shares
of the Company.

2. This represents interests in share option held by the relevant Directors as
beneficial owner to subscribe for the relevant underlying shares granted by
the Company under the 2006 Share Option Scheme, details of which is set
out in the section headed “Share Option” under Directors’ Report in this
annual report.

3. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial owner.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2011 (i.e. 4,082,224,554 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the
Directors had any other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
Associated Corporations which had been entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2011, the number of outstanding option shares
granted by the Company under the 2006 Share Option Scheme
(defined under section headed “Share Option” below) for the
Directors to subscribe the shares of the Company, as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the section headed
“Share Option” under Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2011, the interests of those persons (other than
the Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

EERERORES ZER

M2011F3A318 RIEFEFRBEKHIZE352
EARRRIFE ZECMAATEE  SRIRIZE
SFRIZERIE AN A A KB AR - AN A AR #2006
FHRETE (TERTXBEBRE] —&N)
ERESREURBEARTRG 2 RITHERER
BHEBEERATRETSHRS [BRE] —

fie

B bt E SN RAFEERERE AQF - B
BAR EREMEB QR SREZERARLERT
MR HE BUEE S A B AR QB RAEM
HAAE 2 Bty sk B 55 ek o

RRAFAREARzZEERER

R2011F3A31 8 IRIEFEH KB EKAE336
BEARNBFFEEZELSM ZSEAL(BRES
INBEEARRBIRGD 2 EROT

Number of
underlying Percentage of
shares held shares to
under equity total number
derivatives of shares
Capacity in which Number of BAESTETR in issue*
Name shares were held shares BHTHEZ HEBTRA
£78 BERGZEHH KRG E MHERGOEE BB
%
Super Win' Beneficial owner 1,000,798,538 (L) - 24.52
EmEA A
Asian Allied’ Interest of controlled 1,000,798,538 (L) - 24.52

corporation
RS A AR

(L) = long positiontf &



SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

1. This represents interests held by Dr. Mo through Asian Allied, which holds
1,000,798,538 shares of the Company registered under the name of Super
Win, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asian Allied. Dr. Mo has 42.75% interest in
Asian Allied, he is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,000,798,538 shares
of the Company.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2011 (i.e. 4,082,224,554 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, the Company had
not been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which had been recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICTS

None of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company
or any of their respective associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
as at the date of this annual report and within the knowledge
of the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float of the
Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION

On 3 October 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2006 Share
Option Scheme”). On 27 September 2007, the shareholders of the
Company approved the resolution for refreshment of 10% limit
on the grant of options under the 2006 Share Option Scheme. On
28 August 2008, the shareholders of the Company approved the
resolution for the amendments to the terms of the 2006 Share
Option Scheme, details of which may refer to the circular of the
Company dated 31 July 2008.

As at 31 March 2011 and up to the date of this annual report,
298,730,000 and 221,600,000 option shares were outstanding
under the 2006 Share Option Scheme respectively.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2006
Share Option Scheme:

Purpose Provide incentives to the eligible persons to contribute
to the Group, to enable the Group to recruit and retain
quality employees to serve the Group on a long-term
basis and to attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

Participants Eligible person include any executive, employee (whether
full-time or part-time), Director (including non-executive
director and independent non-executive director),
consultant, adviser, partner, joint-venture partner,
service provider, customer and/or agent of the Company
or any of its subsidiary or any person, who in the
absolute discretion of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group at the time when an option is
granted to such person (Note).

BRE

F2006F 10838 A A A 2 B E AR KN —
BT EET B ([2006F BREETE]) - R
200798278 * AN QR AR HL/FEF ¥ 20064F
BRETERNBEREZ10%REBZRER -
720088 H28H * AN A RIAR R AL EIE ] 2006
FREBRENEERZRAZER  FBUTLHARQ
AI2008%7A318 2@ K -

R2011E3A3THREZARAFHRAH BiE
2006 F EE R EFFE B E 2B RESN S
298,730,0001% £2.221,600,00017 A 1T {5 °

T A20064F BB A 8 2 £ B R
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Price of Shares

Total number of
shares available
for issue and the
percentage of
the issued share
capital that it
represents as at
the date of this
annual report

Determined by the Board and shall at least be the
highest of:

(a) the nominal value of the share of the Company;

(b) the closing price of the share of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of offer, which must be a
trading day; and

(0) the average closing price of the share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

94,407,405 shares, being approximately 2.31% of the
issued share capital of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Maximum
entitlement of
each participant

Period within
which

the securities
must be taken up
under the option

Minimum period
for which

an option must
be held before
it can be
exercised

Amount payable
on acceptance

Period within
which
calls/loans must
be made/repaid

Remaining life of
the scheme

Not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue in any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board (Note).

Not applicable (Note).

No amount is payable on acceptance of an
offer.

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective until 5
October 2016, after which no further options
will be granted, but in all other respects the
provisions of this scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in respect of any option
granted prior to the termination of this
scheme and any such option shall continue to
be exercisable in accordance with their terms
of issue.

Note:  This term has been revised in the 2008 annual general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION (Continued) BRE £

Movements of the option shares, which were granted under the BIE LR 17.071& REE201143HA31
2006 Share Option Scheme, during the year ended 31 March HIEFERKE20065F MR £ 1 2 B i

2011 are listed below in accordance with rule 17.07 of the Listing ZEBEFBERT
Rules:

During the year

FR
Granted/
(exercised) Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant As ati BE/ cancelled* As ati price' period
Al BEBH  01.04.2010 (7fF) &% /&8 31.03.2011 THEE T
HK$
B
Directors
EE
Dr. Mo 02.04.2007? 750,000 - (750,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
K+ 01.10.2010
15.10.20072 660,000 - - 660,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010¢ - 750,000 - 750,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
1,410,000
Mr. Zhang Hesheng 02.04.2007? 7,500,000 - (7,500,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
RMA&LE 01.10.2010
15.10.20072 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010¢ - 7,500,000 - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
10,000,000

Mr. Zhu Peifeng 02.04.2007? 7,500,000 - (7,500,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
RIBREAE 01.10.2010
15.10.20072 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010¢ - 7,500,000 - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

10,000,000
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

BIRE (&)

During the year

FR
Granted/
(exercised) Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant As atji? B/ cancelled* As atiR price’ period
Al BHAH  01.04.2010 (7)K% /&8 31.03.2011 THEE ig:d:
HK$
B

Mr. Jin Song 02.04.2007? 7,500,000 - (7,500,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
FREE 01.10.2010
15.10.20072 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010¢ - 7,500,000 - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

10,000,000
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus 02.04.2007? 6,000,000 - (6,000,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
KEREE 01.10.2010
15.10.20072 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
12.04.2010° - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
11.04.2013
29.11.2010¢ - 7,000,000 - 7,000,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

11,000,000
Dr. Liu Junmin 02.04.2007? 2,700,000 - (2,700,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
ABRET 01.10.2010
15.10.20072 900,000 - - 900,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010* - 2,700,000 - 2,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

3,600,000
Mr. Sin Ka Man 02.04.2007? 2,700,000 - (2,700,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
EREEE 01.10.2010
15.10.20072 900,000 - - 900,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010¢ - 2,700,000 - 2,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

3,600,000

Subtotal 46,610,000 37,650,000 (34,650,000) 49,610,000

Nt
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SHARE OPTION (Continued) BRE 2

During the year
FR
Granted/
(exercised) Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant As atid B/ cancelled* As atiR? price’ period
5l BEAH  01.04.2010 (1) k% &8+ 31.03.2011 TEE TR
HK$
BT
Continuous Contracts 02.04.2007? 80,820,000 - (80,820,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
Employee 01.10.2010
FEERNTIER
15.10.20072 35,190,000 - (2,900,000) 32,290,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
02.11.2007? 1,100,000 - (400,000) 700,000 0.632 10.05.2008-
01.05.2011
04.1.20082 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.382 17.07.2008-
03.07.2011
12.04.2010° - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
11.04.2013
29.11.2010¢ - 77,000,000 - 77,000,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 137,110,000 79,000,000 (84,120,000) 131,990,000
NaE

Consultants 11.10.20062 46,000,000 - (46,000,000) - 0.385 11.04.2007-
B 10.04.2010
02.04.2007? 59,382,000 - (59,382,000) - 0.530 18.10.2007-
01.10.2010
15.10.20072 18,750,000 - - 18,750,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
12.04.2010° - 23,000,000 - 23,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
11.04.2013
29.11.2010¢ - 34,700,000 - 34,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

Subtotal 124,132,000 57,700,000  (105,382,000) 76,450,000
it
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SHARE OPTION (Continued) BRE )
During the year
R
Granted/
(exercised) Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant As atid B/ cancelled* As atid price’ period
£5 BHA®  01.04.2010 (f78) &% /=E#*  31.03.201 fTEE 68
HK'$
BT
Agents 02.04.20072 26,540,000 - (26,540,000) - 0.530  18.10.2007-
RE 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 9,760,000 - (1,020,000) 8,740,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010¢ - 18,250,000 - 18,250,000 0.282  01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 36,300,000 18,250,000  (27,560,000) 26,990,000
It
Advisors 02.04.20072 13,610,000 - (13,610,000 - 0.530  18.10.2007-
LN 01.10.2010
15.10.2007* 4,690,000 - - 4,690,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
29.11.2010¢ - 9,000,000 - 9,000,000 0.282  01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 18,300,000 9,000,000  (13,610,000) 13,690,000
Dt
Total 362,452,000 201,600,000 (265,322,000) 298,730,000

At




SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Notes:

1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share
capital.

2. The vesting period is six months from the date of acceptance of the offer.

3. The share option is vested immediately on the date of acceptance and the

closing price of the Shares immediately the date on which the options were
granted was HK$0.395.

4. The share option is vested immediately on the date of acceptance and the
closing price of the Shares immediately the date on which the options were
granted was HK$0.290.

PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries are
primary in form of contributions to Hong Kong’s Mandatory
Provident Funds and the PRC statutory public welfare fund
respectively.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company did not have any connected
transactions which were subject to the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 38 to
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole and any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Board adopted the Model Code, which has been revised and
adopted by the Board pursuant to the recent amendments to the
Listing Rule. All Directors have confirmed their compliance with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2011.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold, or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2011.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period as
set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (the "SHINEWING") will retire
and, being eligible offer, offer themselves for re-appointment in
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of SHINEWING as auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Jin Song
Managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 30 June 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has committed to perform a high standard of
corporate governance practices in enhancing the confidence of
shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and business partners
and also the growth of its business. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “"CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”). As far as the CG Code is concerned, during
the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
complies with all aspect of the Code Provisions.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) acknowledge their
responsibility for preparation and the true and fair presentation
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements required by the Listing Rules and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

(a) Directors’ securities transactions

Adoption of Model Code

The board of directors (the “Board”) has adopted the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Confirmation on Compliance

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2011 and up to the
date of this annual report, they all confirmed that they
have fully complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the year and up to the date of this
annual report.
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(a)

(b)

Directors’ securities transactions (Continued) (a)
Written Guideline for Relevant Employees

In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the

Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees in
respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.

Such relevant employees shall abide by the provisions of the

Model Code.

Amendments to the Model Code

In consideration of the new amendments to the Model
Code (the “"Amendments”), which became effective on
the 1st quarter of 2009, the Board revised its Model Code
corresponding to the Amendments in the 1st quarter of
2009.

The Board (b)
Composition

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills

and experiences appropriate to the requirements of the
businesses of the Company and to the exercising of
independent. None of the members of the Board is related to

one another.

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)
Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Jin Song (Managing Director)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tan Qinglian

Dr. Liu Junmin

Mr. Sin Ka Man

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page
23 to page 26 of this annual report.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

Number of Meetings Held and Attendance

The Board normally has four (4) scheduled meetings a year
and meets at other times as and when required to review
financial, internal control, risk management, company
strategy and operating performance of the Group. During
the year ended 31 March 2011, a total number of thirteen
(13) Board meetings, two (2) Audit Committee meetings
and three (3) Remuneration Committee meetings were
held. Minutes of these meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary of the Company and are open for inspection by the
Directors.

The individual attendance records of each Director, on a
named basis, at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
March 2011 are set out below:
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Attendance/Number of
meetings entitled to attend

HER EREEEEZHE
Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee
Name of Directors EEnE g EREE® FMZEES
Number of Meetings SR8 E 13 2 3
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Xu Ruixin RIm ¥4 12/13 - -
Dr. Mo Shikang R EEIE+ 13/13 - 3/3
Mr. Zhang Hesheng SR A A S A 13/13 - 3/3
Mr. Zhu Peifeng KiEE % & 13/13 - -
Mr. Jin Song AT £ 13/13 - -
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus RERFE 13/13 - -
Independent Non-executive BIYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Tan Qinglian EERLA 13/13 2/2 3/3
Dr. Liu Junmin BIBERIBL 13/13 2/2 3/3
Mr. Sin Ka Man HRBEE 13/13 2/2 3/3
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(b) The Board (Continued)

Responsible of the Board

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the
Board and delegated to the management. The Board
provides leadership and approves strategic polices and
plans with a view to enhance shareholders’ interests while
the day-to-day operations of the Company are delegated
to the management. The Board has full support of the
managing Director and the management to discharge its
responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Responsible of the Directors

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility
to oversee and monitor the operations of the specific
business unit and to implement the strategies and polices
set by the Board. Each Director may seek for independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expenses, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the managing Director and
the management. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the above mentioned officers.

Annual Confirmation from Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The Company has received, from each independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

(c)

Terms of Non-Executive Directors

Each independent non-executive Directors of the Company
has entered into a services contract with the Company for
specific term of 3 years, but subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Role of Chairman

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the Chairman of the Board and the managing
Director, who performs similar role as chief executive officer,
to ensure a balance of power and authority. The respective
responsibilities of the Chairman and the managing Director
are clearly defined and set out in writing. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning of the Board in accordance with good corporate
governance practice. With the support of the management,
the Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
Directors receive adequate information and appropriate
briefing on issues arising at Board meetings. The position of
the Chairman is held by Dr. Mo Shikang.

Role of Chief Executive Officer

The managing Director focuses on implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved and delegated by the
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The managing Director is also
responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating
the organizational structure, control systems and internal
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval. The
position of the managing Director is currently held by Mr. Jin
Song.
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(d) Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a remuneration committee (“RC")
with written terms of reference as suggested under the Code
Provision under the Code. The RC comprises the following
five members:

(i)  Mr. Zhang Hesheng, chairman of RC (executive
Director)

(i) Dr. Mo Shikang (executive Director)

(iii)  Mr. Tan Qinglian (independent non-executive Director)
(iv)  Dr. Liu Junmin (independent non-executive Director)
(v)  Mr. Sin Ka Man (independent non-executive Director)

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the
remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management. During the year ended 31 March 2011, a
total number of three (3) meeting was held to determine
the remuneration policy, bonus and/or share option for the
Directors and/or senior management. The attendance records
of the RC, on a named basis, are set out under section of
“Number of Meetings Held and Attendance” under the
Corporate Governance Report, on page 45, of this annual
report.

The RC has primary responsibility for making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy
and structure and remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management after consultation with the
Chairman/managing Director and accessed to professional
advice, at the Company's expenses, when necessary. The
major responsibilities of the RC are:

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

(i)  to determine which individual or individuals constitute
senior management;
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(d) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

(e)

(i) to review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and

objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

to review and approve the compensation payable
to executive Directors and senior management in
connection with any loss or termination of their office;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; and

(vi) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration;

During the year, the Board approved all the
recommendations of the RC. Details of the amount of
Directors’ emoluments during the year ended 31 March
2011 are set out in note 11(a) to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Board has established an audit committee (“AC") with
written terms of reference as suggested under the Code
Provision under the Code. The AC comprises the following
three members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman of AC

(i) Mr. Tan Qinglian

(i) ~ Dr. Liu Junmin

The AC meets at least twice a year to review and approve
the Group's financial reporting process and internal control
system. During the year ended 31 March 2011, a total
number of two (2) meetings were held. The attendance
records of the AC, on a named basis, are set out under
section of “Number of Meetings Held and Attendance”
under the Corporate Governance Report, on page 45, of this
annual report.
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(e) Audit Committee (Continued) (e)

(f)

The major responsibilities of the AC are:

(i)  to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
qualified accountant, compliance officer (if any) or
external auditor before submission to the Board.

(i) to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
the fee and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and
removal of external auditor.

The Group's annual results for the year ended 31 March
2011 have been reviewed by the AC.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the fee paid/payable
to auditor in respect of audit service and non-audit services
provided by the auditor to the Group were as follows:
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2011 2010

HKS$'000 HK$'000

Nature of services REME BET T BT T

Audit for the year FEEZ 1,900 1,800
Nomination Committee () BEZEE®

The Company does not have Nomination Committee.
The Board as a whole is responsible for the procedure
for agreeing to the appointment of its members and for
nominating appropriate person for election by shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors.
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(9)

(h)

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for the system of
internal controls of the Company and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board is committed to implementing an
effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.
During the year, the Board, through the AC, has reviewed
the implementation of the system of internal controls and
reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance
controls and risk management functions. A review will be
conducted at least annually on the effectiveness of the
system of internal controls.

Investor Relation

The Company is committed to maintain an open and
effective investor relation policy and to update investors
on relevant information/developments in a timely manner,
subject to relevant regulatory requirements. Briefings
and meetings with institutional investors and analysts are
conducted from time to time. The Company also replied the
enquiries from shareholders timely. The Directors host the
annual general meeting each year to meet the shareholders
and answer their enquiry.

The Company’'s website at www.681hk.com contains
important corporate information, biographical details
of Directors, organisation structure, annual and interim
reports, major historical developments with comprehensive
and user-friendly information about the Group, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company in
order to enable the Company'’s shareholders and the investor
community to have timely access to updated information
about the Company and the Group.

DREZERTRAS
2010-2011£E 8§

Corporate Governance Report

(9)

(h)

EREBRS

WEBEE 12

EEEHARAANEZEARAERE
ERARTERY - EZEHNETAX
ReE 2 NEPEEIE R - DMRIF AR R F &1
EAGREEE -BEFEE@FACEBERE
BemdANEERRZETRRIM
BREBYH 2&E AREELEREE
D -EX2BFELHAMEERRLZ
FXRAEST — IR ET

REEBE

ARBBNEREBEERT  #F12H
AR EEBERER  LERKRKRE
ERMHEFEBENBR - ARATE
HERREERSMEMHEEH &
ROERRER EFEFIHRRAF
Re @RBERROERMA -

AQAE)Z Buiwww.681hk.comE B A &
ExELAEACEGRCER BIEE
ENEEH FEEFEERE ABER.
FREPHRE BEERER UEK
NAFTTE 2 A LK AREIRE &
REEEBRDNSARARAERZ &
FER-

51



Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2010-2011

Independent Auditor’s Report
BWIZHENIRS

feksPia

Shine‘ZOan

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., The Lee Gardens

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CHINESE PEOPLE HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 55 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044

Hong Kong
30 June 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REZEMBABRR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT o BT T
Turnover ] 7 853,868 706,250
Cost of sales $HE R A (624,119) (495,920)
Gross profit E 229,749 210,330
Other operating income HAp & A 9 15,601 11,376
Administrative expenses TEHAX (136,626) (122,039)
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, HEWE BME R&HN KL
plant and equipment and BNz W (BE)
prepaid lease payments 52,720 (1,907)
Loss on disposal of HEHREEEHEE 2 EIB
available-for-sale financial assets (64,426) -
Equity-settled share-based NEREERN RER 2K
payments (16,618) -
Share of results of associates FEIREEE AR FEE 137 4,564
Finance costs B 75 Ak AN 12 (4,017) (6,855)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 M 37 1,361 257,189
Impairment loss recognised EME 5 K& H M W FIRRER
in respect of trade and B 5 1R
other receivables (6,406) (20,534)
Loss on fair value changes AHREEREAREZBER
of convertible notes - (2,118)
Profit before tax R 154 B g A 71,475 330,006
Income tax expense FrigBim 13 (23,832) (20,248)
Profit for the year REE i H 10 47,643 309,758
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEEBA (BAX)
(expense) for the year
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBFFEECER Z5
translation of foreign operations 33,453 2,436
Exchange reserve realised on I A B IR BE H S
disposal of subsidiaries (584) (14,388)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes AHHESHEEAABEESD
of available-for-sale financial (E18) Heas
assets (1,929) 6,616
Release of investment valuation HEAHREESREEY
reserve upon disposal of RA BB AR b
available-for-sale financial assets 64,348 -
Other comprehensive income REFHEMPERA (FAX)
(expense) for the year 95,288 (5,336)
Total comprehensive income REEZEZEBA
for the year 142,931 304,422
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REZTEBARR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ2011F3A8318 L FE

2011 2010
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E T 5T BT T
Profit for the year attributable to: TR 2 AR FE RN
Owners of the Company AATEB A 45,639 300,614
Non-controlling interests R R E R 2,004 9,144
47,643 309,758
Total comprehensive income THEN 2 2 E R AR :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PN Z SN 138,282 295,278
Non-controlling interests FEE R 4,649 9,144
142,931 304,422
HK cents HK cents
Al A
Earnings per share B & F

— basic and diluted —HEARREE 16 1.12 7.36
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RS MR BR

At 31 March 2011 /201143 A31H

2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE Sk 5T BT T
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER U 17 738,370 635,370
Investment properties wEYE 18 8,621 7,024
Prepaid lease payments FENHEE 19 27,916 29,493
Goodwill GRS 20 95,114 93,113
Intangible assets mEE 21 101,714 101,983
Interests in associates AN 22 89,733 63,647
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEEsREE 24 6,746 38,567
Deposit paid for acquisition of W AREGIEEE MRS
a jointly controlled entity 42 41,489 -
Deposit paid for acquisition of W% - BB M sk A &
property, plant and equipment and AR MRS
prepaid lease payments 20,104 4,891
1,129,807 974,088
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 25 34,777 26,843
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H th fE W 5118 26 230,085 91,569
Other loan to a shareholder of BN AR 2 EME R
an associate 27 43,050 41,000
Amount due from a joint venturer BREERLEESEHRIE 28 24,230 23,298
Amount due from an associate JE Wi Bt 8 1) B FRIE 22 474 =
Prepaid lease payments T 19 767 699
Held-to-maturity investments FEZIHEE 29 35,562 8
Pledged bank deposits B BIRITER 30 8,228 8,076
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRRE S 30 262,763 316,191
639,936 507,676
Current liabilities mBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 K H Ath fE < 518 31 277,575 203,283
Tax liabilities HIEAE 55,313 57,022
Amount due to a joint venturer ENEELEAEHNE 28 12,885 -
Amounts due to associates FE T B 28 R B RIE 22 11,851 11,389
Amounts due to a shareholder of an FE ST 2 D B IR B FIE
associate 27 23,708 -
Bank borrowings —FANEBZRITEER
— due within one year 32 21,693 92,663
403,025 364,357
Net current assets RBEEFE 236,911 143,319
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBEE 1,366,718 1,117,407
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REMBRRER

At 31 March 2011 7201143 H31H

2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT 5T ¥ T I
Capital and reserves AR AR I ek 1
Share capital A& AR 34 285,756 285,756
Reserves s 797,750 642,850
Equity attributable to owners of RRRHEB AEGER
the Company 1,083,506 928,606
Non-controlling interests FEER 71,049 64,041
Total equity farEn 1,154,555 992,647
Non-current liabilities EMBAE
Bank borrowings — due after one year —FREBPZIBITEER 32 192,604 110,407
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBE FE 33 19,559 14,353
212,163 124,760
1,366,718 1,117,407

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 167 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30
June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Mo Shikang

Director
BitEEL
EF

BN ESSRI67TEZRAYBRREEESS
R2011F6 A30B #HE E MR ET|E - WAHMNUT
REFEE:

Mr. Jin Song
Director
FMmEE
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RoEQBEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

Attributable
Surplus Share-based Property Investment to owners Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Contributed reserve Capital compensation  revaluation valuation Exchange  Accumulated ofthe  controlling
capital premium reserve surplus fund  contribution reserve reserve Teserve reserve losses Company interests Total
HRHAER S %% ADARAA

Bx  RftEf ErBE  BARR  BHORE  RARE  oME@E  EMER  GERR  EXGR  RHER BGEE  FERER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 H§'000. HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BTt BETR BBTn BETR AT BETT  BBTn BETn BETR BT BTr  BETR ABTn BETR

(note ) (Note b) (note ¢)
(Hita) (i) (Hito)

At 1 April 2009 H200954518 285,756 615,523 2,182 89,800 14,188 7482 35,715 454 (69,014) 118,956 (467,714) 633,328 68,810 702,138
Profit for the year RERER o - - - - - - - - - 300614 300614 9144 309758
Other comprehensive income AEREMBRERA

(expense) for the year (A%) - - - - - - - - 6,616 (11,952) - (5,336) - (5,336)

Total comprehensive income AEEZENA
(expense) for the year (F%) 28 - - - - - - - - 6,616 (11,952) 300,614 295,278 9,144 304422

Acquisition of a jointly controlled KRR HEE

entity (Note 23) (Hit23) - - - - - - - - - - - - 4,587 4587
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37)  tH&HBAR (fi337) = = = = = = = = = = = = (17,389) (17,388)
Appropriations &% - - - - 5829 - - - - - (5,829) - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling 1 B R A RIS 2

interests of subsidiaries RE - - - - - - - - - - - (1.112) (1112)
Effect on share options forfeited  RUERIE2 F/E - - - - = = 436) - - - 436 - - -
At 31 March 2010 and R2010F3831R Rk

1 April 2010 201054818 285,756 615,523 2,182 89,800 20,017 7482 35279 454 (62,398) 107,004 (172,493) 928,606 64,041 992,647
Profit for the year TERRT o = = = = = = = = = 45,639 45,639 2,004 47,643
Other comprehensive income TEREMRERA

for the year - - - - - - - - 62,419 30,224 - 92,643 2,645 95,288

Total comprehensive income TERRENNEE

for the year - - - - - - - - 62,419 30,224 45,639 138,282 4,649 142,931
Appropriations B2 - - - - 8867 - - - - - (8,867) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling i PHBA AL RIER 2

interests of subsidiaries RE - - - - - - - - - - - - (1,245) (1,245)
Contribution from non-controlling B2 3 HER &

interests of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 3,604 3,604
Recognition of equity-settled EREERAAERL

share-based payments B2 - - - - - - 16,618 - - - - 16,618 - 16,618
Effect on share options forfeited  RUERIE2 72 - - - - - - (29,019) - - - 29,019 - - -
At 31 March 2011 H2011£3A318 285,756 615,523 2,182 89,800 28,884 7482 2878 454 il 137,228 (106,702) 1,083,506 71,049 1,154,555
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ2011F3A8318 L FE

Notes:

(a)

The amount represents a revaluation surplus which was recognised as a result
of the acquisition of an additional interest in Xin Hua Resources Investment
Limited (“Xin Hua"”) (previously an associate) which resulted in Xin Hua
becoming a subsidiary. Xin Hua was deregistered in year 2006 and its assets
and liabilities were transferred to the Company.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the Company’s share capital issued as consideration in
exchange for the nominal value of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired at the time of the Company’s listing in 1997.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment
enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company's
PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
and a discretionary surplus reserve fund, which are non-distributable.
Appropriations to such reserves are made out of profit after taxation of the
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the amount and
allocation basis are decided by their board of directors annually. The statutory
surplus reserve fund can be used to make up their prior years losses, if any,
and can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

By &E :

Z & RPEEWEXIn Hua Resources Investment
Limited ([Xin Hual) (AEEER ZEE Q)5
e CEBXin Huafk BAS BB AR) MERZE
A Xin HuaC A2006F i+  HEERBED
[ ¥ W N/NCT

REE 2 A BBIEA QT A AMEAREBERIN1997
FLETRARBZMBERRN 2B HTRAMETL
ARBRAEE BZEMBEAREBTRAEEZ

MR EARLNE ([FE])IMECEZHEER
FOEBIFTARFE - AN AR 2 P EIME A BAR R AE R
RABEREBRARATES (RTADIK) ° L5
BZBAKRETENEREEEMBRER P ZERB
BEf MEBFROEEENEAZEHBERRESS
BFEEE AERABRABETTAEREZEMEBEAR
BEFEZER (NF) YrEBERETHEER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

o By~ —
REWRERE
For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT o E¥E T I
Operating activities RETEH
Profit before tax B 4 A1 A 71,475 330,006
Adjustments for: RTHIBEELFAE:
Amortisation of intangible assets HiHELEE 4,300 5,216
Amortisation of prepaid lease AN Ee
payments 719 882
Loss on fair value changes of ARBREEA R BEEEEE
convertible notes - 2,118
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEEsREECER
financial assets 64,426 =
Dividend income BB WA (491) (11)
Depreciation of property, M- BB RERETE
plant and equipment 24,170 18,034
Impairment loss recognised in respect ERGFEE®RRZBESE
of inventories 654 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect BB E 5 K E i FE U TR IE HE R
of trade and other receivables 2R IEEE 26 6,406 20,534
Reversal of impairment loss BB E 5 &H b FE U R IE R
recognised in respect of trade Z R EEERERE
and other receivables 26 (146) (431)
Finance costs B 7% A AR 4,017 6,855
Interest income FEKA (5.541) (3,369)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEME  BE &N K
plant and equipment and prepaid ‘e (k) B8
lease payments (52,720) 1,907
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB ARz ks 37 (1,361) (257,189)
Gain on fair value changes of REMEARBEEF W
investment properties (1,281) (1,160)
Share of results of associates LB E AR EE (137) (4,564)
Waiver of trade payables e E 5 ENKIE - (1,333)
Equity-settled share-based payments AR S E R D B ETE Z AR 16,618 -
Operating cash flows before movements #EE GBI L ERSTRE
in working capital 131,108 117,495
Increase in inventories FE#E M (7,499) (3,410)
Increase in trade and other receivables ‘& 5 K E fth fi& Ug 5 1B 1 A (66,198) (2,411)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K& EH fth FE T SR IEE AN 83,896 67,587
Cash generated from operations KEEBEERS 141,307 179,261
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BAREMEMSH (23,074) (11,582)

Net cash generated from KEEBEERSFH
operating activities 118,233 167,679
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2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
W aE SEoMs 5T ¥ T I
Investing activities REETE
Proceed from disposal of HEAHEESREEMSHKE
available-for-sale financial assets 30,074 -
Interest received 2 F 8 3,400 1,549
Dividend income P& B A 491 11
Proceed from disposal of property, HEWE BFE REEEHIE
plant and equipment 184 971
Decrease (increase) in pledged bank BEEMRITFEFOR D (3Z 1)
deposits 176 (8,076)
Advance to an associate R NETE=E N (474) =
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEEMNES (532) (5,707)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from LEMBARERS ORL) RAFE
disposal of subsidiaries 37 (13,134) 363,329
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WY  BE M&EREMHES
plant and equipment and prepaid BEff&E
lease payments (19,906) (4,891)
Increase in investment in an associate ABE RN B 2 A N (23,695) (27,341)
Purchase of held-to-maturity B%,~*‘J‘ﬁiil 1S &
investments (35,562) =
Deposits paid for acquisition of a jointly- WHHERITH FEEFiZE
controlled entity (41,489) =
Purchase of property, BEME BWEME&E
plant and equipment (109,511) (146,180)
Purchase of intangible assets BEERVEE - (995)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of WERREGEEEELEZ
a jointly controlled entity WE R FHE 23 - (16,019)
Other loan advanced to a shareholder mEEE R R BT E M E R
of an associate - (41,000)
Net cash (used in) generated from BEEES (FMA)EERFE
investing activities (209,978) 115,651
Financing activities RMEEE
New bank borrowings raised FrERFRITER 151,672 164,025
Other loan raised BEEREHEMER 23,708 3,647
Advance from a joint venturer BEREEEHER 12,885 =
Contribution from non-controlling B A RIEERE R E
interests of a subsidiary 3,604 =
Advance from (repayment to) associates B & A TZ = ER) 462 (6,038)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ] TélH (g Sl ¢\
interests of subsidiaries (1,245) (1,112)
Repayment of other loan EEAEMER (3,743) (8,024)
Interest paid [EERRAIPSN (13,820) (13,720)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (148,680) (118,760)
Repayment of convertible notes EE ] R R & - (164,492)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

2011 2010
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT o BT T
Net cash generated from (used in) MEEFBEE (FA)RESFE
financing activities 24,843 (144,474)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash RE&RIBEZHEEE Cfd)
equivalents b1 (66,902) 138,856
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#H & kRS EEHEE
of the year 316,191 176,952
Effect of foreign currency rate changes — /NEESERE &)z & 13,474 383
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRASRBASFEBEER -
the year, represented by bank BaRIT#E A IR &
balances and cash 262,763 316,191

63



-

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2010-2011

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997,
the Company’s shares were listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the section headed “Corporate Information” of the Annual
Report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries principally engage in the sale and distribution of
natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") (collectively
referred to as “Gas Fuel”) in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") including the sale of LPG in bulk and
in cylinders, the provision of piped LPG and natural gas,
construction of gas pipelines, the operation of city gas
pipeline network and the sale of LPG.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the parent
and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Super Win Development Limited and Asian Allied Limited
respectively, which were both incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is Renminbi
(“"RMB"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated. The reason for selecting HK$ as its presentation
currency is because the Company is a public company
incorporated in Bermuda with the shares listed on the Stock
Exchange, where most of its investors are located in Hong
Kong.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 & Z201143A318 L& fE

—REHR

RREZERAERAR ([AAFE])R1996F
MABERBREFMKX L AEREE
RAR -MW1997F4H248 - KRB 2R
BREBBERSMAER AR ([HXR
Frl) ER ET - AARIEMPHSERERTE
BEMB AR AFRZ [RF]E R
—HI AR EE -

ARA B —HREERAT  HHEBAF
TEEREARKNE (THE])KEH
ERDERRARRBCABR (RIEA
R (REATHRR])  SREEHHE
FRERIEA AR EHEEEREAHR
RRAARR BEMRREE EEUTMR
EEREMEERILOHER -

RARBZEFRR/RARAZERA KK
BERRARA DB BSuper Win
Development Limited} Asian Allied
Limited " MEHAREBR X B ST MK

-
VAR

ARAREWMBLAR (GHEA[AKE])
ZHEEEBARE (TARK]) -3
FHNFHE - BRI FLR A M B RRIGAE
B(IBEDZ2Y MAEEBEIFER
Bz TR -ARFERABEERENE
2Bl RARTFTNBEREZMAL
ZARATE BB EBRAT EH - mE
REBOBREEDUNERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z201143A318LFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRSs
as part of Improvements
to HKFRSs 2008

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvement to HKFRSs 2009

Hong Kong Accounting Consolidated and Separate
Standard (“HKAS") Financial Statements
27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendments)  Classification of Right Issues

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items
HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time adoption of HKFRSs

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation Presentation of Financial
("Int”) 5 Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand clause
HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners

2.

ERAMIREETEBMBRE
ZA([EERMBHREEAD])

EAZKEF AEEEEAUATHESSG

’“A(FE/% AR AE]) B Z#ET
&%«(f/ AR - /EE'Jﬂ‘ZnT&u%*#(DFﬁJ
&,%%f@ﬂ%i%ﬂﬁ%i&%ﬁ%ﬁ' 1)

BB SRS £ CHEE e
(B3TA) LR LAfE Bt
2008F 2 &iE
ISR &R
BB SRS ER 2009F 2 BB BHRE
(B3TA) £ 7 g
%%Aﬁﬁw 2E kAT EHRE
([BEgsER])

%27%(%&(5 1)
BEEHENENSE  H#RHE

CHEY)
BR G ERF395 RERYMIER
CHEy)

BAMBREER BRRBEBHE
F15% (BEFT) FEEA
BAMBREER BRERRE 2B

B (BFTA) e
BAMBREER SENREHE
F25% (BFX) B RERZ
DEST
BAMBREER A

3% (KERT)
BE (ARMBERSE HHEHRER 2T

2AEBZEE) —BRAD R
—REEH EMELM/AZ
Hﬂ‘&m

B8 (BRHBRS AEBANREFRS
2EZ89) BE
—RBFIR
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs had no material
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the current or prior accounting periods.

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) Business Combinations

The Group applies HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations
prospectively to business combinations for which
the acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2010. The
requirements in HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements in relation to accounting for
changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary after control
is obtained and for loss of control of a subsidiary are also
applied prospectively by the Group on or after 1 April 2010.

As there was no transaction during the current year in which
HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) are applicable, the
application of HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised) and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs had no effect
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the current or prior accounting periods.

Results of the Group in future periods, may be affected
by future transactions for which HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS
27 (Revised) and the consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs are applicable.

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements

In prior years, there are no specific requirements in HKFRSs
regarding changes in ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries. Under HKAS 27 (Revised 2008), all increases or
decreases in such interests that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are dealt with in equity,
with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.

The application of HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) has not resulted
in changes in the Group's accounting policies as it is the
same with the Group's accounting policies of the Group in
prior years.

2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ2011F3A8318 L FE
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FRVHREERF35K (R20085F
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RS M ImRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318LFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendment to HKAS 17 Lease

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS 17
Leases has been amended in relation to the classification of
leasehold land. Before the amendment to HKAS 17, leasees
were required to classify leasehold land as operating leases
and presented as prepaid lease payments in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The amendment has
removed such a requirement. Instead, the amendment
requires the classification of leasehold land to be based on
the general principles set out in HKAS 17, that are based
on the extent to which risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the leasee.

J?Eﬁﬁ%?ﬁ&%% L
wn ([EBHBHEEa )
(#&)

i%%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ [ ] 2B

1ERN2009F 8 2 [ H B iE 2R

ZBGE | 2 — 81 aéﬁ-&%a;ﬁr/&,@” 1
S HE] BREE T 2 5 EIELE
_T B/\%;/ Eﬂ+/§ﬁlj%175f1 HTHJ fﬂiﬁ

AN HERKCERE  WRERE MBI &
Wiﬁ‘Jﬁi‘Eﬁfﬂiﬁ% STEEMmBEE
BE AR ZEFTRERE T IR
iﬁi%%‘ﬁﬁﬂ'l%ﬂ?)ﬁ%ﬁﬂzfQJ?\E'J%
BOHKBREHEEEEMBEEME @
A ER MR BEMEERE HBE A
A ARRAREFABEAEEGER

?d? ﬁw
Wz

il

™

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the amendment to HKAS 17 will not have significant

impact.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 28 (Revised)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14
(Amendments)
HK(IFRIC) — Int 19

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010
except for the amendments
to HKFRS 3 (Revised in 2008),
HKFRS 7, HKAS 1 and HKAS
28!

Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time
Adopters?

Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-time Adopters*

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets*

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial Statements®

Joint Arrangements®

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities®

Fair Value Measurement®

Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets®

Related Party Disclosures®

Separate Financial Statements®

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures®

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement?

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments?

FNTRZEBTAB TG EREFAERF
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

1

2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1
January 2011, as appropriate.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments issued in November 2009 and
amended in October 2010 introduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities and for derecognition.

HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that
are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting
periods.

The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities
relates to the accounting for changes in fair value of
a financial liability (designated as at fair value through
profit or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk
of the liability. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial
liabilities that are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit
risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of
the change in the fair value of the financial liability
designated as at fair value through profit or loss was
recognised in profit or loss.

2.

P& PR ] R ARME R E\%Eﬁ%%’z
HEA ([FE] 717?‘%’1 A1)

g M2010E7 18220111818 (@)
HAB B FEREER -
2 M2010F7 A1 A K A& 8 2 F F 8 4

E %2011@1)31Eliﬁ%tMél?ﬁﬁZiE%ﬁFaﬁi

2 %2011@7)31Eliﬁ%tMél?ﬁﬁZiE%ﬁFaﬁi

2 %2012@1)31EIEJzL‘MéI%WaZEE,HﬁFaﬁE

5 %2013¢1H1EIEJzL‘MéI%WaZEE,HﬁFaﬁE
2o

EBMEREENFSR [T A (B
200911 B M L H2010F 108 EFT)
SIAEREESTERGEAREH
BEMIUHERZFHTE -

o REBEBUBHRELENFR £F
BT EREINE [T A R
M2 MBEANMEEERS M
BEZRBHEKNASIAAEFTE 5

R A ZE B E X 5B AMEE 4
REMERENZEBRERE It
’FTH%SEHK%EUE EEAEZFE
MEBENHRERZERIZE A
—RIBFEBEN AT E -TAEHME
BIREMBRARRELNEEN S
HER AR B2

BOoBMGIECHBERB TR
E! BHREEAFIRIBETZE SR
%Efﬁ?ﬁi&ﬁi ArERENEEREZ S

MABAAEED L JHEAM
MAEBEEERRESH M- FHRE
REZEVBHREENFON BA
REFEMEEZENHER
RAREZEHNIEEZABEZEE
Rk REM2EREER - RIFE
Hh2HRGRRZ AR ZEER
REHTESEUHBEBABR LY
gtk -eRABEEERBREN
ZRAREEHEETEEHND “*EK
1825 o bEAT - RIBEB S FHERIFE39
FoRAAEZEREBEZAAE
EHE2HENIEERNZS -



DRERTRAS
2010-2011£E 8§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M ImRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that HKFRS 9
that will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning 1 April 2013
and that the application of the new standard will have a
significant impact on amounts reported in respect of the
Group's financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that
effect until a detailed review has been completed.

The amendments to HKAS 12 titled Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets mainly deal with the measurement of
deferred tax for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS 40
Investment Property. Based on the amendments, for the
purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for investment properties measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of the investment
properties are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances. The
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the amendments to HKAS 12 may have a significant impact
on deferred tax recognised for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect
until a detailed review has been completed.

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009)
modifies the definition of a related party and simplifies
disclosures for government-related entities.

The disclosure exemptions introduced in HKAS 24 (as revised
in 2009) do not affect the Group because the Group is not a
government-related entity.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments and investment properties that are measured
at fair values as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange of assets.

Principle accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Prior to 1 April 2010,
losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in excess
of the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity
were allocated against the interests of the Group except to
the extent that the non-controlling interests had a binding
obligation and were able to make an additional investment
to cover the losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any, and
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investors has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investment in an associate are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of an associate recognised at the date
of acquisition is recognised as goodwill which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transaction with
the associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the
Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that
is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial
and operating policy decisions relating to the activities of the
joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control).

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over
the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Interests in joint ventures (Continued)
Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled
entities using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share
of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the
jointly controlled entities are combined with the Group's
similar line items, line by line, in the consolidated financial
statements.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the jointly controlled
entities recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill. The goodwill is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s
interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill
arising on the acquisition of a business or a jointly controlled
entity.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity
of the Group, profits or losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction in progress)
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write-off the cost of item of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each of the reporting date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the assets.
Any gain or loss arising on disposal and retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measure at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is dereognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item
is derecognised.

3.

FESTEER (#)
M- -BMERRE (&)

E—EVE BERAEZEHHAET
Rz AERFES %BE 2 RAHEEE
2 EESRESEHG - 15 BHBIEME
RIS E - FIBEE TERERRAES
EIER S A R E B - R
B

ERIREERILEEZTRAREERA
R2W%E BB REEH - ERZTRREKA
BB B ERRERBEIR -EZT
BRETIRRAEREEHRDBEEDE
BELRBIBAER ZFEEREM
MEEEZHREEETHE YRNEE
AIERE A RIaeTE -

ME - BEERBEIRNEERLE R
BERZEER T EEERRLENZE
BABER - ME BFERRERBELE
SBEELEZEMNAEBELZEBREE
HEMSRIBFRERAEZHR T AE
FE I A 18 2 R FERR ©

REWMRE

REVERERDES R SEEELH
BEREMmMAER -

BEMEURAY LA ER  BRIAE
ERMGFS -RYRERE REWMER
AArREEAREAABEFE -REWE
ANEEHELZWENBEREEL
HiMAr AtE2E -

BREMERHERHREMEKAEZ L
£ 3 B R H & 8 58 H A (] R RSO
MR T ABUBRER - BUBRERZ EER
ELRE (REEMESHEFREZE
EREER8)NEABBUEER B A
ARz

:y



\:i

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2010-2011

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z201143A318LFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair
values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible
assets is their fair values at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
the recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit

or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefit received and receivable as an incentive to enter into
an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease terms on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ2011F3A8318 L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits as defined above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction cost that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit and loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables, other
loan to a shareholder of an associate, amount due from
a joint venturer, amount due from an associate, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. The Group designed
investments in a structured deposit as held-to-maturity
investments. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 & Z201143A318 L& fE

FESTEER (#)
SWMIA ()
SREE (&)
eSS

B REA T E S RAE Y B KA
428 B ARG 5 R B M\ 2 75 0% - B
RIE T3 BRE WA (REFES
i SRR T A B BB Rl 2 B A - X
SRR B E AL BRI ) B MAE Y
T A KB EH (HAE) &
P B A ) TR 2 B TR 2
kS

BB TAZHNBWARERA RE LR

N
27
u/ml:\ °

B RERFHE

ERRBERELSTIRRIER TS
P R (B i B3 5 B T =k A] & 0E 1 k2 FE DT
EERMEE -NBRERE ERRER
PR (BREZSRAEMBYFIEA BEn
ARRZEMENR BRABELESES
PR - EUEE R RIFOR  BEEMRTE
RIANRRITERNIA R ) ERAERMRZX
Y22 18 55 B 7 Rl AT fa) R 581 Bl 2 Rl 1B & 1R 51
R(Z2ATXAHeREERERBEZS
TR °

HEEIHRE

FREZIHMRERAREEEERGA
ERAENBEIHEBABEEHA
BENRRETEHHMEZETESRE
EoNnERR HEERIHPREDNRAS
BRI 2 0% DA B 55 A AN R {7 A] & S8R
BEBEEE (2R TXEHEREER
BEEBRZEHBER) -



DRERTRAS
2010-2011£E 8§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M ImRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
not classified as loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment valuation reserve, until the financial asset
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve is reclassified
to profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period. (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows of the financial assets have been affected.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
market because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit
period of 30 to 90 days (extending to 180 days for major
customers), as well as observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
impairment loss is measured at the difference between
the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade and
other receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in the profit or loss in subsequent
periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment
loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z201143A318LFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all
of its liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified as
other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amount due to a joint venturer, amounts due to associates
and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit and loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years, and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interest in jointly controlled entities, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services rendered in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Sales of Gas Fuel (including natural gas and LPG) and gas
appliances are recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed.

Service income is recognised when the services are rendered.

Deposits and instalements received from purchasers prior
to meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are
included in the statement of financial position under current
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Gas connection revenue is recognised upon completion of
pipeline construction which according to industry practice in
the region coincides with the “fire ignition ceremony”.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’'s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant lease terms.

Dividend income from investments including available-for-
sale financial assets is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment has been established.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity (the exchange reserve).

From 1 April 2010 onwards, on the disposal of a foreign
operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest
in a foreign operation, a disposal of joint control over a
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of segment influence over an
associate include a foreign operation or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition,
in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposal of associates or jointly controlled entities
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the exchange reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing cost directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recorded until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Other government
grants are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary
to match them with the costs for which they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants
that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as
expenses when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees in an
equity-settled based payment arrangement

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (“share-based
compensation reserve”).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants, agents
and advisors in an equity-settled based payment
arrangement

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured,
in which case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based compensation reserve), when the Group obtains the
goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on the historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recongised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognised revenue in respect of the connection
and construction of gas pipeline upon the construction of
pipelines for users and connection of such pipelines to the
Group’s existing gas pipeline network, which is concurrent
with the “fire ignition ceremony”.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Held-to-maturity investments

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
held-to-maturity investments in the light of its capital
maintenance and liquidity requirements and have confirmed
the Group’s positive intention and ability to hold those
assets to maturity. The carrying amount of the held-to-
maturity investments was approximately HK$35,562,000 (31
March 2010: nil). Details of these assets are set out in Note
29.

Legal titles of certain land and buildings

As stated in Notes 17 and 19 respectively, the titles of
certain buildings and a parcel of land were not transferred
to the Group as at 31 March 2011. Despite the fact that the
Group has not obtained the relevant legal titles, the directors
of the Company determine to recognise those buildings and
land use right as property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payment, respectively, on the grounds that they expect
the transfer of legal titles in future should have no major
difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling those
buildings and that parcel of land.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated impairment loss (reversal impairment
loss) recognised in respect of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments

The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments have suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 3. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require
the use of estimates such as the future revenue and discount
rates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill or intangible
asset

Determining whether goodwill or intangible asset is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated or
the intangible asset belongs. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account the estimated residual value. Intangible assets
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involve management’s estimation. The Group
assesses annually the residual value and the useful lives of
the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
and if the expectation differs from the original estimate,
such a difference from the original estimates will impact the
depreciation and amortisation in the year and the estimate
will be changed in the future period.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Share-based payment expenses

The share-based payment expenses are subject to the
limitations of the Binominal Model and the uncertainty in
estimates used by management in the assumptions. The
estimates include limited early exercise behaviour, expected
interval and frequency of open exercise periods in the share
option life, and other relevant parameters of the share
option model.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade
and other receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade and other receivables
based on an assessment of the recoverability of receivables.
Impairment loss are applied to trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be collectible or when the net
present value of the receivable is less than the carrying
amount of the receivable. The identification of impairment
loss requires the use of judgments and estimates. Where
the expectation on the recoverability of trade and other
receivables is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of trade and other
receivables and the impairment in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed. At 31 March 2011, the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables is approximately
HK$230,085,000 (2010: HK$91,569,000) (net of
impairment losses of trade receivables and other receivables
approximately HK$6,820,000 (2010: HK$805,000) and
HK$25,542,000 (2010: HK$23,551,000)) respectively. Details
of movement in impairment on trade and other receivables
are set out in Note 26.

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of available-for-sale financial assets

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimation of future
cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows. At
31 March 2011, the carrying amount of available-for-sales
financial assets is approximately HK$6,746,000 (2010:
HK$38,567,000) (net of accumulated impairment loss of
approximately HK$6,556,000 (2010: HK$6,300,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of interests in associates

Interests in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations
are used for assessing the recoverable amount of these
interests. These calculations require use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required for assessing impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred
that may indicate that the related carrying value of interests
may be not recoverable; and (ii) whether the carrying
value of the interests can be supported by the recoverable
amount. Changing the estimates used by management in
assessing impairment could materially affect the recoverable
amount used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s consolidated financial position and results of
operations. No impairment loss recognised in respect of
interests in associates in both years.

Impairment loss on inventories

The management of the Company reviews the inventories
listing on a product-by-product basis at the end of each
reporting period and makes allowance for slow moving
inventory items. As at 31 March 2011, the carrying
amount of inventories is approximately HK$34,777,000
(HK$26,843,000) (net of allowance approximately
HK$654,000) (2010: nil). The management estimates the net
realisable value for such items based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for certain taxable
temporary differences. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future planning
strategies. Further details of which are disclosed in Note 33.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, including
bank borrowings, other loans as disclosed in Note 32 and
Note 31 respectively, cash and equivalents and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves as disclosed in Note 30 and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of the review, the directors of the
Company considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. The Group monitors
capital through the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total debt and capital. Total debt
includes bank borrowings (including current and non-current
bank borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) and other loans. Total capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the Company. The Group
aims to maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable level.

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period were as
follows:
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2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Bank borrowings (Note 32) RITIEE (M5E32) 214,297 203,070
Other loans (Note 31) EMER(HE31) 2,371 5,876

Less: Bank balances and cash B RTERERE (262,763) (316,191)
Net debt FEE (46,095) (107,245)

Equity attributable to owners and BEARGERREXREER

total capital 1,083,506 928,606
Total net debt and capital FREBERERBE 1,037,411 821,361
Gearing ratio BEARBREE (4.44%) (13.06%)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following

6. €@TAH

(a)

TRIAZDE

UTEEHemEEREBAGBR

categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at WMEMRZREENT
the end of the reporting period are set out as follows:
2011 2010
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Financial assets EMEE
Available-for-sale financial A HESHEE
assets 6,746 38,567
Held-to-maturity investments BEZHHIE 35,562 =
Loans and receivables ER R ERFRIE
(including cash and (BERSMBSEMEHER)
cash equivalents) 496,674 432,480
538,982 471,047
Financial liabilities EHMas
Other financial liabilities stated R EK AP ER 2
at amortised cost HEthemaE 378,166 310,574

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
available-for-sale financial assets, held-to-maturity
investments, trade and other receivables, other loan
to a shareholder of an associate, amount due from a
joint venturer, amount due from an associate, trade
and other payables, amount due to a joint venturer,
amounts due to associates, bank borrowings, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk, other
price risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate other loan (see Note 31 for
details), other loan to a shareholder of an associate
(see Note 27 for details) and held-to-maturity
investments (see Note 29 for details). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate bank deposits (see Note 30 for details
of these deposits), and variable-rate bank borrowings
(see Note 32 for details of these borrowings). It is
the Group’s policy to keep its bank deposits and
bank borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to

minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate borrowings, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point (2010: 50 basis
point) increase or decrease in interest rate is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in

interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2010: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 March 2011 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$213,000 (2010: post-tax profit
for the year increase/decrease by approximately
HK$454,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank

deposits and bank borrowings.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Other price risk

The Group was exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in listed equity securities for the year ended
31 March 2011 and 2010. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities operating in industry sectors quoted in the
Stock Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

EWMITHEH &)

(b) EREABEEEERBR (&)

H B & E B2

REZE20114% X2010F3 8318 1
FE -AEEREFRER ETRA
BEMEHERAERRAR BEE
BRERFTRRR RO R IEER
& MERELRERE AEE A
BERRAREZEERRERIMRE
ZITESHEBIEZRAFZS -

AT Z2BRES IR ER HRE B
HRPT T 2 B (B 48 R T EEE

Increase (decrease) in
investment valuation reserve

REMERBEMD (BD)

2011 2010
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT

If equity prices had been 10%  ffx A{EEE £3R10%
higher (2010: 10%) (20104 : 10% ) 6 3,214

If equity prices had been 10%  flx A {EHEE F/E10%
lower (2010: 10%) (20104 : 10% ) (6) (3,214)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk associated with
movements in foreign currency rates which will affect
the Group’s financial results and its cash flow. The
management considers the Group is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as the majority of its
operations and transactions are in the PRC with their
functional currency of RMB. The Group's exposure to
currency risk is attributable to the bank balances and
cash and deposits of the Group which are denominated
in currencies other than RMB (see Note 30 for details).
The Group currently does not have a foreign currencies
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure
since HK$ is pegged to the United States dollars
("US$"). Management considers the Group’s exposure
to currency risk is minimal. However, management
monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

6.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. The Group's trading terms
with its customers are mainly on credit, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The normal credit period is generally for a
period of 30 days to 90 days and extending up to
180 days for major customers. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group's trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Further quantitative data
in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising
from trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note
26.

The credit risk on liquid fund is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit rating.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, which
accounted for 100% (31 March 2010: 100%) of the
total trade receivable as at 31 March 2011.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group reviews the
level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure their
adequacy to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. The
Group also reviews the utilisation of borrowings and
ensures the compliance of loan covenants. The Group
relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from
operations and bank borrowings.

6.

EWMITH &)

(b) ERERBREERAEREE (&)

FERR (&)

AEBRERBEREBRECE=
HETR G - AEEBEBURKR
NEHEEFR G HHEFABE
EERANR-ETEREH KA
30BHZE90H T EEFEAERRE
1808 - BHEBFHYAEREEERE-
AEEBRTELAEEZ EBRK
BB EEETHEMOHE
ERENARAEEZ E 5 ER
REHEAMIEERZFSAR A
SEVESESETZEERR &
CEERESIREMERFBETEZ
EERRHEBZEMTEHE  ®
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HRXSHFHESREEEFR
ZRIT BWRBEEZEERRE
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RHEBUESN AEBZEER
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TWMIHE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cREAKEEEERBE (£)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBRESER (&)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TREIIRRIEE 2 ERGFH K
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial EEFTESRBEFGBE LI
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The ZEIE e bR TR IR AN & E Al B
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted XFRERMNHZA eHAEGZ
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest RMBEReREMBER - LEXBE
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The FMERARSEEME - WH S AFE
table includes both interest and principal cash flows. PR EGE ARMBEESRE
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the WMEBMRZNEBRFE -
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of the reporting period.
Total
Within ~ Withinthe ~ Withinthe ~ Withinthe ~ Within the Over undiscounted Carrying
oneyear secondyear  thirdyear  forthyear  fifthyear  fiveyears  cash flow amount
ARRRE
-£R EZER EZER EMER FRER BBLE REAE Ak
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
E8Trn  EBTrn  RETn B%Tn BMTn B¥Tn ¥t BETR
At 31 March 2011 R2011E3A318
Trade and other payables BAREBENE 115,425 - - - - - 115,425 115,425
Amount due to a joint venturer R AELEARAFE 12,885 - - - - - 12,885 12,885
Amounts due to associates ERBERATRE 11,851 - - - - - 11,851 11,851
Amount due to ashareholder  EREBIEAFIRRZE
of an associate 23,708 - - - - - 23,708 23,708
Bank borrowings RiRE 32,787 28,501 23,39 31,64 33,284 121,597 271,139 214,97
196,656 28,501 23,329 31,641 33,284 121,597 435,008 378,166
At 31 March 2010 #201063A318
Trade and other payables B REMERFE 96,554 - - - - - 96,554 96,115
Amounts due to associates ERBEAINE 11,389 - - - - - 11,389 11,389
Bank borrowings HIEE 100,028 8,092 26,622 12,194 13,646 78,744 239,326 203,070
207,97 8,092 26,622 12,194 13,646 78,744 347,269 310,574
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active liquid markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively.

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their corresponding carrying
amounts.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities.

6. €E@MI R (&)

(c)

P

(=]

>

J

c

HEBEBREGRRFERRERRED
MEEBEZSREERERAGBL
R[AE DR R2EmBEmEER

HMeREERERABZAAE
DIEHRRERENNZ AREE
BAEE-

ARREFRBREZEAPHHRERT
NEHERAANR SBREER SR
BEZAREEEMEEREEM
%O

REEEMBRRBRPER 2D
REFE

TREHRVRERREDA(ER
BEZEMT AN AREER
BEZABEREEBALE MR-

N
JL

- S MAZAREFEINER
MEARREELREBEZTS
WE(RERE) -

Level 1
E—&
2011 2010
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Available-for-sale AHEESHEE
financial assets
— Listed securities listed —REAE LMz EMESH
in Hong Kong 56 32,137
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LR

ERBEEUERREZARERE
REREMBEF O REERBATRRRNA
FERBGBIET 28 fm K IRTS EUGRIA - A

discounts and sales related taxes. An analysis of the Group's SECEEBONNOT :
turnover is as follows:
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEZTERR 421,655 296,463
Pipelines construction B R R E BEG 176,429 154,487
Transportation, distribution and LTI = D5
retail of bottled LPG MEZERLAHAR 255,784 255,300
853,868 706,250
SEGMENT INFORMATION 2 2B E B

The Group's operating segments, based on information
reported to the board of directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM") for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focus on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

Specially, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

1. Provision of piped Gas Fuel - construction of gas
pipeline networks, provision of piped natural gas and
LPG.

2. Transportation, distribution and retail of bottled LPG -
the sale of LPG in bulk to wholesale customers and the
retail of bottled LPG to end user households, industrial
and commercial customers.

AEBEZREDHMDIIRBAARTES
S(ERETERLERRE ([TREER
RED )RERIERFZDRRERM
BEZER (RPRARMNHBRERZ2ER
HARFETELIR) B E

ARMmE ASEREFBHEHREEL
FRZ 2RO BT :

1. HEEEMR-BEERR[EER
i HEEBRARIRICBHR

2. BB - DHEHEREZER(LAM
R-#HEREOHERTHERTP R
MEZERELOBRTER ITX
MRBEEPZ&ERE-
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by reportable segment.

8. oHER (&)

2 HEBUA K K&

ATRAEEZEFDHBIBIBAR
KEDMN -

Transportation,
distribution and

Provision of retail of
piped Gas Fuel bottled LPG Consolidation
BH 28R
For the year ended 31 March BZE3A31ALEE RERERR BEEERLARR &8

2011 2010 2011 2010 201 2010

HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

BT BETT BT #BKTr BY%Trn B%Tx

Turnover EE 598,084 450,950 255,784 255,300 853,868 706,250

Segment profits 78 111,955 366,879 57,554 8,710 169,509 375,589

Unallocated income KABKA 5,231 3,726

Unallocated corporate expenses AOECEMAT (19,702)  (24,906)
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HETRHEESREEL

financial assets Bl (64,426) =
Equity-settled share-based payments NEREERNAER

3 (16,618) -

Share of results of associates FE(E R E AR £ 137 4,564

Finance costs SR A (4,017)  (6,855)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB QKR 1,361 =
Impairment loss recognised in respect of 5 E 5 & £ b e Ye 5 A

trade and other receivables BAZREER - (19,994)
Loss on fair value changes of RREBDABEES

convertible notes B - (2,118)

Profit before tax BREL AR A 71,475 330,006
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by
each segment without allocation of bank interest income,
other operating income, central administrative expenses,
directors’ emoluments, loss on disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets, loss on fair value changes of convertible
notes, equity-settled share-based payments, impairment loss
recognised (reversed) in respect of other receivables, finance
costs and share of results of associates. This is the measure
reported to CODM, for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable segments:

DEER (#)
DRBBA R K& (&)

2B A BRENIIMHAAEE
SETBERARR - 2 BRI 18 & 53 B BREX
Zum A - eI D BLERTT R B MR - B ftb
REWARPRITERAS EFME W
EAHLESREEZER ATHRERE
AREEHZER UEREEROHAE
B2 N5 ERE M EIR R 2 RE
BRE(EEE) HBRAR R EEEE
RAEEE W E RS I R KRB ER
REBBRREZMZAELTA -

Segment assets PHEE
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEZERR 847,360 762,548

Transportation, distribution and B DHEKk

retail of bottled LPG MEZERIELABR 203,154 133,489
Total segment assets DESEEBE 1,050,514 896,037
Unallocated KoL 719,229 585,727
Consolidated assets EBE 1,769,743 1,481,764
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. aoEER (£
Segment liabilities =R
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEEEMRR 245,757 177,818
Transportation, distribution and B DHEK
retail of bottled LPG MEZERIELABR 29,102 24,781
Total segment liabilities DEEEETE 274,859 202,599
Unallocated KoL 340,329 286,518
Consolidated liabilities A AR 615,188 489,117

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

RITBEENBRAER S MEDEE
R

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than investment properties, interests in associates,
available-for-sale financial assets, held-to-maturity
investments, other loan to a shareholder of an
associate, amount due from a joint venturer, amount
due from an associate, bank balances and cash and
assets used jointly by reportable segments.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than tax liabilities, amount due to a joint venturer,
amounts due to associates, bank borrowings, deferred
tax liabilities and liabilities for which reportable
segments are jointly liable.

BRIREWE N QR s AT H
HESRMEE KEINHKRE B
NARRZEMER BRASER
XA ETTHIR - EUHEE AR FUR
RITEHR LA AR RN FHEA
BEN MAEECOETEER

Hibe

BRERE BNAELEXAER
A EfTEEE QR RIERITE
E BETEHRERBEREHRD BHEF
EEZAENN ABERECOET

BEE2HDE-
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

8. oHER (&)

Other segment information H b 5 ZBE
Transportation,
Provision of distribution and
piped Gas Fuel retail of bottled LPG Unallocated Consolidation
ER AHR
For the year ended 31 March HEIANALEE HEEERS REZERLARR AR 54
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
E8Trn  A%Tr  REfrn BEfr BMTn BEfr A¥Tn BETR
Amounts included in measure of TEABEND I HEE

segment profit or segment assets Wit kze8
Depreciation hE 17,524 9,921 3,870 3,601 2,776 4512 24,170 18,034
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HENE BERZEUR

plant and equipment and e (Y B8

prepaid lease payments 1,645 2113 (54,416) (198) 51 (8) (52,720 1,907
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ~ Z#BE[RHE 482 649 237 233 - - 79 88
Amortisation of intangible assets BBV AE 3774 4,699 526 517 - - 4,300 5216
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ~ 2HEH kM ERFE

trade and other receivables B2 AERR 6,406 bE] - 309 - 19,994 6,406 20534
Impairment loss recognised in respect of B3t E (BEHER L)

inventories (included in cost of sales) BAREER 654 - - - - - 654 =
Capital expenditure in respect of EEENESARRY

prepaid lease payments 532 5,707 - - - - 532 5,707
Capital expenditure in respect of property,  BB#E BRERAEL

plant and equipments ERRx 117,251 127,333 1,844 5797 5110 22,406 124,05 155,536
Capital expenditure in respect of FBEVEEERRX

intangible assets - 995 - - - - - 995
Deposits paid for acquisition of property,  FUENE  BEREHNR

plant and equipment and prepaid BfifeEM%ES

lease payments 19,511 431 593 570 - - 20,104 4,891
Deposit paid for acquisition of WELREHERER .

a jointly controlled entity Effizé - - 41,489 - - = 41,489 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBLRNE - (257,189) - - - - - (257,189)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM EH R F T EL Bh% %

but not included in the measure of BHEABEAAAD

segment profit or segment assets BERUBIRLEH
Interests in associates REERTER 37,959 32,784 - = 51,774 30,863 89,733 63,647
Share of results of associates 33 AN (4,090 (7,046) - = 3,953 2,482 (137) (4,564)
Gain on fair value changes of RENE DR EEDNE

investment properties - - - - (1,281) (1,160) (1,281) (1,160)
Bank interest income FANSHA (2,000) (882) (388) (139) (1,012) (528) (3.400) (1,549)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARANE - = - = (1,361) = (1,361) =
Finance costs BHRA 3,656 an 361 768 - 5,616 4,017 6,855
Income tax expense FERREX 14,918 18,603 8,914 1,645 - = 23,832 20,248
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

Geographical information

The Group's operations and non-current assets are all
located in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical information

is presented.

Information about major customers

No information about major customer is presented as no
single customer contributed over 10% of the total turnover
of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2011 and

2010.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

DEER (&)
i & & R

9. HMEEWA

AEEZEENRFRDEEDMNTE -
Hit - W2 ER -

FREIEFEFZER

RRE Z20114 2010638318 IEF
EHEE-—ZFRAANEETBB10%2
REER WUEZERETBRFZE
o

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT I
Bank interest income RITH B U A 3,400 1,549
Other loan interest income HEZRF B WA 2,141 1,820
Gain on fair value changes of REMELIABEEH W
investment properties 1,281 1,160
Exchange gain, net N Wz 58 1,883 97
Dividend income A& B A 491 11
Rental income from investment REMERS WA BRI
properties, net of outgoing (Ff3Ea)
(Note a) 249 291
Other rental income, net of HaBe A kI
outgoing (Note b) (MizED) 222 835
Government grants (Note c) BT B & (FisEc) 4,109 2,186
Sales of gas appliance: HEMREA:
— Income — A 4,807 4,267
— Cost of sales —SHER A (4,304) (3,486)
503 781
LPG cylinders trains rental, BEABEREKESEHRE
net of outgoing (Note d) kS H (aEd) 47 237
Waiver of trade payables HeE P EMNKIE - 1,333
Reversal of impairment loss EfEZREMEWGKIERR
recognised in respect of trade VERIEY Ti=Ec gl
and other receivables 146 431
Others Hh 1,129 645
15,601 11,376
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9.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(d)

The amount represents net rental income generated from investment
properties after deducing direct operating expenses of approximately
HK$15,000 (2010: HK$15,000).

The amount represents net rental income generated from other assets
after deducting direct operating expenses of approximately HK$13,000
(2010: HK$44,000).

The amount represents unconditional grants from the PRC government
specifically for encouraging the Group’s pipeline diversion in the PRC
and one-off government grant for the Group’s enlarged investment in
a subsidiary.

The amount represents net rental income generated from LPG cylinders
trains after deducting direct operating expenses of approximately
HK$59,000 (2010: HK$73,000).

Hitp & WA (#)
o
@  EEBHEAMBOBM5,0007T (20105 : 354

15,0000C) EEREERXEKRAKEME A
SHAFE -

Z 2 FIENMR KB 13,0007 (20104 : &
44,0007 ) EEEERZERBRMEAE M
SWAFE-

% & RS P B BT 4 B 5 5 B AN Sk B R O
REEWMEME T ZBIGTMHBE UREE
AEERKAWMBERBRE 2 —RIEBAT#H B
%o

ZEFEIEMB A A 859,000T (20104 : B
73,0000 ) EEEERS AR ERICABRE
BESASRAFE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

10.

RE RN

AERRANEINER I SIE

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Staff costs, including directors’ and BEIRA BIEEEN
senior management’s emoluments EREEEMN
— Salaries, wages, allowances and —FH& 18 EMK
benefits in kind BV A 59,349 52,077
— Retirement benefits scheme — R URAE FIFT B fE 3K
contributions 3,465 2,335
— Equity-settled share-based —UEREERDAERZ
payments N 9,254 =
72,068 54,412
Cost of inventories recognised as WRRBAX 2 FEEKAR
expenses 571,925 464,763
Auditor’s remuneration % S AN B & 1,900 1,800
Depreciation of property, plant and %% - B E R REITE
equipment 24,170 18,034
Impairment loss recognised in respect Fh7FE (B IE &K A ) iR
of inventories (included in cost REEE
of sales) 654 -
Equity-settled share-based payments ARz &G BER 2 M
(Note) (HaE) 7,364 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments # 578 1 & 719 882
Amortisation of intangible assets BHENEE (Bt AHEENRAE)
(included in cost of sales) 4,300 5,216
Share of tax of associates (included — JE{FE¢ & QA RFIAE (Bt AL
in share of results of associates) B N RIELE) 1,532 1,157

Note: The amounts represented the fair value of consultancy and advisory
services provided to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2011.

MieE: £FBEIEBZ2011F3A31HIEFEREDER
HAEARBERREZALE

M
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 1. EEREREEEME
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
The remuneration of the directors of the Company for TR R B £ AR Bl R B A m &I
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules of the FI6GATEE  ARRESHRAF
Stock Exchange and Section 161 of the Hong Kong EzMeothmT:

Companies Ordinance, is analysed as follows:

Salaries, Retirement Equity-
allowances benefits settled
Directors’ and benefits scheme share-based Total
fee in kind contributions  payments emoluments
NEREE

R AD=3:1 RIER ROAER
Bz REDANEH R 78 FANES Yk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B%TR  B%TR ERETT BETR

For the year ended HZ201193A31H
31 March 2011 EFE

Executive directors: HITESE:
Xu Ruixin ISt - - - - -
Mo Shikang Rttt - 1,686 31 225 1,942
Zhang Hesheng wAAE - 1,670 45 587 2,302
Zhu Peifeng KER = 1,670 45 587 2,302
Jin Song LI = 889 29 587 1,505
Chu Kin Wang Peleus KRR = 1,110 12 767 1,889

Independent non-executive B FHITES:

directors:

Liu Junmin %R 130 = = = 130
Tan Qinglian EEH _ _ _ _ _
Sin Ka Man RS 140 - - 211 351

270 7,025 162 2,964 10,421
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

11. EEREREBEEMNE &)

(a) EEM<E (&)

Salaries, Retirement Equity-
allowances benefits settled
Directors’ and benefits scheme share-based Total
fee in kind contributions  payments emoluments
NEREE
b2 A4 BRAEN ROKER
EZHe RENAR STEIMM PACEN “me
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BETT BT T BT
For the year ended #HZ2010F3A31H
31 March 2010 IEFE
Executive directors: HITES:
Xu Ruixin G GE - - - - -
Mo Shikang Rttt - 1,772 41 = 1,813
Zhang Hesheng oA A = 1,738 48 = 1,786
Zhu Peifeng RIER - 1,738 48 = 1,786
Jin Song LN - 977 32 - 1,009
Chu Kin Wang Peleus KER = 1,090 12 = 1,102
Independent non-executive B FHITES:
directors:
Liu Junmin BER 130 = = = 130
Tan Qinglian EER - - - - -
Sin Ka Man ERH 140 = = = 140
270 7,315 181 - 7,766

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments paid by the Group. No emoluments was
paid to the directors of the Company as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the two years ended 31 March
2011 and 2010.

Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,

all (2010: all) are directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 11(a).

EEMENEXRERECMNAEE X
2 B& - & Z=20115FK%201043A31H
IEREFE  ARRBERNES I HEM
B - tEBREE MAREB SR IIAK
SEF . RE Sk BERE 2 wE-

(b) ENBRSEHEMHMAL
AN ESEHMWNALZEE0 (20105

EE)HAEESE HMEE XK &
11(a) A1 55
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12. FINANCE COSTS

12. IR A

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest on convertible notes AR R 2 M & - 650
Interest on other loans (Note 31) HEEZRZHE (M&E31) 457 279
Interest on bank loans wholly ARAEFANBREEEL
repayable within five years RITERAE 3,101 10,761
Interest on bank loans wholly ARAFHREBEEEL
repayable after five years RITERAE 10,262 2,030
13,820 13,720
Less: amount capitalised in W ERIRENME SR (ME)
construction in progress (Note) (9,803) (6,865)
4,017 6,855

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 5.19% — 6.87%

per annum (2010: 6.53% to 8.21%).

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

MisE: EERADIRETF5.19%%56.87% (20104 ¢
6.53%%£821% ) 2 BEEAR -

13. TEHAX

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax: BN EAFH 1A

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FECEMSER 20,688 23,103
— Overprovision in prior years —REFEEERE (1,640) (2,137)

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 33) EEFIEAGE (MFE33) ¢
— Current year —AFE 4,784 (718)
23,832 20,248

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since
the Group had no assessable profit for the years ended 31

March 2011 and 2010.

BAANEREEZ2011F 20103 A31
B I FE I EAT A ERRROR A BRI R
HER BB RS H -
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are still subject to
the entitlement of summarised tax holidays (including two-
year exemption and three-year half rate) under the then
existing preferential tax treatments, the summarised tax
holiday is allowed to be carried forward to 2008 and future
years until their expiry. However, if an entity has not yet
commenced its tax holiday due to its loss position, the tax
holiday is deemed to commence from 2008 onwards. The
relevant tax rates for the Group’s other subsidiaries in the
PRC is 25%.

According to the EIT Law, the profits of the PRC subsidiaries
of the Company derived since 1 January 2008 will be subject
to withholding tax at a rate of 5% upon the distribution
of such profits to foreign investors incorporated in Hong
Kong, or at a rate of 10% for other foreign investors. During
the year ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, no deferred tax
has been recognised for withholding taxes of such profit
of approximately HK$122,764,000 (2010: HK$42,403,000)
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the
Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion of
the directors, the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute their earnings accrued
after 1 January 2008 in the foreseeable future.

13. FREBIRAX (&)

BIEPEAREMBELEFRESEE ([1
ERBHE]D) RPEMRGNEEBIE
Bl RENERARNZMEFEZRER
25% °

BEFBEEBERERER RNARZHET
FEBARNAEERERZHEE
SHBEZHEERACHB(BEME =R
+F) - [ELR ST H ] @K £20084F KKK
FE - EEHRERALL-AM WEE
R EEAR R mEARRARTE - A6
THA & 145 A0 B 20084F £ 51 - ANEE
RPBEzEMBARIZHEBEREA
25% °

BRECEMBRE  MREBFMKLZ
BOMEEERNEMBIMNEEE D RAR
7P BB 2 5 200841 A 18 A2 BEEL
ZE R A B BN5% K 10% 2 T8
o MELZE2011F K2010F3A31HIEF
& - Wt AN B P B S B A AR R
S A 478 122,764,0007T (20104 : 78
#542,403,00070 ) BN FEIN T 2 W B A 7
ZAEHBFMERELEHBE-EER
Ao REE ARG ER D 2 R R
ZEWBRARARARAREDRZER
2008F1A1B ZBRFTELERF 2 #e R
j(o
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13.

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. FREBIRAX (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to REEERARK ZEMNEREE 2
the profit per the consolidated statements of comprehensive SRAXHEAT :

income as follows:

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Profit before tax R B B g 71,475 330,006

Tax calculated at the statutory tax
rate of 25% (2010: 25%)

Tax effect of share of results of
associates

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not
recognised

Tax effect of 50% income tax relief
granted to subsidiaries

Effect of different tax rate of
subsidiaries

Overprovision for prior years

Income tax expense for the year

AT E25% (20104 :25%)
FrE 2 FHIA 17,869 82,501
DR RN EEZ R 2

(34) (1,141)

BARRBAZRBRE
(9,547) (65,077)

TAMB X L2 BT E
20,262 8,075

RERTMRERFEZRE 2
M E 1,601 =
ARTHERMEEB BB E

2,450 4,042
BB N B ERS0%Fr 1S ER 2
M2 (7,404) (6,099)
B AR TRME 2 &

275 84
BEFEBBEES (1,640) (2,137)
KEEZAEHRAX 23,832 20,248

LOSS/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 14. AARFEEAEGEEE EF

THE COMPANY

Loss attributable to owners dealt with in the statement of KRB ZEBAREARE 2 HEE AR
comprehensive income of the Company is HK$95,266,000 15 B8 BB 195,266,0007T (20104 : %

(2010: profit of HK$256,668,000).

M| #256,668,0007T ) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during 2011, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (2010: nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the following data:

15.

16.

BRE

R0 FERAEEL FEHEIMABRE
BMEHARARIPEEZ MRS
(2010 : &) »

BRER

RAREAE AELERERNEF T IEA

INSELPN TTED- - TI) SR
TERBZ BT -

BREARRESENTHE T I BB

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings &R
Profit for the year attributable RRFIHER ABIGEFE &
to owners of the Company 45,639 300,614

Number of shares

R&HEE
Shares g}
Weighted average number of SAESRERREERAMAER
ordinary shares in issue during ZERNBDBITE B NE
the year used in the basic and FHE
diluted earnings per share calculation 4,082,224,554 4,082,224,554

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s share options because
the exercise price of those share options were higher than
the average market price of the Company’s share for year
ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

The basic and the diluted earnings per share are the same.

BREBEBERFZ2AEITEREADAZ
BREETHE BZEEREZTEES
RARRRBROHREE2011FK%201063 A
3THIEFEZFHME-

BRERNREERNAR -
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17. E - -BERRE

Buildings in Furniture,
PRC for own fixtures Plant,
use under Leasehold and office machinery Transportation  Construction
medium lease  improvements equipment  and pipeline vehicles in progress Total
THERET
P E 2 B RER BE-
BRET HENEZE WAZRE BEREE EQEH ERIE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RETTT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
cost RA
At 1 April 2009 200954818 66,268 427 1,507 518,244 34,491 227,451 854,388
Exchange realignment EHAR 216 - 24 1,684 107 741 2,772
Acquired from acquisition of WEEARER]

a jointly controlled entity EERES 167 - 54 21 87 11 340
Additions AE 2,158 - 1323 6,578 8,232 137,245 155,536
Transfer B3 - = = 101,761 = (101,761) =
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (11,855) - (1,942) (141,984) (4,002) (123,166) (282,949)
Disposals HE = - (81) (2,737) (1,720) (330) (4,868)
At 31 March 2010 and R201063A318 &

1 April 2010 201064418 56,954 427 6,885 483,567 37,195 140,191 725,219
Exchange realignment EHAZ 2,283 - 262 19,551 1,407 5,241 28,744
Additions HE 11,349 355 2,901 19,833 6,723 83,044 124,205
Transfer EE 4,455 - - 61,914 - (66,369) -
Disposals HE (1,123) (427) (302) (2,483) (241) (18,433) (23,009)
At 31 March 2011 R201153A318 73918 355 9,746 582,382 45,084 143,674 855,159
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ RiHTBRAEKE

AND IMPAIRMENT LOSS
At 1 April 2009 200954818 3,774 276 2,433 73,607 8,496 - 88,586
Exchange realignment B X A% 17 = 9 261 32 = 319
Provided for the year TEERE 2,726 85 874 9,867 4,482 - 18,034
Eliminated on disposal of HENB AR

subsidiaries (1,523) - (991) (11,433) (1,886) - (15,833)
Eliminated on disposal HERYHE - - (72) (212) (973) - (1,257)
At 31 March 2010 and #201063A318 R

1 April 2010 2010F4R18 4,994 361 2,253 72,090 10,151 - 89,849
Exchange realignment B AR 243 - 157 3,255 494 = 4,149
Provided for the year TEERE 1,677 73 2,587 14,463 5,370 - 24,170
Eliminated on disposal HERYE (14) (377) (208) (608) (172) = (1,379)
At 31 March 2011 R201153A318 6,900 57 4,789 89,200 15,843 - 116,789
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2011 R2011538318 67,018 298 4,957 493,182 29,241 143,674 738,370
At 31 March 2010 R2010638318 51,960 06 4,632 411,471 27,044 140,191 635,370
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 31 March 2011, the Group's property, plant and
equipment amounting to approximately HK$5,205,000
(2010: HK$11,005,000) were pledged to secure bank loans
granted to the Group (Note 32).

The official property title certificates for certain of the
Group’s buildings with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$9,470,000 (2010: HK$9,726,000) in aggregate have not
yet been issued by the relevant local government authorities.
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group's right and interest in such buildings will not be
therefore severely prejudiced.

On 19 March 2011, Guizhou Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.
("Guizhou Zhongmin”), an indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company and an independent third party,
Guiyang Railway Construction Co. Ltd. (“Guiyang Railway
Construction”) entered into an agreement pursuant to which
Guizhou Zhongmin should dispose of certain property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments to Guiyang
Railway Construction (the “Disposal”). The Disposal was
a result of the municipal construction of the Guiyang City
Rail Freight Centre and therefore Guizhou Zhongmin has
to surrender the land back to the government authority
by way of the Disposal. The consideration was arrived at
after making reference to the valuation conducted on the
assets disposed of by an independent valuer in the PRC
mutually appointed by Guizhou Zhongmin and Guiyang
Railway Construction.The carrying values of the Group's
buildings, plant, machinery and construction in progress
amount to approximately HK$1,083,000, HK$198,000 and
HK$18,433,000 respectively were disposed to Guiyang
Railway Construction.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or
the operation period of the
relevant company

Over the shorter of the terms of
the leases, or 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and 20%
office equipment

Plant, machinery and 2.5% - 20%
pipeline

Transportation vehicles 12.5% - 20%

17. D% -BERSKE(£)

R2011E3A318  AEBEME -HE K
& #4976 #5,205,0007T (20104 : /& i
11,005,0007T) B TEFEAKR TAKE
IRITERZER (H7E32) °

AEEFEREES £4E%9,470,0007T
(20104 : 7#5%9,726,0007T) 2 & T1EF
1)35&3%*@?@1@77&%*@%@%%%&Ezﬁ%%
BEEZ-ARAEZERAE AEERZSE
$§+2$%E7’FIJ&$&“TAI% E|EREE
=Eo

R2011F38198 AR GIMEREEZE
EfBARBEMNFRARRERAF ([E
M¢ED£%2%‘E%%§V%*

2R ([ERREEERD I L& B
% EMFPRHEEETWE - H%&ﬂ%
UERFEMNES FTEGERESR (HES
H]|) - HEFHETEER ™ o =8
EERLCMEBEEMELS WEMFR
BEBHEFERL 1 FHAAFIM- K
BN2EHEMNFRREGHEKER L
ﬁ%&?*ﬁ@%%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
NEBET - AEEZEF BE BRERE
EI&Z%E@ o Bl 497 #1,083,000
JC 75 #198,0007T & /& 18,433,000
T EHETEGEEER-

EiliE - BEREREEREB TIAERAR
TAFRFE:

EF A0FHBEAAIZ
£ HARR
(B EH %)
HEMEEE T E HABR sk 54F
(A H %)
R HER 20%
N e
R - #e2s & 2.5%%20%
g8
¥ U3 5 8 12.5%%20%

119 ’



120

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2010-2011

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MIEmRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ2011F3A8318 L FE

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWE
2011 2010
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Investment properties, ARARBEINEZREDE
stated at fair value
At 1 April R4H1H 7,024 11,458
Exchange realignment R 316 38
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKE QA - (5,632)
Increase in fair value NREEM 1,281 1,160
At 31 March M3A31H 8,621 7,024
Detail of geographical locations WEME L HEBMER
and tenure of investment FHIFFIBOT
properties were:
PRC - leases between 10 and PR - EHBRI10F £50F
50 years 8,621 7,024

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2011 and 2010 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on that day by Asset Appraisal Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. Asset Appraisal Limited is a member of
the Institutes of Valuers, and has appropriate qualifications
and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties
in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms
to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions.

The Group leases out certain investment properties under
operating leases, for an initial period of three to eight years,
with an option to renew on renegotiated terms. All of the
Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

M2011FE K20106F3A31H  REEKRE
MEZARBINREB LA EREEMY
ERBEETEBRMERAT (BAEH
WERE)EZAETZHESL -BE
TEEMERARATEIEMES
2B TEEBEER RN G
S BEUMERETHEZER - REFA
BB EER T ZEE  TTREEMR
AR RKRABRZBUNEZR S
BIRZ2TEEERRBEFL -

AEERBEEHELEETREDE
RVHRBE=FEN\FIF AEELES
MERGRES - ARERANLERE
BRAFEARRESKRASMEERIEE
RgEzMEREREARAEENAFE I
DEB/REMEATKR-
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

19.

At 31 March 2011, none of the Group’s investment
properties were pledged to other party. At 31 March
2010, the Group's investment properties amounting to
HK$4,665,000 were pledged to secure bank loans granted

to the Group (Note 32).

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the gross
rental income from investment properties amounted to
approximately HK$264,000 (2010: HK$306,000).

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

18. REMZE (#)

MR2011F3A310  REBIREYEIL &
B FEMAIT-RN2010F3H31H K
EEKREYEEB4,6650008 FIKME
AR TFTAKSERITERZER (H&E

32)

REZE2011F3A31MBIEFE - KBKE
WEZERS WAL A BE264,0007T
(20104 : #8%306,0007T) °

19. ANEE

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost BN
At 1 April R4A1H 34,092 42,133
Exchange realignment M 5 58 B 1,280 135
Additions ™E 532 5,707
Disposal & (3,552) =
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HERBE AT (MsF37) - (13,883)
At 31 March M3HA31H 32,352 34,092
Amortisation and impairment loss BH R EEE
At 1 April R4A18 3,900 3,637
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 2 134 10
Charge for the year AN E E IR 719 882
Eliminated on disposal 5 B 4 4 (1,084) =
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEMEQ T (MFE37) - (629)
At 31 March M3A31H 3,669 3,900
Carrying values REE 28,683 30,192
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  ZFH R B KT
Current portion BV HAEB o> 767 699
Non-current portion FEBNHAER o 27,916 29,493
28,683 30,192
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19.

20.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (Continued)

The amounts represented medium-term land use rights in
the PRC and are amortised over the terms of the respective
land use rights on a straight-line basis.

The Group’s prepaid lease payments with carrying values
of approximately HK$5,943,000 (2010: HK$9,984,000)
represent interest in land use rights in respect of which
official land use certificate have not yet been issued by
relevant local government authorities. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group’s rights and
interest in respect of such land lots will not be therefore
severely prejudiced.

At 31 March 2011, the Group's prepaid lease payments
amounting to approximately HK$8,206,000 (2010:
HK$16,235,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted
to the Group (Note 32).

19. BEHEE (&)

ZECBRERNTEZP YL ERE I
NEARERBBLEREZFH TN

7N & B BR T (B 4974 #55,943,0007T (2010
F : ##9,984,00070) ZFEMNHAESRERR
T Hb{E A 2w - FRRE ML 5 BUT L RA D
REHBBEA L HEREE - AQAE
ERE AEERZEM IR ER RER
"SRG R IBEEERE-

R2011F3A310  AEB 2 BNHEEY
B #8,206,0005 (20104 : /& #&
16,235,0007T) E FIEBIEAR FTAEE
IRITE R R (H7E32) °

GOODWILL 0. BHE
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ok v
Cost B
At 1 April R481H 143,178 218,967
Acquisition of a jointly controlled Wb LRI E 88 (BT EE23)
entity (Note 23) - 2,799
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HERBE AT (MsF37) - (79,041)
Exchange realignment HE H, 8 B 2,519 453
At 31 March M3A318 145,697 143,178
Impairment VERED
At 1 April R4A1H 50,065 49,902
Exchange realignment ME X, 38 & 518 163
At 31 March M3HA31H 50,583 50,065
Carrying values BRHEE
At 31 March M3H31H 95,114 93,113

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.

AEESFrRABERE KHEHRE
REEA BT RIE - BIE SRR ROBR(E -



DRERTRAS
2010-2011£E 8§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M ImRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ2011F3A318ILFE

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

The management considers each subsidiary and jointly
controlled entities represents a separate cash-generating
unit (“CGU") for the purpose of goodwill impairment
testing. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying

20. & (#)

TEERA REBAENATES &K
B A R R R B EA R — BB
Zﬁﬁ?i%hﬂﬁ%?iﬁuﬂom
845 K - ﬁ§Z$E@I%%HW%T

value of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from FIMB AR, HEEHEEEEZEE:
the acquisitions of following subsidiaries/jointly controlled
entities:
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fujian Province An Ran Gas REATAMRKEER AR R
Investment Co., Ltd. and HIfE AR ((RELXAREE])
its subsidiaries
(“Fujian An Ran Group”) 83,939 82,267
Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. EEPRMRAERAF 8,373 8,047
Long Yan City Changning Gas EBETEEMRRERAA
Co., Ltd. (“Long Yan Changning”) ([EE=E]) 2,802 2,799
95,114 93,113

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from
value—in-use calculations based on the cashflow forecast of
the relevant CGUs. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling price and direct costs
during the period. Management estimates discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.
The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts.
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past
practices and expectation of future changes in the market.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group prepares
cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets approved by management for the next 5 years on
an estimated growth pattern at growth rates between 3% to
62% (2010: 6% to 59%) and a discount rate of 15% (2010:
13%). The financial budgets and growth rates are estimated
according to the stage of each operation with reference to
the development curve of the natural gas industry in the PRC
region. This pattern is consistent with the track record of the
Group's projects.

ReELBEN 2 BB OEREH
AeELBENZRERERAUZAER
REEMEE FAEEREEMERAZE

ZERASFANZSHEBEIHRE BE
R - EENEERAZEAES EHEE
MATRRTSHEREEEEARR
& EE BN R TR Z TR A
M ERRAEFFIIRK - B RFARITRIER
&’ ﬁlﬁ%g/’i EEMERRA ZEaE
DB EEHRERMISZBREDS
%L?Ef’

HE201MF3A3MBLEFE AEB IR
BEREE B AR RSFEEN 2 S B IR
TEE B R K3%E62% (20104 : 6%
%59% ) & BEER &15% (20104F : 13% )
HH 2 EEARERSRETENR - B
BERERERBESEBIEE £2%
PR ERARITEZERBEER G
e EBNEAEEIBE 2 AL e
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BLEE

Exclusive Exclusive

rights of rights of
purchase operations Total
BRERBEN BREEER &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T

(Note a) (Note b)

(FMFzEa) (FF3ED)

CoST B A
At 1 April 2009 R2009F4A1R 12,577 141,453 154,030
Acquisition of a jointly Wk L RIE 6 E 58

controlled entity - 14,587 14,587
Additions NE — 995 995
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEKTB AR (MFE37) = (55,063) (55,063)
Exchange realignment ME 3, 58 B 37 468 505
At 31 March 2010 and 201038318 &

1 April 2010 201048 1H 12,614 102,440 115,054
Exchange realignment R 462 4,227 4,689
At 31 March 2011 M2011463H31H 13,076 106,667 119,743

AMORTISATION e
At 1 April 2009 R2009F4 8 1H 516 13,243 13,759
Charge for the year RFZ IR 517 4,699 5,216
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEWB QT (MsE37) = (5,960) (5,960)
Exchange realignment P 5, 58 B 2 54 56
At 31 March 2010 and R2010F3A31H &

1 April 2010 2010%F481H 1,035 12,036 13,071
Charge for the year REE R 526 3,774 4,300
Exchange realignment ME 3, 58 B 55 603 658
At 31 March 2011 R2011%F3A31H 1,616 16,413 18,029

CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2011 M201143H31H 11,460 90,254 101,714
At 31 March 2010 720103 A31H 11,579 90,404 101,983
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 21. BREE (#)

Notes: B 5

a) It represented the exclusive rights of purchase of natural gas explored a) TEmATHE S AR - g MNERARFAEAR
in Yanji Basin, which is located in Yanji, Long Jing and Long City of AEIMBE-EHLNENRE RSB T ERAEH KR
Yan Bian Korean Nation Autonomous Area in the eastern part of Jilin AMES - BB REN Z S 2R Z KA
Province, from an ex-associate — Yan Bian Hua Xin Oil Exploitation RZBREBER -

Company Limited.

b) It represented the exclusive rights to operate in gas pipeline b) ?aié':P BETFHMmZTBARTFEERR
infrastructure and provision of piped Gas Fuel granted by local BERRERRHEEBRRZBREN B
government in various cities in the PRC for a period of 10 to 60 years. ,ﬁﬁ10§60¢ G

o) At 31 March 2011, the Group’s exclusive rights of operations Q) R201MF3A310  REEBRLCEEF 08
amounting to approximately HK$2,267,000 (2010: HK$23,658,000) #2,267,0007T (20104 : % #23,658,0007T )
were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group (Note 32). B THEIFEAR TAEBRITER ZER (K

#£32) °

d) All of the exclusive rights of operations and purchases are amortised on d) FTEBREE RFEEEMNMI0E60F 2 &
a straight-line basis over the operation period of 10 to 60 years. BRI A E AR LB G -

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. RBERT#ER

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST I

Cost of unlisted investments FE_E IR E K AR 66,767 43,072

Share of post-acquisition profits S U B 18 % A 10,677 10,540

Exchange realignment I 5, 8 & 12,289 10,035

89,733 63,647

Amount due from an associate JE st & N Rk IE (MTEE38)

(Note 38) 474 -

Amounts due to associates (Note 38) JE{THE < A &) 7kIB (M 7E£38) 11,851 11,389

The amounts due from/to associates are unsecured, interest e SEEEARFEAEER 2ER

free and repayable on demand.

//\E/\g;kﬁ%fgﬁ °
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22. A& N TIRER (£&)

Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of
approximately HK$8,397,000 (2010: HK$8,397,000) arising
on acquisition of associates in prior years. The movement of
goodwill is set out below:

REERRZRERANBIERBBE
FERBBMERRMELEZAENER
8,397,0007T (20104 : & #:8,397,000
TT) CEBEHEIIMT

HK$'000
BT T
COST R
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010, 20094 1H - 2010F3 8318
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 2010F4 A1H &201143A31H 8,397
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010, A2009%4 818 2010938318 -
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 20104818 KX201143A31H 8,397
CARRYING VALUES BREE

At 31 March 2011 and 2010 M20114 £2010F3H31H =

Details of the Group's associates as at 31 March 2011 and
2010 are as follows:

M201149 %2010F3 831 H @ ANEE v B
/N = g (I N

Form of Place of
business  establishment Class of Group

Name of company structure  and operation  shares held  effective interest Principal activities

RIR
NRER EBRBFR Befmet FERGEE  AREEKRER TEEH

2011 2010

BLERAARARAR ([BILEZ]) Limited liability PRC  Contributed 25% 25% Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
(Dehua Guang An Natural Gas Co., Ltd. company HE capital and gas pipeline construction
("Dehua Guang An") BREEAT EHER HERDBMARMAEERE
RNZAREERTBRAR ([RAE]) Limited liability PRC  Contributed 25% 25% Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
(Fuzhou An Ran Ju Pipeline Gas Co., Ltd.) company HE capital and gas pipeline construction
(“An Ran Ju") BREFAT EHER HERDHMARMAEBRE
EMEZREBRAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 25% 25% Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
(Xiamen Jia An Gas Co., Ltd.) company # capital and gas pipeline construction
BRAEEAT ERER HERDHMARMREBRE
REEH (BT RRERAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 20% 20% Fuel gas engineering investment
(Zhongming Hai (Nanping) Gas company HE capital and natural gas wholesale

Company Limited) BREEAT EHER

MRTIRRERRARSE
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22. Rt NAI R (#)
Form of Place of
business  establishment Class of Group
Name of company structure  and operation shares held effective interest Principal activities
KIR
NEER EBRBEA gefat RERHER AEEERES TEER
2011 2010
FREG (LR MRERERAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 40% 40% Participate in supply video lottery
(Zhongmin Zai Xian (Beijing) Technology company HE capital operating system and equipment
Development Limited) BREEAH EHER in the PRC
R ERESEYZRRRR
AT EEFHHEREERAF Limited liability PRC  Contributed 40% 40% Investing and engaging
(TxELF]) company # capital in the development of lottery
(Shenzhen Yongheng Lecai Technology BREFAT EHER software technology in the PRC
Development Limited) (" Yongheng Lecai") RPERERLEY R

BRETIRRMAMHE

The summarised financial information in respect of the REBBE QA M BEERBMMT
Group's associates is set out below:

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Total assets BEBE 387,423 317,819

Total liabilities BEHERE (106,849) (110,909)

Net assets BEFE 280,574 206,910

Group's share of net assets of AEEEEBEAREETE

associates 89,733 63,647

Revenue PN 208,725 146,257

Profit for the year RE [Z 55 7| 5,574 21,184
Group's share of results of AEERGHBELNRANFTFEER

associates for the year 137 4,564
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses
of an associate since the Group's share of losses in that
associate has exceeded its interest in that associate. The
amounts of unrecognised share of that associate, extracted
from the relevant unaudited management account of the
Group’s associate, both for the year and cumulatively, are as
follows:

22. RIFENFIER (&)

AASHEEBEARZEREEBE
REERRI G 2 s RAKREREL
EREREZBMERRZER NFER
RETEIEBE AR 2 AERER (HEE
AEEBESARERAKCEXEERE)
LI

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Unrecognised share of losses of REFEEBERAZ
an associate for the year RIEREE 244 260
Accumulated unrecognised share of Rt EIHEEE QA F 2
losses of an associate RIEREE 941 697

23. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 23. REREZEFHERZRE
ENTITIES
As at 31 March 2011, the Group had interests in the R2011538318 AEBR T EEH
following significant jointly controlled entities: EEH ERBER
Proportion
of nominal
value of  Paid-in capital
Form of Place of paid-in capital effectively
business  establishment Class of directly held held by
Name of company structure  and operation shares held by the Group  Fujian Anran Principal activities
rEEER
RIR BEZEH REZRER
RAER EHERYA et RERGERE RATELA BEZEHRE TEEH
BREARAMIBEGRAR ([BRZA])  Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% - Investment holding
("Fujian Province An Ran Gas company i capital (Note) RARR
Investment Co., Ltd.") (“Fujian An Ran") BREELR EHER (B
PEZARIERAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Sha County An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BREFAH EHER RERERERMREERIE
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23. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 23. REREEZEFHERZRE (4)
ENTITIES (Continued)
Proportion
of nominal
value of  Paid-in capital
Form of Place of paid-in capital effectively
business  establishment Class of directly held held by
Name of company structure  and operation  shares held by the Group  Fujian Anran Principal activities
FEEER
RIK BEZEH BEZAER
RAER ES 2T 37 BeEfEL FERGEY RAEERH BEZEBARE TEEH
BEEZARRERA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Jiangle County An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AREEAR EHER RERERERMRREERIE
BNRERRERAEERAERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Fuzhou Development Area Futie company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
An Ran Pipe Gas Co., Ltd.") BEREMAH EHER HEMRRAREZMRREERD
BTRAREERAR* Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Nanping An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.") company HE capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BRELAH BHER HERRREZMAEER
REZAMRERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Changle An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
ARELAR EHER RERERERMRREERIE
KRRAEEMABERAR" Limited liability PRC  Contributed 46% 90%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Yong'an An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company A capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BREAAT EHER HERRRERMREBR
BRETRARRARAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 13% 26%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Fuding City An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company HE capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BREEAH BHER HERRREZMAEER
HERAMRBRAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Nanjing An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution faci\ities

BRELAF EQER HERRRERMREER
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23.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

23. RAFEFHERBZRE (&)

Proportion
of nominal
value of  Paid-in capital
Form of Place of paid-in capital effectively
business establishment Class of directly held held by
Name of company structure  and operation  shares held by the Group  Fujian Anran Principal activities
FEEES
RIK BEZEH BEZAER
RAER ES 2T 3 BEfEL FERGEY RAEERA BEZEARE TEEH
ERZAMAERA A Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Long Yan An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AREEAT EHER HERRRERMAEERE
ERZAEEMAFRL A Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Luoyuan An Ran Pipeline Gas company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Co. Ltd") BREEAT EHER HERRRERMREER)
BNRERZAMBARAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Fuzhou Development Area company HE capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") BREFAR EHER RERTRERMBE BRI
ENEAMRERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Zhangzhou An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AREEAR EHER HERRRERMAEERE
BEIZARAERAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Lianjiang An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company A capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AREAAT EHER HERRRERMREER)
HERRARRERL A Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Minging Guang An Natural Gas company HE capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Co. Ltd") BREEAH BHER HERRREZMAEER
EETAMRERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 26% 51% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Ningde An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
ARELAT EHER HERRRERMREBR
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HE2011E3A831BILEE

23. RAFEFHERBZRE (&)

Proportion
of nominal
value of  Paid-in capital
Form of Place of paid-in capital effectively
business  establishment Class of directly held held by
Name of company structure  and operation  shares held by the Group  Fujian Anran Principal activities
rEBEEE
RIK BEZEH BEZAER
RAER ES 2T 3 BeEfEL FERGEY RARERA BEZEARE TEXH
ERRAMRERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Zhangpu An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AREEAT E4ER HERRRERMAEERE
EERAMAERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed 51% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Longhai An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BREAAT EHER HERRRERMREER)
EETEEMBARLRA" Limited liability PRC  Contributed 38% 75%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Long Yan City Changning Gas company HE capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Co., Ltd.") AREAAT BAER HERRREZMAEER
KEEERTMAERBERAR" Limited liability PRC  Contributed 38% 75% Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Yongding Changning City Gas company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Development Co., Ltd.") BREEAH EHAR HEARREZMAEERE
EMNERRARBRAF Limited liability PRC  Contributed 38% 75%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Zhangzhou Long'an Gas Co. Ltd.") company i capital of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AREAAT EHER HERRRERMREER)
o A subsidiary of Fujian An Ran * BREZAZHWB R
Note: Fujian An Ran was a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group and during it ERRAAREEREWBAR  REZE2010

the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group disposed of its 49% equity
interest in Fujian An Ran to an independent third party. (Details are set
out in Note 37). Upon the completion of the disposal, according to the
memorandum of association of Fujian An Ran, the Group holds 51% of
the equity interest of Fujian An Ran and 4 out of 7 directors of Fujian
An Ran are appointed by the Group. Further, 4 out of 7 shareholders’
representatives of Fujian An Ran are appointed by the Group. Hence
the Group controls approximately 57% of the voting power in the
board of directors meeting and shareholders meeting. As all the major
decisions made in the board of directors meeting and shareholders
meeting of Fujian An Ran require at least 2/3 votes from all of the
directors and shareholders’ representative, Fujian An Ran is accounted
for as a jointly controlled entity.

FIANBLFE AEERA—BRBIE=F
HEERBRZTARZI0%KE - (FHBHR
MizE37) R ETKRE  REBEBELZAZE
B ASERERERERASI%RE MERET
RTBEFHPIEHAKERT -BE B2
ZRIBBRRREREFIZHAEBEZT-R
- AEEFHEEeEERRRGE LY
57% BB - AR BRRAREEESELBRE
SR NEERAEHFTELZ2BEER
RERARR23ZE S AIEL  MEERATIME
F R ) 2 B o
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23.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s interests in the jointly controlled entities which are

. RAREZEHERZRE ()

AEERARENER REZHBKE
BT AR IR E R AR Bl E AR - 8

accounted for using proportionate consolidation with the U (N
line-by-line reporting format is set out below:

31/3/2011 31/3/2010
201143 A31H 20103 A31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Current assets mEBEE 117,826 79,815
Non-current assets FmBEE 544,117 442,557
Current liabilities mBAE 216,547 193,931
Non-current liabilities FmBEE 190,707 106,270
1/4/2010 to 1/8/2009 to
31/3/2011 31/3/2010
2010F4B1HZE 2009F8A1H=
2011%3A31H 201043A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Income WA 210,614 196,955
Expenses M 192,500 113,909
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity during
the year ended 31 March 2010

On 1 September 2009, Long Yan An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.
(“Long Yan An Ran”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
Fujian An Ran, acquired 75% equity interest in Long Yan
Changning at a total consideration of RMB28,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$32,467,000).

Upon completion of the acquisition, Long Yan An Ran had
75% equity interest in Long Yan Changning, which was
thereafter accounted for as a subsidiary of Long Yan An Ran.

Long Yan Changning had contributed a profit of
HK$7,821,000 to the Group’'s profit attributable to the
owners of the Company for the period between the date of
acquisition and the end of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2009,
total group revenue for the period would have been
approximately HK$707,661,000, and profit for the period
would have been approximately HK$313,723,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2009, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

23.

RABEHERBZRE (&)

MREBZ2010F3A831H L FEEWREE L
EEHIEE

MR2009F9R 1B  BELAZEZEW B
NARRELRAMARBERAT([EER
RIVWEBESEEETS%RE AREA
AR #28,500,0007T (MHERL B
32,467,0007T) °

RKBTKE BELTABREREEE
T5% MM BEEEEHEBIRIEARE
RZHBAF -

MUEBERESASEN E5EEA
AEBZARRRHEE AEML GBS
F| 745 #7,821,0007T

i) B BB 7Y2009F4 A 1HE Tk IR &
B A REE X 5B #707,661,0007T
B 5 I A5 40 & 7 #313,723,0007T ° 18
ZERERFRAR T BRI
BH2009F481BE i AE B ER
ARG ZRARKEESE TN RIERB
BEE ZTEA -
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23. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 23. REREEZEFHERZRE (4)
ENTITIES (Continued)
Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity during REZ2010F3A31HLFEREHR
the year ended 31 March 2010 (Continued) EEHER (&)
The fair value of the identified assets and liabilities of RERE AEBE S (hEEEEE 2 ATH
Long Yan Changning shared by the Group as at the date MEEEGBEARE UREERER 2
of acquisition and the corresponding amounts immediately MHESFENT
before the acquisition were as follows:
Carrying
amount Fair value
under under
proportionate Fair value proportionate
consolidation  adjustments consolidation
LlZREET L BlaREET
ZREE AREFAE AN |
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Property, plant and equipment M- B REE 340 = 340
Intangible assets mEE - 14,587 14,587
Inventories BE 126 = 126
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H A R 15,999 = 15,999
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KBRS 539 = 539
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR FIE (6,102) = (6,102)
Tax liabilities MIEBAE (10) = (10)
Bank borrowings RITEE (3,486) = (3,486)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBBAE = (3,647) (3,647)
Net assets BEFE 7,406 10,940 18,346
Non-controlling interests FEIE I i an (4,587)
Goodwill Bk 2,799
Total consideration satisfied by LIRSz BRE
cash 16,558
Net cash outflow arising WEELEZHESRD
on acquisition: HEE
Cash consideration paid ENMRERE (16,558)
Bank balances and cash acquired BWEZBTHEBKNIES 539
(16,019)

The goodwill is attributable to the sustainable and profitable
business model of the acquired business.

BERRAEBEE ZIRERENT

Bz EBHER -
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

25.

24, AIHHESHMEE

2011 2010
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Listed securities FtwEF
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, R&® LM 2 BAEZE S
at fair value (Note 6(c)) LA RE (H5E6()) 56 32,137
Unlisted securities FELHES
Equity securities, at cost (Note) AR5 - HRA AN (BT EE) 13,246 12,730
Impairment loss recognised E@RREEE (6,556) (6,300)
6,690 6,430
Total a&h 6,746 38,567
Note: B 5

The unlisted investment represents investment in unlisted equity interests
in a private entity incorporated in the PRC. They are measured at cost
less impairment at the end of the reporting period because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

FLEMREERTREFIMKLZAERZIELD
BHEZRE BRAERREMFTAOSEERA AR
ARREERREDABETREASFMAE  RBEBE
BEREHRBRARBETE -

INVENTORIES 25. &
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction materials, spare BEYE - BUREE
parts and consumables 26,657 20,838
Gas appliances ===t 340 162
Gas fuel, including natural gas MR (BERAREREABA)
and LPG 7,780 5,843

34,777 26,843
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26. EZ R HMEWRE

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Trade and bill receivables 2 5 W IE R ERE R 51,369 29,814
Less: Impairment loss recognised W B E 5 E K KIE R
in respect of trade and EWNEIE®R ZBERE
bill receivables (6,820) (805)
44,549 29,009
Other receivables Hh fE W IE 211,078 86,111
Less: Impairment loss recognised B B E K RIE B R
in respect of other receivables B EE (25,542) (23,551)
185,536 62,560
230,085 91,569
The Group allows its trade customers with credit periods REBGLTEESIREFPZEEHR—MAH
normally ranging from 30 days to 90 days and extending to 30HZEHNTE RAXTERFLERZE
180 days for major customers. 180H °
(@) An aged analysis of the trade and bill receivables (a) BHEUWFENEREE (BE R

(net of impairment loss recognised) as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

RZBMERER) RN REPRZREK
o REBEEHRZBHMT

follows:
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current to 90 days BNEIZE90H 29,531 18,711
91 days to 180 days 91H£180H 6,385 6,921
Over 180 days 1808 KA E 8,633 3,377
44,549 29,009
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b)

The movements in the impairment loss recognised in
respect of trade and bill receivables are as follows:

26. EZRHEMBWRE£)

(b)

ELE 5 WA R ERRIRER
ZREBEEBHMNT

2011 2010

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 April R4R1H 805 733

Impairment loss recognised EmRZAEERE 6,063 105
Reversal of impairment loss EMBATFERERLZ

recognised in previous years DERIEY R S EC gl - (33)

Amount written-off 88 A B] U 1=l 5K I8

as uncollectible (228) -

Exchange realignment XA 180 -

At 31 March M3HA31H 6,820 805

Included in the impairment loss recognised are
individually impaired trade receivables with an
aggregate balance of approximately HK$6,820,000
(2010: HK$805,000) over which the Group does
not hold any collateral. The individually impaired
receivables mainly related to debtors that are in
financial difficulties or of poor credit history.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses a
system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed
to customers are reviewed on a regular basis. Over
73% of the trade receivables were neither past due nor
impaired at 31 March 2011 (2010: 76%).

At 31 March 2011, included in the Group’s trade
receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$8,633,000 (2010:
HK$3,377,000) which are past due at the reporting
date and aged over 180 days for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss. The Group did not
hold any collateral over these balances. The average
age of these trade receivables at 31 March 2011 is
approximately 111 days (2010: 116 days).

BRI EBESEENERER
SEWBKE EHEEHEE
6,820,0007t (20104 : & ¥
805,0007L) ' AEBWEEHZE
R 2R @RI B RERE
WRBEEHAEMBEASEREE
LWHENEZBEEAERE-

EEMERTEFA ASEXAB
—ERGRIHEERFPZ2EEE
EMATHEEERE -RRZEE
RIS THER BEANEBATER
RAZEEZES 72011938318
Z 5 MU ER KB 873% (20104
76% ) 14 7K i8 HA R R B o

R2011F3A31H AEBEZE S
EUGRIEE A B BIRTEELN B
8,633,000t (20104 : & ¥
3,377,0007T) Z FE W BR 3k Z R
KR HRE B EE B AR - BRERIERR180
B A5 B A R H % E R NG R
BEBE ASBYERSEZELE
B EAEBER - ZEE S REKRK
THR2011F3831H 2 FHEREK A
A1118 (20105 : 1168 ) o
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believes that no
impairment loss is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

An analysis of the other receivables by nature (net
of impairment loss recognised) as at the end of the

26. ES RHMEWRIE &)
(o (#&)

BB E AR E 2 BRI S

TRAEEHER RFAR

Bk |

VEFEH -REBEBELR BEEE
BE ARNERERLES KB
LB RS SRIDBAR SR BB

Bl - B F 5% F A RE

B

fed 7 780 3 28Rk 1B 2 FE WK

HORE &

THEZ A

BEFEM 2EEPROLERR
B AEEITERERFTEHL

(ERCIE: R

(d) EHAiEUWFE CORE#ERZRER
BIRBEMRZ T RIFEE D

reporting period is as follows: ™
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Amount due from a former JE LS A1 Bk 8 &) SR IR — B REC)
associate — Note (i) 3,556 3,418
Amount due from jointly JE L FE [R] 22 ) B 8 R 1A — P X ()
controlled entities — Note (i) 472 1,773
Consideration receivable & E 2 AR (E — B R G)
for assets disposal — Note (ii) 76,634 -
Amount due from a shareholder [J& U B & A 7] I B8 7% 78 — Bt 55 (i)
of an associate — Note (iii) 14,032 -
Interest receivables from N g
other loan to shareholder of H B R E WA S
an associate 1,911 1,820
Prepayments TEfH 3R 12,537 7,842
Deposit paid/payment BEffEe A FiEEEZ
in advance to suppliers FKIA 59,619 40,196
Others Hth, 16,775 7,511
185,536 62,560
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(d)

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The balances due from a former associate/jointly controlled
entities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(ii) With reference to details had been disclosed in Note 17, the
Group has disposed of certain property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments to Guiyang Railway Construction
at a total cash consideration of approximately HK$76,634,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB66,206,000). There are
approximately HK$70,609,000 has been settled at the date of
this report.

(iii)  The balances amount due from a shareholder of an associate
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The movements in the impairment loss recognised in
respect of other receivables are as follows:

26. E5

(d)

Hfth B WK TH (#)

() FEMATEE QR R R BRE
BERAEER %8 RARERKEE

(i) 2RBRMFNTABEBEZHFE AEEE
EEETYE BERIHENUREN
e FTEBEBES HeRERE
#)745%76,634,0007T (FHERHARE
66,206,0007T ) ° 4974 #70,609,0007T
ERBE BHIANT -

(iiiy  FEAREEE QB RRFIAZ AR A EE
R 2EBEREREER-

B Bt 2L fth 8 M0 I e 5B 2 R S 1R
#g2ymT:

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 April R481H 23,551 3,471

Impairment loss recognised BErERZBEEE 343 20,429
Reversal of impairment loss EsiRTFEERZRIE

recognised in previous years &5 48 #8% [0] (146) (398)

Exchange realignment M 5, ) B 1,794 49

At 31 March M3 A31H 25,542 23,551

Included in the impairment loss recognised are
individually impaired other receivables with an
aggregate balance of approximately HK$25,542,000
(2010: HK$23,551,000) over which the Group does
not hold any collateral. The individually impaired
receivables mainly related to debtors that are in
financial difficulties or of poor credit history.

Eﬁﬁuwrmaﬁéﬂa BIEER B REE
thEWRE SHe XN EE
25,542,0007T (20104 : & #&
23,551,0007T) * AEBWEREFZ
ESR-BZEMIKT G- ERERE
FEWGRIA = Z B B R sk (s
BERSENEZEBALR-
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27.

28.

29.

OTHER LOAN TO A SHAREHOLDER OF 27. BEQRAIRR2HMER EM
AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE TO A BEQRRRZHIE
SHAREHOLDER OF AN ASSOCIATE
The balance represents loan advanced to a shareholder RERBBIER AR T R E IR K
of one of the associates of the Company, Yongheng BEREEABRAR (KB ZEXK:
Development Corporation Limited (“Yongheng”) which is FR B A RIKIBEER 2 60 % IR EHR IR - B
secured by 60% shareholding of the associate, Yongheng FRERSEHER2011FESAITH
Lecai, which carried interest rate at 5% per annum and (20104 : 2010F5811H)EE B
repayable on 11 May 2011 (2010: 11 May 2010). The AR FABBELERE2012F5A111
repayment date is extended to 11 May 2012 subsequent to (20104 : 201154 11H) » T 72011
the year end date (2010: 11 May 2011). On 13 June 2011, F6H13H - RA R H KB 5T 37 & - A
the Company entered into an agreement with Yongheng to I B oK B 2457 82 T 60 % e + 1 LB A1 5K
purchase the remaining 60% interests in Yongheng Lecai B2ERBIERBORE T AL - 15
and this loan to Yongheng will be set off as part of the R MEE42 o
consideration. Details are set out in Note 42.
Amount due to a shareholder of an associate is unsecured EREEANRRRERIBAEER 288
interest-free and repayable on demand. REKEE-
AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A JOINT VENTURER 28. Bl HEELESEHFNE
The balance due from/to a joint venturer is unsecured, Y, NHEECEGERN RN BEARE
interest-free and repayable on demand. BH REREREREERE-
HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 29. REZIHRE
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Held-to-maturity investments REZIEBRERRE:
consists of:
— structured deposit — BTN 35,562 =

At 31 March 2011, held-to-maturity investments represents
a structured deposit with fixed interest of 4% per
annum which has a maturity of 1 month with a nominal
amount of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$35,562,000).

MR201ME3R318  HHEER IR ERL
BHEEZ BCFE4% Enfls—E
A EEAR%30,000,0007T (HHE R4
75 #£35,562,0007T ) ©
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30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES

AND CASH

At the end of the reporting period, the bank balances
and cash of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately HK$172,268,000 (2010: HK$246,485,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates.

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

30. SHEMBITHER RITEHRRER

317

REEER  AEBUARBES 2817
e N IR & 4975 %172,268,0007T (2010
o B #5246,485,0000T) - AREEARBZH
MEBRAEMER KM BIKH B A
ZHNEERIEPI RERE - HEREESE
RE AEEEEEAREELCEIINEE
BZRITEARB LI BEMEK .

RITBREREBERTERFRFEZF
B EAE -RHERFER 2 ERDEH—
BE=AR BURRAKEZAKRESH
Ko BB APERFRAERGFTE -

RATEHR ROIGHRRALOEAT2S
AW BN ARER 2 EEE I
2 EHTE

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Hong Kong dollars B 79,136 58,144
United States dollars ETT 19,587 19,638

The pledged bank deposits at 31 March 2011 carried
prevailing market interest rate at 0.36% (2010: 0.36%), and
represented deposits pledged with a bank as guarantee for
the letter of credit issued to the suppliers.

M201143A318 ' B FRITERIL
0.36% (20104 : 0.36% ) 2 IR 17 % 7
KB FRE R T IRITIE A A e i 38
HiERRZERZ TR
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. EZRHMENKIE
The following is an analysis of major components of the EORNRELEREIEX D 20T RE
balance with aged analysis of trade payables: AT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables, falling due in: B oENFIE BHEMT:
Current to 90 days BIEAZ90H 35,512 34,141
91 to 180 days 91H=180H 12,523 6,964
Over 180 days 1808 A 20,422 11,849
Trade payables 2 5 N IR 68,457 52,954
Deposit received from customers WEEF ziEe (K
(Note i) 139,333 90,547
Customer gas deposits and BEWEFPMRRZE REMIES
other deposit received 10,840 9,864
Gas fuel income received in advance  F& WA R U A 22,817 16,621
Other payable for the purchase of BEWE BB REBEUAR
property, plant and equipment mEEEZ
and intangible assets Hh fE~ ZUE 916 1,824
Other loans (Note ii) H &5k (FEsEi) 2,371 5,876
Accrued charges and other payables  FE&T 2 A & H fh & 5 FUE 32,841 25,597
277,575 203,283
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. REER 2 THEEHA/RI0A - REEET
The Group has financial risk management policies in place E2REREERE  WRABENHIE
to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time REEHNFE-
frame.
Notes: B 5
(i) Deposits received from customers represent the gas pipeline 0) WREFPZERESEEKRBZRAEEERE
connection fee received but the pipelines have not yet been completed WA HEEERRE BREARTEK
as at the end of the reporting period.
(ii) Other loans as at 31 March 2011 and 2010 were unsecured, interest (i) M20114 K2010E3A31B 2 EMER A E
bearing at rates ranging from 5.58% to 7.47% (2010: 5.58% to K~ 32 F F R5.58% %7.47% (20104 :

7.47%) per annum and repayable within one year. 5.58%%7.47% )it RREAR—FRER-



DRERTRAS
2010-20114F 4R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. BANK BORROWINGS

RS A1 5 R R I 53

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=2011F3A318ILFE

32. RITEE

2011 2010
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Secured bank loans BEERBRITERK 210,740 115,579
Unsecured bank loans EIHIEITER 3,557 87,491
214,297 203,070

The bank loans are repayable: ARTIRMERZRITER:
Within one year or on demand —F AR ERKEF 21,693 92,663
In the second year RE_F 18,795 2,905
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZFRF (2EEEMF) 65,595 42,663
Over five years HFELE 108,214 64,839
214,297 203,070

Less: Amounts due within one year 5l : —FREHIIERBAEZ
shown under current liabilities &% (21,693) (92,663)
Amounts due after one year —FREBA 2 192,604 110,407

Secured bank loans were secured by pledging of various
assets of the Group, details of which are set out in Note 41.

All bank loans (secured and unsecured) are floating rate
borrowings of which interest rates are in the range of
5.31% to 6.06% per annum (2010: ranging from 4.54% to

8.38%).

BEERBRTERNERAEBZETE
EERER  FIEHIINH TS -

FTERITER (AIE REIRIF) 5FF
KA F531%%6.06% (20104 : M F
454%%E838% ) 2 B RIEE -
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33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 33. ELEHREAR
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in R IE BE 2 ERER D RS B SR
the consolidated statement of financial position and the MmERER ZSHEKE IR AFE &
movements during the year are as follows: ) N
Property,
plant and Intangible Others
equipment assets (Note ¢) Total
ME-KE Hith
R#E BREE (BffaEc) &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2009 720094 H1H 2,158 19,550 = 21,708
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B 7 64 - 71
Credited to consolidated RAEFEZHRE
statement of comprehensive — ZHE IR A
income for the year wMEAPETA (245) (473) = (718)
Acquisition of a jointly W B R ) E 88
controlled entity - 3,647 - 3,647
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QA
(Note 37) (K&E37) (859) (9,496) - (10,355)
At 31 March 2010 and M2010F3 318 &
1 April 2010 2010F4 A 18 1,061 13,292 - 14,353
Exchange realignment M 5, 38 2 40 382 - 422
(Credited) charged to RAFEE 256
consolidated statement of ZEKA
comprehensive income HwEF (FTA)
for the year R (118) (364) 5,266 4,784
At 31 March 2011 2011434318 983 13,310 5,266 19,559
a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised a) RIS HIR - AN R E ] B VR 8 R A il 2 R
tax losses of approximately HK$85,829,000 (2010: HK$76,029,000) TR BB E 18475 %85,829,0007T (20104 ¢
available to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has 78 #676,029,0007T ) © FR R R A F Ty Al 12
been recognised in respect of the unrecognised tax losses due to B BB ER AR HIEEERRIETERIE
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such unrecognised tax BE ZSAERAZMEBEERESEEREAE
losses will be carried forward for five years from respective dates of FHEERT-
origination.

b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible b) RRE IR AEE S AR E R E OB
temporary differences of approximately HK$6,406,000 (2010: nil). #6,406,0007T (20104F © &) - BIMEFZ I 0
No deferred tax has been recognised in relation to such deductible RE R EEERRENIE DRI GELER
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be Tt vt ) PP 4 8 AT 0060 B s = RE T B o
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised.

o) The deferred tax was recognised in respect of the gain on disposal Q) MEBALESTYWE BFERZE 2 WasRkE

of certain property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payment
to the PRC government authority. Details are set out in Note 17.
According to the respective EIT Law, the PRC government authority
allows to defer the EIT for gain on disposal of the assets in five years
times after considering any deductible reconstruction cost. As at 31
March 2011, the Group estimated the future cost of re-constructing a
new plant amounting to approximately HK$33,387,000.

S F A RBATEF 2 EEFIE B ERER o
FEBENM 17  RIBABE S EMEREL - P
ERFASBARTERATALEEE 2 AR
T R A IR ERK AR IEE D EMEE -
M201143A318 NEERGHERTREZ
R IR AR A 4975 %533,387,0007T
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SHARE CAPITAL 34. |
2011 2010 2011 2010
Number Number
of shares of shares HK$’000 HK$'000
RHEEE B’in g8 BET T BT
Authorised: SETE
Ordinary shares of FREBEEK0.07T
HK$0.07 each &R 7,999,999,999 7,999,999,999 560,000 560,000
Issued and fully paid: EBEZETRER:
At the beginning/end REMRER
of the year 4,082,224,554 4,082,224,554 285,756 285,756
Note: B aE

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's shares during the year ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include full-time employees (including
executive directors), consultants, agents and advisors of the
Group. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 3
October 2006.

Terms of Share Option Scheme

As at 31 March 2011, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 94,407,405,
representing approximately 2.31% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2011 and the
date of this Annual Report. Without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders, the total number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, and the aggregate
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time.

35.

REBZE2011E K%2010F3A318 ILFE - RA A 2Kt
BARGERE  HERBEOARQ R EAARND -

Bl

RNARRE —TEERE S ([FERET
2 BEUAHBROEHAEEZKI
KEEHEB 2 A ER2HEE - BRET
Bz AR HRERBREASBZ2HIE
B(BEHNTES) BHAA REBRE
o B8 B ST 2 B 1200610838 &£

N o

FEIRRERT 8 2 R

20119F3A31H @ IRIFER 8 7] 3%
172 1D 4 # 594,407,4050% » 2 &5
2011F3A31B RAFHRAZEAARFE
BITREARL2.31% c RBARRIREE L
HofE IR B 0] TR 2 BB
K 2 B D 48 B 15 1B 1B 2N A B FA (E {A] B
M BITIRD Z210% @ mRMEREE A A
FEREBALE N ZBERES R ZKG
BETNBRBB AR R AT RS 8T
&1 21% °
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Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant an
option to subscribe for the shares of the Company granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the "Offer”). The
Share Option Scheme may be exercised at any time for a
period of ten years commencing from the date of acceptance
of the Offer, subject to the conditions imposed by the board
of the directors of the Company. The exercise price of the
option shares would be at a price equal to the higher of: (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
option; (ii) the average closing prices of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the options; and
(iii) the nominal value of a share.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, 201,600,000 options
were granted under the Share Option Scheme to the eligible
participants of the Group. No share option was granted
during the year ended 31 March 2010.

35.
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BEREE)
PRI ST Bl 2 IR ()

ZMRBEREFRLETRBEALQA
Bin 2Bl 25 (12X ]) BAMN
TR - BRI N B RN E X B ERT
TEATAFRETE  EAZRRART
=SR2 IGN - BIRERD Z1TEE
ERERTIZERE ()RR B4R
Z BB P B RE KA AR B
ZWTHE (NERRLBREZ BATAE
X7 AR FAATHRARBEG 2 F AWK
& (i) E{E

REZ2011F3A318 LEtFE -
201,600,00017 B AR 42 1R 45 B AR A 51 81 1%
FAEBESERDEE - NEZE20105F3
A31HIEFEMER DT EARE-
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35. B (&)
BREST B 2R (&)

35. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)
Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)
TREBRBERESS SEN28EE

(BREFR)FELARABREZABR
FRARSHBEZEYRBR -

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share
options held by category of participants (including directors)
under Share Option Scheme and movements in such
holdings during the year.

Lapsed/ At 31 March Lapsed/
Date of cancelled 2010 and Grant cancelled Exercise Exercise
Category of grantof At 1 April during 1 April during during At 31 March period of price of
participant share options 2009 the year 2010 the year the year 2011 share options  share options
R2010%
3318 R
BRE  H009F  FRAR/ 20105 Ehd/ R2011E
S8REEH RiHAH 4518 B 4518 Rt e 3A31H BREGEHEE BREGRE
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(H&E1) (Wit 2)
Directors 2 April 2007 34,650,000 - 34,650,000 - (34,650,000) - 18 October 2007 to 0530
g2 2007F4A28 1 October2010
2007F10718HZ
2010510418
15 October 2007 11,960,000 - 11,960,000 - - 11,960,000 1 May 2008 to 0.514
20075104158 14 April 2011
200855810 E
2011547148
12 April 2010 - - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0.385
2010544128 11 April 2013
2010548128 %
2013F4A11A
29 November 2010 - - - 35,650,000 - 35,650,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282
2010511429 30 November 2013
20105128182
20135114308
Continuous contract employees 2 April 2007 83,980,000 (3,160,000) 80,820,000 - (80,820,000) - 18 October 2007 to 0.530
HEANNIEE 200754A2A 1 October 2010
2007F10718HZ
2010510418
15 October 2007 36,230,000 (1,040,000) 35,190,000 - (2,900,000) 32,290,000 1 May 2008 to 0.514
20075104158 14 April 2011
200855810 E
2011547148
2 November 2007 1,250,000 (150,000) 1,100,000 - (400,000) 700,000 10 May 2008 to 0.632
2007511428 1 May 2011
200855A108%
2011E5A18
4 January 2008 20,000,000 - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 17 July 2008 to 0.382
200851748 3 July 2011
200857R178%
011E7A3R
12 April 2010 - - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0.385
2010644128 11 April 2013
201054A128%
2013548118
29 November 2010 - - - 77,000,000 - 77,000,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282
2010F11 4298 30 November 2013

2010612R182
20135114308
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35.

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 35. BR#E (&)
Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRETTE 2R (&)
Lapsed/ At 31 March Lapsed/
Date of cancelled 2010 and Grant cancelled Exercise Exercise
Category of grantof At 1 April during 1 April during during At 31 March period of price of
participant share options 2009 the year 2010 the year the year 2011 share options  share options
#20105
38318 R
BRE  R009E EaxN/ 20105 FhM/ R2011%
SREEH RiLAH 4518 B 4518 it B 3A318 BRETEHE BREGRE
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Htzz 1) (Wit 2)
Consultants 11 October 2006 46,000,000 - 46,000,000 - (46,000,000) - 11 April 2007 to 0.385
EEDN 200610A11R 10 April 2010
20074 11AZE
2010544108
2 April 2007 59,382,000 - 59,382,000 - (59,382,000) - 18 October 2007 to 0.530
20074828 1 October 2010
200751071862
2010510718
15 October 2007 18,750,000 - 18,750,000 - - 18,750,000 1 May 2008 to 0.514
2007F10A158 14 April 2011
2008E5A18%
2011547148
12 April 2010 - - - 23,000,000 - 23,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0.385
2010545128 11 April 2013
20105481282
2013%4A118
29 November 2010 - - - 34,700,000 - 34,700,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282
2010F11A29A 30 November 2013
20105128102
2013F11 A308
Agents 2 April 2007 26,540,000 - 26,540,000 - (26,540,000) - 18 October 2007 to 0.530
3 20075428 1 October 2010
20071071862
2010€10A1A
15 October 2007 9,760,000 - 9,760,000 - (1,020,000) 8,740,000 1 May 2008 to 0.514
2007107158 14 April 2011
2008E5A18%
2011547148
29 November 2010 - - - 18,250,000 - 18,250,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282

20105114298

30 November 2013
20106128182
2013F11 A308
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35. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 35. BR#E (&)
Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued) BIRESTE 2R (&)
Lapsed/ At 31 March Lapsed/
Date of cancelled 2010 and Grant cancelled Exercise Exercise
Category of grantof At 1 April during 1 April during during At 31 March period of price of
participant share options 2009 the year 2010 the year the year 2011 share options  share options
#20105
38318 R
BRE  R009E ERER/ 20105 FhM/ H01E

SREEH RiLAH 4518 B 4518 Rt B 3A318 BRETEHE BREGRE
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(GER)) (Wit 2)
Advisors 2 April 2007 13,610,000 - 13,610,000 - (13,610,000 - 18 October 2007 to 0530

R 200754728 1 October 2010

2007F10718HZ

2010510718
15 October 2007 4,690,000 - 4,690,000 - - 4,690,000 1 May 2008 to 0514

2007104158 14 April 2011

008E571HE

2011E4814R
29 November 2010 - - - 9,000,000 - 9,000,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282

2010F11A29A 30 November 2013

20105128102

2013F11 A308

366,802,000 (4,350,000) 362,452,000 201,600,000  (265,322,000) 298,730,000

Exercisable at the end of the year 298,730,000
REXRF T
Weighted average exercise price 0.50 053 0.50 0.30 0.50 036

¥ ITERE
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35. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant
until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the

Company's share capital.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The Group recognised total expenses of HK$16,618,000
(2010: nil) for the year ended 31 March 2011 in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

None of the share options have been exercised during the

year ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.

The fair values of the share options granted during the year
were calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into

model were as follows:

35. BRE (&)

BRERT 2R (#)
M5 -

1. BREsFBHARD AHETEHMMEG
RLke

2. BEARRAETHR  BTAREIARFBRAL

HE MBI B - BBRE 2 TEERFL S
#®o

BERBYEETREAZEREIRNEK
RREELREZER-

RNEZE2011FE3A831BILEE  NEEF
AR REZBREREIR Y ABEEE
16,618,0007T (20104F : #&) o

REZE2011F3H31H KX2010F3H31H
WFE SEEREETE-

FAREBREZ AABDRAZER
BEATUEE - ZRA 280 T

29 November 12 April

2010 2010

201011 H29H 201045 12H

Weighted average share price IEFEH R E HK$0.282 HK$0.385
75 #50.2827T 75 10.3857T

Weighted average exercise price MNEFEHIITEE HK$0.282 HK$0.385
75 #50.2827T 75 10.3857T

Expected volatility (%) TEER &) (% ) 77.28 82.06
Expected life TE BRI EF IR 1.45 1.45
Risk free rate 1 [ b 3 0.767% 1.265%
Expected dividend yield TE AR B =& n/a-™ i n/a3E A
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)
Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices over 52 weeks immediately preceding the grant
date.

The estimated fair value of options granted on 12 April 2010
and 29 November 2010 are approximately HK$2,952,000
and HK$13,666,000 respectively.

The Binominal Model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

In April 2005, the Group enrolled all non-PRC employees in
a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group under the control of trustees. The retirement benefit
cost for the MPF charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represents contributions payable to
the fund by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in PRC have participated
in defined contribution retirement schemes organised by
the relevant local government authorities in PRC. All PRC
employees are entitled to an annual pension equal to a fixed
portion of their ending basic salaries at their retirement
dates. The Group is required to make specific contributions
to the retirement schemes at a rate of 12% to 25% percent
of basic salary of its PRC employees and have no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions made.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of approximately HK$3,465,000
(2010: HK$2,335,000) represents contributions payable
to these schemes by the Group in respect of the current
accounting period.

35.

36.

BEREE)
PRI ST Bl 2 IR ()

5 BB ] 9 4 2 1 O T 1 B AR
% B AIS2fE R 2 8 B IR AR A 5 T
S

R2010F4 8128 X20105%F11 8298 &%
EEREGRATIAES RO EE
2,952,0007t M & #13,666,0007T °

“HABAERAR G EREZRAE
AAEEREARERMABATEERZRR
BROBBEEF 2 REMRTET - BREZ
BEANRETEERRZITIRAIZA
=

18 8 1R ¢k 48 A 5F &1

MR2005F4 8 AEBLZHFTBEEFHIE
BE2HaHEAEESE ([BEL
2l]) B FERTEI 2 EEMITFLALS
HAEECZEENFARE Ria2EK
AFRE AR 2 8T8 & BRIKEFI K A 45
AREBIZBESHERAEEZ L RE
NESZHHK-

AEERTEEEZHBRARZ2M0%
EARM T R EEE 2 ERETR
Wetdl- BT EEEERZAMRFINN
ERNERBHHZERNT S 2B E L HI
ERERFE AREAZTEREER
B 212%E25%[ R KA Bl E L E
TR BRIERFEHRFN ARE Y EH
fil BRI AR F) 2 HE -

Rz 6 2EBARKINGE 2 @RARBE
3,465,0007T (20104 : B #2,335,000
TC) AR BB A G 5t A A 1A bk 5T
RN PAT

151 ’



152

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited

Annual Report 2010-2011

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS 5 IR R M 5X

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ2011F3A8318 L FE

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

37. HEMNEB AT

On 31 March 2011, the Group disposed of its (@ M2011F3A31B AEBEHER

100% interests in Grand Destiny Group Limited and
its subsidiary (the “Grand Destiny Group”) to an
independent third party, at a consideration of HK$7.80.
The net liabilities of Grand Destiny Group at the date

of disposal as follow:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was

EEEBERARLEMBAR (IR
TEEDZE2HBRETHBLE=
7 EBRAB¥T 8T - REEER
HERBHZABEFENT

RiIEESEERBEINAOT:

lost:
HK$'000
BT T
Other receivables H h & W kI8 121
Bank balances and cash wITHEBRIE S 13,134
Amount due to immediate holding company & B &A% A & JUIE (14,032)
(777)
Exchange reserve realised LEKE QR ERE L #EE
on disposal of subsidiaries (584)
(1,361)
Gain on disposal & W = 1,361
Total consideration, satisfied by cash BRE RReIH =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HERELERS M FRE:
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHEZRITEHKRNMIRE (13,134)

The disposal of Grand Destiny Group has no material
impact on the Group's result and cashflow in the

current and prior year.

RAFENBEFE HELRES
BYEBAKREZXERRERE

EREMERTE -
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

On 26 April 2009, the Company has entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party (the “Purchaser”), for the disposal of the
entire share capital of Brilliant China Investments
Limited (“Brilliant China”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and its loan incurred by Brilliant China
to the Company for a consideration of approximately
HK$323,664,000 for cash. Brilliant China held
100% equity interests in Beijing Zhongmin Zhongran
Trading Company Limited (“Zhongmin Zhongran”)
and the main assets held by Zhongmin Zhongran
is 45.45% of the equity interests in Fujian An Ran.
Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the
Purchaser shall inject RMB80,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$91,136,000) to Fujian An Ran upon
completion of the sale and purchase agreement. The
over contribution of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$45,568,000) had been injected to
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2010 with
the balance remaining as amount due from a joint
venturer.

On the same day, Beijing Zhongmin Gas Company
Limited (“Beijing Zhongmin”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into another
sale and purchase agreement with Zhongran Gas
(Shenzhen) Company Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Purchaser, for the disposal of the
3.55% of the equity interest in Fujian An Ran for a
cash consideration of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$45,568,000).

37. HEKWB LT (&)

(b)

M2009F4826H A Q R E— %
BUYE=H([EFIZEEW
Z o UBEESRELE323,664,000
THEARAZZENB QAR
Brilliant China Investments Limited
(IBrilliant China |)Z 2 #8 M A& &
Brilliant China#d R KA A Z B °
Brilliant China#F Bt R RA M E
SEBRARE ([FRAM]) 22 E0%
B mMPRPREBECETEEER
BEZRASA5%IRE - RIFE & 1%
HCEHFANREEMEREKERE
EZ N )ETE ARMS0,000,0007T
(FHZER 475 %91,136,0007T) ° R
HE201043831BItFE &5
A R #40,000,0007T (FHE R 48
#45,568,0007T) EF AREHE - £4
BN ARKEELESE TR
1A o

BE ARRZ2EHEEK B AR
RPRRBMEERARA (MHtRFER])
M RRREZE ORI BERADA
(B ZEEBEWBAR)FINRE—1H
BEEWME UERE & ARE
40,000,000 (MEER K B K
45,568,0007T) i E RN B E L RN
#53.55% 7 PR AR AR AE o
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Those two sales and purchase agreements represented
the disposal of entire interests in Brilliant China and
Zhongmin Zhongran and 49% equity interests in Fujian
An Ran and its subsidiaries and associates (collectively
referred to as the “Disposal Group”) at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$415,711,000
(including approximately HK$46,479,000, representing
the Group’s share of 51% of new capital injected
by the Purchaser to Fujian An Ran) for cash. This
transaction was approved by the special general
meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2009 and
completed on 31 July 2009 and gain on disposal of
approximately HK$257,189,000 was recognised in
the profit or loss, being the difference between the
consideration and (i) the aggregate of the net assets
value of the Disposal Group being disposed of and (ii)
the goodwill attributable to the Fujian An Ran and its
subsidiaries. Details had been set out in the Company’s
announcements date 28 April 2009.

Upon the completion of the disposal, the Group holds
51% of the equity interest of Fujian An Ran and 4
out of 7 directors of Fujian An Ran are appointed
by the Group. Further, 4 out of 7 shareholders’
representatives of Fujian An Ran are appointed by
the Group. Hence the Group controls approximately
57% of the voting power in the board of directors
meeting and shareholder meeting. As all the major
decisions made in the board of directors meeting and
shareholders meeting of Fujian An Ran require at least
2/3 votes from all of the directors and shareholders’
representatives, Fujian An Ran is accounted for as a
jointly controlled entity.

37. HEKWB LT (&)

(b)

(%)

ZMBEBEEmMREAN BRESER
BAEM415,711,0007T (BIEASE
EEGEFRABELZREIAZHE
K Z51%%) 7% #46,479,0007T )
H & Brilliant ChinakHh Ehiz &
HRE ARBELZRARENB A
RHEBENR (ABIHESEE])
49% % #E ° 5% R 5 B R20094F6 H 3
BRITZARRBRRENAS L&
HofE - WH20095F7 A318 %A - M
& Wz 49 78 #257,189,0000T E
RiEmFRER - BELEREAR
F‘féﬁi()ﬁﬁtﬂEZEd SEEEFE
RBER(NVEELZAREWB A RE
hEERzEE BEFBIHAR
A7) BHH A2009%4H288 2 A
mo

HESHEKRE AKEFAERERE
LIRS %BE - BRLARTZEST
BARHAKERE-BE BEL
RIBBERAREPLAEAAERZR
ToElt AEEREEFTEERR
BREREHEENOS7TRREE- B
EA%EEQ%Z§$AQE§&H;<%%‘
FLELERZ —ERRREZEDRE

EREEMRERR2BEH A
ﬁt’?ﬁﬁiﬁﬁikﬂﬁﬁwﬁ LREHE

e
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. HEMB AR (&)
(b) (Continued) by (#&)

The net assets of these subsidiaries at the date of REEBZENBRARZEESFE

disposal were as follows: R
Carrying Carrying
amounts of amount of
Carrying assets and assets and
amounts of liabilities liabilities
assets and retained disposed
liabilities under of under

of Disposal proportionate proportionate
Group consolidation consolidation
RULGlIGRE BLHIRE

HESE AR N3
BEEREEZ REZEER HEZEER
REE AE2REE AFZKREHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BT T

Assets (liabilities) disposed of: HEZEE(BE):

Property, plant and equipment M BE REE 545,136 (278,020) 267,116
Investment properties REME 11,495 (5,863) 5,632
Prepaid lease payments BNES 27,049 (13,795) 13,254
Goodwill S 161,308 (82,267) 79,041

Intangible assets BREE 100,211 (51,108) 49,103
Interests in associates REEREER 50,597 (25,804) 24,793
Available-for-sale financial assets AfEESREE 740 (377) 363
Inventories "E 23,624 (12,048) 11,576
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E e OB 23,149 (11,806) 11,343
Bank balance and cash RITEHR LR S 58,954 (29,870) 29,084
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEMERNFKIEA (191,003) 84,595 (106,408)
Tax liabilities HIEAE (21,821) 11,129 (10,692)
Amounts due to associates JE (< B & X B ZRIA (34,530) 17,611 (16,919)
Bank borrowings RITEE (319,660) 163,027 (156,633)
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIBEE (21,132) 10,777 (10,355)
Non-controlling interests RS (35,486) 18,098 (17,388)
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFE 378,631 (205,721) 172,910
Exchange reserve realised B2 I5 e 5 (14,388)
Gain on disposal & Uk s 257,189
Total consideration, satisfied by cash #/ (& LB &S 415,711

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HERELZESRAFE:

Cash consideration ReERE 415,711

Amount due from a joint venturer  JEAELEA L HRE (23,298)
Bank balances and cash disposed of HE& 2 R174 84 RIS (29,084)

363,329
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. HEWB AR (&)
(b) (Continued) by (#&)
The impact of disposed subsidiaries on the Group EHENBATEAEERER
results and cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2010F3A31BIEFE 2 ¥ HERIR
2010 is as follow: EMEZ
HK$'000
BT T
Revenue A 196,955
Expenses F < (120,348)
Profit before tax B 5 A i 76,607
Income tax expense FS %5 X (15,904)
60,703
Cash flows from disposed subsidiaries: RKEEHENBARZRERE:
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEYYEEZRENEFRE 117,325
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEEYFAZREREFRE (167,887)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEFDELEZRESREFHE 72,363

21,801
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Save as disclosed elsewhere, the Group entered
into the following non-trade material related party

38. HAMEALTZRS

(a) BREMEOPAKESESIN AEEHE
BRAEALETTIRESHE 2

transactions. EARH
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Balance at the end of R¥RE B R 2 &
the reporting period:
Amount due from an associate [ Y B & A 7] FUIE
Xiamen Jia An Gas Co., Ltd. EfZZRRER AR 474 -
Amounts due to associates JE PB4 A R FRIE
Dehua Guang An mlEEZR (1) (1)
An Ran Ju ZRE (11,850) (11,388)
(11,851) (11,389)
Amount due from jointly JEE W 2k [R] 42 ] B 8 7R T
controlled entities 472 1,773
Amount due to a joint venturer ENAERES LT RIEA 12,885 =

The balances due from (to) associates/jointly controlled
entities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel which

comprises mainly the Company’s directors is disclosed
in Note 11(a).

ﬁﬁqﬂl(ﬁgﬁ)ﬁﬁgﬂﬁ/ EE &
SNBSS BB %5&0\
gﬁiﬁﬂﬁiﬁ"

(b) FEEEAEMS

FTEEBAB(EEAERRRES)
ZEE AMFE1I1(@QANIFE -
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39. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS

(@) The Group as lessor

The Group leased its investment properties, as set out
in Note 18, under operating lease arrangements with
leases negotiated for terms ranging from three to eight
years. The terms of the leases generally also require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the prevailing
market conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

39.

REMERH
(a) AEBERELHEA

KI8T E ARBRBLER
ERHHEEREME KR
MEFHRIZF -HEKR—K
MEXEFLREFNTISER  #
RREREREEHREFHE -

RBEHR AEEEBFFIEE

contracted with tenants for the following future N2 RREEHESHT -
minimum lease payments.
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year —F KN 376 305
In the second to fifth years, E_ZERF (BEEEWE)
inclusive 782 688
After five years fF & 7 9
1,165 1,002

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$499,000 (2010: HK$1,185,000).
Properties held at the end of the reporting period are
expected to generate rental yields of 2% to 5% (2010:
1% to 6%) on an ongoing basis. All of the properties
held have committed tenants for the next five (2010:
five) years.

RAFERDIZWERSBKAL A
75 499,000t (20104 : B &
1,185,00070) - RNMEBRIFH 2
MEEHIHFBEEFR2%E5%
(2010F : 1% E6% ) 2 1% @ 5/
o BT W) ¥R R R5F (20104
SE)EBEEEP -
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39. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) The Group as lessee

Certain office premises of the Group were leased under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms of one to seven years. Rentals are
fixed for the relevant lease term. The minimum lease
payment under operating lease for rented premises
during the year ended 31 March 2011 is HK$4,689,000
(2010: HK$4,517,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments

. REHEZH (@)

(b) AEBEREHEA

BELEHELH ~EBAHESR
FRAZME KR 1EHEEFH
AIE7TF - NEBEEERANAS %
BAE-HE2011F3831H IEF
ERHEMERBELEHE 2 &K
& A5 %4,689,0007T (20104 :
7B #4,517,0007T) °

RBEHR AERERE T EEUH
REMEZ RKKEBEEAEEH

under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due FREAT :
as follows:
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
BE¥TT BT T
Within one year —F R 4,653 4,210
In the second to fifth years, E_EZFRF (REEEMF)
inclusive 5,799 4,944
After five years HF%& 1,399 4,554
11,851 13,708
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40. COMMITMENTS 40. HiE
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Contracted for but not provided EEOBERNEGE T KR
in the consolidated financial REBE
statements
Capital expenditure in respect of: BEARRFE
Investment in an associate REBE QR 2" E 157,658 22,784
Commitments in respect of B RS 2 R
the acquisition of:
Property, plant and equipment N 49,041 5,126
206,699 27,910
41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 41. EEEKR
Assets with the following carrying amounts have been THREEZEEEERUEAEREH
pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group. RITEHE 2 ER-
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Property, plant and equipment M- WE REE 5,205 11,005
Investment properties WEME - 4,665
Intangible assets — exclusive rights EREE - BREEERN
of operations 2,267 23,658
Prepaid lease payments in respect T AR ENES
of land use rights 8,206 16,235
Bank deposits RITFEN 8,228 8,076

23,906 63,639




DRERTRAS
2010-2011£E 5§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IS IRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 & Z20114F3A31B L& fE

42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 March 2011, Beijing Zhonglian Hua An Investment
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Zhonglian”), an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Guizhou Gas (Group) Co.,
Ltd. (“Guizhou Gas”) entered into the agreement pursuant
to which Beijing Zhonglian has agreed to purchase and
Guizhou Gas has agreed to sell, the 49.9% of the entire
registered capital and paid up capital of Pan River Gas
(China Southwest) Co., Ltd. (“Southwest Panva”), for a
total cash consideration of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$41,489,000). The Group has paid the
consideration as at 31 March 2011 and the transaction
is still not completed up to the date of this report. Upon
completion, Southwest Panva become a jointly controlled
entity of the Group. Details of this acquisition had been set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 28 March 2011.

On 23 May 2011, the Company, as a lender, has entered
into further loan extension agreement with Yongheng, the
ultimate holding company of one of the Group's associate,
Yongheng Lecai, pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to extend the repayment date of the outstanding
loan to 11 May 2012. Yongheng shall pay interest on the
total outstanding loan at the interest rate of 5% per annum
during the extension period. Details had been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2011.

On 9 June 2011, Beijing Zhonglian, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Yunnan Industrial Investment
Holdings (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Industrial”) entered
into the agreement pursuant to which Beijing Zhonglian
has agreed to purchase and Yunnan Industrial has agree
to sell, the 20.12% of the entire registered capital and
paid up capital of Panva Gas (Yunnan) Co., Ltd. for a
total cash consideration of RMB26,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$31,343,000). Details of this acquisition
had been set out in the Company’s announcement dated 10
June 2011.

On 13 June 2011, the Company entered into an agreement
with Yongheng, pursuant to which, among others, the
Company has conditionally agreed to purchase the other
60% interest in Yongheng Lecai for a total consideration of
approximately HK$465,227,000, which shall be satisfied by
the Company as to (i) approximately HK$419,838,000 by
the Company to allot and issue 1,727,729,582 shares of the
Company; and (ii) approximately HK$45,389,000 by setting
off against the loan due from the shareholder of Yongheng
Lecai amounting to HK$43,050,000 and the related
accrued interest of HK$2,339,000 up to 10 June 2011. The
transaction is still not yet completed up to the date of this
report. Details of this acquisition had been set out in the
Company'’s announcement dated 15 June 2011.

42. HFEHREIE

R201143 8258 AARIEE#EEZE
EffB AR RFBMELREFR AR
(bR ) BEMNRREB)ERE T
2R ([EMNRR L) FT e Bkt b
FEBEREWBLRENARREEES
THAEMRARAR(TAIAR™])Z
499% 2 HEEMEEHBR A - RERE
4858 5 A R #35,000,0007T (FAE R 4075
#41,489,0007T) - A &£ B E 7201143
A3MBSMRE  MRAXZRHRE B
AR TR BIIES K BN E
Bz HEZEHEE - WESEZFBHN
AAGBHEA20114638288 2 A o

MR2011F58238  &AQR) (fEBERA)
KB (AREEBE QR KELY 2 &K
TR AR EIYEREREGR Btk &
AAREBHMAEEERZERB T
R ZE2012F5811H o k8B IR F F| &R
5% AEEERBAELNRE - BREF
BHNRA A HEAR2011F5H238 2
NGNS

R2011F6AOR A RRIHEHEELE
WMEBARILRhBEERE TERER
BEBERETA AR ([EMIE])FIL
W B A RPBEREWEMER
T¥RELEETAIMITER AR Z
EEEMA AR R A Z220.12% &
HLREAARE26,000,0007T (BHER
475 %31,343,0007T) - WHE S TEFF 1B H
MRARNBBEA2011F6 108 A1 -

R2011%6 138 » &RNA R EKIEFT S #
FoBL (Xl KRR AIEERE
Wi kB2 HeA60% s AR BB
#465,227,0007T ° 5% R 1B B AR 7] #7 BA
RS ()% #5419,838,0007T H
AN AR B N2 #5171,727,729,582[% A A
AR ¢ R (i) 478 #45,389,0007T A B UK
K B 44 52 f% 3R B 38 #43,050,0007T &
HE2011F6H10B 1E R EHF BB
2,339,000t - RAX SR E B H
M ARTERK - WIEBEFBIHNA AT AH
B2011F6 158 Aff e
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company at the end

of the reporting period includes:

43. AT Z B BN WR

ARRNBERR Z AR RRELE

2011 2010
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 3E BET T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB k& 1,453 1,596
Investments in subsidiaries REBE AR ZRE 508,992 508,992
Available-for-sale financial AHESHEE
assets 56 32,137
510,501 542,725
Current assets MEEE
Other receivables E 4th e W FR08 16,867 16,880
Other loan to a shareholder of B NRREZ
an associate HEMER 43,050 41,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E ] 44 96,901 96,296
Bank balances and cash RITHEHNIR S 91,139 77,456
247,957 231,632
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables H b & 3E 2,103 1,773
Net current assets MEEEFE 245,854 229,859
Total assets less current liabilities #Z&ERAE A E 756,355 772,584
Capital and reserves A& A I e 1
Share capital fi& 7 285,756 285,756
Reserves ] 45 470,599 486,828
Total equity At 756,355 772,584

44. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

44, FEUHE B A Bl FIE

RHRASEER R2ERREREERE-
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RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The following table sets out the components of the reserves
of the Company and the movements thereof during the
current and prior year.

45. KD F#E

TREIIAR FRE 2 AR BH RER
AEERBEFEZ -

Share-based Investment
Share  Contributed Capital  compensation valuation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BB AR % A RE
135 (E EHES EARE ZHeRE AR 2 FR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2009 200964418 615,523 101,688 7,482 35,715 (69,014) (467,850) 223,544
Profit for the year KERRH - - - = = 256,668 256,668
Other comprehensive income ~ AFE £ 2EHA
for the year - - - - 6,616 - 6,616
Total comprehensive income ~ AEE2AMALE
for the year - - - - 6,616 256,668 263,284
Effect on share options RhERE FE
forfeited - - - (436) - 436 -
At 31 March 2010 and R2010F3A318 K
1 April 2010 201064A1H 615,523 101,688 7,482 35,279 (62,398) (210,746) 486,828
Loss for the year KEEER = - - - = (95,266) (95,266)
Other comprehensive income  AEEEM2ERA
for the year - - - - 62,419 - 62,419
Total comprehensive income  AEE2ERA (BR)
(expense) for the year - - - - 62,419 (95,266) (32,847)
Recognition of equity-settled ~ HEALAER & E R (D
share-based payments BEB N = = = 16,618 = = 16,618
Effect on share options BhERE FE
forfeited - - - (29,019) - 29,019 -
At 31 March 2011 12011438318 615,523 101,688 7482 22,878 21 (276,993) 470,599
Note: (T

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets of the
underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), a company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for
believing that (i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; (ii) the realisable value of the Company's
assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

EHBRBRRARR S ETROEERC KEEER
MBARZEEFEZZH -REBFREINBIFA
DA (RRIER])  RBEN BRI AL EZ R
B IR SOK S AL 2K : 08 R #I2 A ARE () A
RBENIR R G LA ERBEEERRED (VAR
REEZAERETRLINEEE BRTRAR
Pt i (B AR 2 4B o
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46.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

46. TEMBE R A

R2011% &2010F3 8318 KRR Z*

March 2011 and 2010 are as follows: EMBARIFFIBOT
Place of Capital
incorporation/ contributed Group
Name of company establishment by the Group effective interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
MR/
REER R AE@TE rEEERER E# IEER
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Brilliant China BvI Us$1 - 100% - 100% - - Investment holding
ZERAME (£ RERR
Beijing Zhongmin PRC* US$60,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding
L hE 60,000,000 ¢ RERR
BMTERXARARAA PRC? RMB1,000,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(“Mian Zhu City Han Wang e AR¥1,000,0007 PEREERT
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.*")
BMHRRRRERAR PRC? RMB16,308,800 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(FIBGHTARRARER s AR 16,308,800 AHREERE
EMLAR) ("Mian Zhu Zhongmin
Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
“Mian Zhu City Hong Sen
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.*")
GBITERRRZEEREAAR PRC* RMB15,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Installation of Gas Fuel distribution
(“Mian Zhu City Long Teng Gas hE AR15,000,0007 facilities
Installation Co., Ltd.*") ERMREERN
EEhRBRARAR PRC? RMB10,000,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
("Yan Ting Zhongmin Natural HE A 10,000,000 Gas Fuel and installation of

Gas Co., Ltd.*")

Gas Fuel distribution facilities
AHRBERIRERMR
EERIE
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 46. TEMB AT (&)
Place of Capital
incorporation/ contributed Group
Name of company establishment by the Group effective interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
B
NAEE vkt 3 ERETE rEEERER E% ok IEER

2011 2010 201 2010 201 2010

LR RBRARAR PRCY RMB6,000,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(“Bei Chuan County Zhongmin A AR 6,000,000 AEREERR
Gas Co., Ltd.*")

ERHRMAARAR PRCY RMB4,080,004 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of
(“Chongging Zhongmin Gas HE AR 4,080,004 Gas Fuel and installation of
Co., Ltd.*") Gas Fuel distribution facilities

PEREERRREZRR
BRI

ETEHRRRERAA PRCY RMB10,000,000 80% 80% - - 80% 80%  Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(*Fu Ping County Zhongmin Gas e AK%10,000,0007 PEREERT
Co., Ltd.*")

ERPRASARAR PRC RMB40,000,000 70% 70% - - 70% 70%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel,
("Xi'an Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*") & AR 40,000,000 design of Gas Fuel pipeline and

related maintenance

EERDERR RAMREER

ETERSE
EETRARERAH PRC RMB10,000,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
("Yan Bian Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*") AR 10,000,000 PEREERT
BEARBEARAR PRC RMB18, 180,000 55% 55% - - 55% 55%  Transportation, distribution and
("Huaihua Zhongmin Gas Co. Ltd *") & AR 18,180,000 retail of bottled LPG
BH PHRARTERLAAR
ENPRBRARAR PRC RMB20,000,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution and
(“Guizhou Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*") AE20,000,0007 retail of bottled LPG
B8 AERRRTERIAAR
EERRMAARAR PRC RMB7,560,000 100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution and
("Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co,, Ltd.*") AR 7,560,000 retail of bottled LPG

B D HRARTERLAME
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

6. TEMBELT (£)

Place of Capital
incorporation/ contributed Group
Name of company establishment by the Group effective interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
FMEL /
GRS RIBE rEEEE rEEERER E# B TEEH
2011 2010 2010 201 2010
BARABREHERAR PRC RMB26,000,000 100%  100% - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution and
(“Huaihua Zhongmin Petroleum s AR 26,000,000 retail of bottled LPG
Gas Supply Co., Ltd.*") BE AERRRTERIAAER
AETRRRARAA PRC RMB1,000,000 51% n/a - 51% ma  Wholesale and retal of LPG
("Xupu Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*") AR 1,000,000 1ER MER  HERZERLAME
g Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC. & R EFRzIINEEE R
i Sino-foreign joint equity enterprises registered in the PRC. L RPEFRzRIINEEEERE-
@ For identification purpose only * EHER

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year and at the end of the year.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
respective place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

FARBEEAFERE MBARBESR
TTEMERES

PimERBARTIEEREEZ B EM
B PRS B AE 4

ARREFERBLERMAINZARTEZH
BARHAKEZ XEHEEFEAE
AFE MR EMHBRARZFE &
ERREEERBER TR
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47. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 47. L REF
The comparative figures of the consolidated statement of HE2010F3A3M B ILFE  GE2EK
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2010 ABRKZUEBBFTAZHREFHEDE -
were restated due to the presentation consistent with loss on WERE#E 2 EBUARBANEEB1TR
disposal of property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease FXPEFHFEFTEMET PP RE
payments from administrative expenses. The amounts of the el BHmEk 2 EMHDBAFIEZINNT -

reclassification for each consolidated financial statements
line affected are presented below.

Effect of the reclassification on the Group's consolidated REBBZE2010F3A31RIEFEZGE
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 PHBABRKEF DT E

March 2010 is as follows:

As previously

reported Reclassification As restated
Z A 23 BENoE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Administrative expenses TEAXZ (123,946) 1,907 (122,039)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - KE K
plant and equipment and AR

prepaid lease payments FERHEEEE - (1,907) (1,907)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 & Z=2011F3A831HI-FE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the

five financial years ended 31 March 2011.

T

Year ended 31 March

AREEBHZ201ME3A31IBA A AR BEE 2
ERIBEEREE BEMIELERESTE W

BE3A3MBLEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT ABETT BETITT EBETRT  ABTIT
RESULTS E
Turnover - 853,868 706,250 579,510 619,676 532,417
Profit (loss) before tax B Aa A (EE) 71,475 330,006 51,283 (300,661) 49,381
Tax HIE (23,832) (20,248) (12,046) (8,739) (15,917)
Profit (loss) for the year RELZ @A (EE) 47,643 309,758 39,237  (309,400) 33,464
Attributable to: T fE4R -
Owners of the Company ~ AAF#EA A 45,639 300,614 35,902 (309,456) 22,123
Non-controlling interests JEIE R HE = 2,004 9,144 3,335 56 11,341
47,643 309,758 39,237 (309,400) 33,464
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND LE -BE
NON-CONTROLLING JEIE R HE =
INTERESTS
Total assets BESLE 1,769,743 1,481,764 1,530,375 1,365,454 1,436,863
Total liabilities BEBRE (615,188)  (489,117)  (828,237)  (648,469)  (867,309)
Net assets EESFE 1,154,555 992,647 702,138 716,985 569,554
Non-controlling interests  3F¥% A% #E a5 (71,049) (64,041) (68,810) (66,089) (66,033)
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Distribution of business

(B Z=201143H318)
(For the year ended 31 March 2011)

Jexntli

Beijing City @

RERTEAR

Zhongmin Zai Xian

=¥ER
BEIRIEE @ FuPing Project
Yan Liang Project @

B P4

Shanxi Province

t)IsER

Bei Chuan Project

EREE @
Han Wang Project @

wrEa©

Mian Zhu Project

H=1EE
Yan Ting Project

S 1

Sichuan Province &glﬁ %hongqing City
JELL » S
Tong Nan Project #ﬁﬁt‘jﬁ
Hunan Province
A

1Z={LER
Guizhou Province = Huai Hua Project
EMIEH

Guizhou Project
ErIER
Yunnan Project

EliH

Yunnan Province

BOR A
¢

Guangdong Province

KBTS

i bR
Jilin Province ‘i
EEHR

Yan BianiZhongmin

mEZAR

Fujian An Ran

wea®

Fujian Province

Yongheng Lecai

I

Shenzhen City

AEEERBHRERT

The provinces in which the Group operates

© FTHEEERAEEMAEE ERRALHOESERY
MOfEH R R K8 & - £H32EBEE A F)
The Group’s investment on gas pipeline projects (The operation
of Fujian An Ran covers 8 out of 9 regions in Fujian
province, with a total of 32 project companies)

AEEERERCAMRBETERE (BIEABE
E(ER R ~ BCEHMR0R T R3EHEE)

The Group’s investment on wholesale & retail of LPG projects
(Huai Hua project includes 3 projects: Huai Hua Zhongmin,
Huai Hua Petroleum Gas Supply &

Xupu Zhongmin)

O AEEEEAHMIER
BR/LEEHR  FRER  KELFIEEE)
The Group’s other investment projects (including 3 projects:
Yan Bian Zhongmin, Zhongmin Zai Xian and Yongheng Lecai)
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